
 
View or subscribe to updates for agendas, reports and minutes at 

mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk. 
All public papers are available from the calendar link to this meeting once published

Agenda  

 

Planning - Oxford City Planning 
Committee 
  
 

This meeting will be held on: 
Date: Tuesday 7 October 2025 
Time: 6.00 pm 
Place: Long Room - Oxford Town Hall 
 

For further information please contact:  
Uswah Khan, Committee and Member Services Officer, Committee 
Services Officer 

  01865 529117   DemocraticServices@oxford.gov.uk 
 
Members of the public can attend to observe this meeting and.  

  may register in advance to speak to the committee in accordance with the 
committee’s rules 

  may record all or part of the meeting in accordance with the Council’s protocol 
Information about speaking and recording is set out in the agenda and on the website 
Please contact the Committee Services Officer to register to speak; to discuss 
recording the meeting; or with any other queries.  

 

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20169/council_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings


 
Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or 
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory 

Services has issued the formal decision notice.  
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

 
 
Committee Membership 
Councillors: Membership 11: Quorum 5: substitutes are permitted.  
 
 
Councillor Mary Clarkson Marston; 

Councillor Laurence Fouweather Cutteslowe & Sunnymead; 

Councillor Mohammed Altaf-Khan Headington; 

Councillor David Henwood Rose Hill & Iffley; 

Councillor Alex Hollingsworth Carfax & Jericho; 

Councillor Jemima Hunt St Clement's; 

Councillor Dianne Regisford Holywell; 

Councillor Anna Railton Hinksey Park; 

Councillor Louise Upton Walton Manor; 

Councillor Ajaz Rehman Lye Valley; 

Councillor Emily Kerr St Mary's; 

 
Apologies and notification of substitutes received before the publication are shown 
under Apologies for absence in the agenda. Those sent after publication will be 
reported at the meeting. Substitutes for the Chair and Vice-chair do not take on these 
roles. 

 



 
Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or 
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory 

Services has issued the formal decision notice.  
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

 

Agenda 
 

  Pages 
   
 
 Planning applications - background papers and 

additional information 
 

 To see representations, full plans, and supplementary information 
relating to applications on the agenda, please click here and enter the 
relevant Planning Reference number in the search box. 
 
Any additional information received following the publication of this 
agenda will be reported and summarised at the meeting. 
 
 

 

 
1   Apologies for absence  
 
2   Declarations of interest  
 
3   Minutes 13 - 16 

 Recommendation: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 16 
September 2025 as a true and accurate record. 
 

 

 
4   24/00585/VAR Car Park, Meadow Lane, Oxford, 

Oxfordshire 
17 - 50 

 Site address: Car Park, Meadow Lane, Oxford, Oxfordshire 
Proposal: Variation of condition 6 (Management of Car Park) of 
planning permission 21/01271/CT3 (Resurfacing of car park with new 
drainage system and provision bicycle stands (Retrospective) 
(Amended Plans)) to allow improved public access by converting it into 
a public suburban car park operated by Oxford City Council. 
Reason at Committee: Called in by Councillors 
RECOMMENDATION  
Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to: 

 

http://public.oxford.gov.uk/online-applications/


 
Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or 
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory 

Services has issued the formal decision notice.  
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

1. Approve the application for the reasons given in the report 
and subject to the required planning conditions set out in 
section 9 of this report and grant planning permission; and 

2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and 
Regulation to finalise the recommended conditions as set 
out in this report including such refinements, amendments, 
additions and/or deletions as the Director of Planning and 
Regulation considers reasonably necessary. 

 
 
5   25/00799/FUL 152 London Road, Headington, Oxford, 

OX3 9ED 
51 - 120 

 Site address: 152 London Road, Headington, Oxford, OX3 9ED 
Proposal: Demolition of existing retail store (Use Class E). Erection of 
new building at 2 to 3 storeys (with basement) to provide Use Class E 
floorspace comprising use for research and development and offices. 
Service area, landscaping (including low walls to London Road and 
Stile Road), cycle parking, bin stores, and alterations to access off Stile 
Road.  
Reason at Committee: Major Development 
RECOMMENDATION  
Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to: 

1. Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and 
subject to the required planning conditions set out in section 12 
of this report and grant planning permission; and subject to:  

• the satisfactory completion of a legal agreement under 
section.106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
and other enabling powers to secure the planning 
obligations set out in the recommended heads of terms 
which are set out in this report; and  

2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning & 
Regulation to:  

  finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this 
report including such refinements, amendments, additions 
and/or deletions as the Director of Planning and 
Regulation considers reasonably necessary; and  

  finalise the recommended legal agreement under section 

 



 
Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or 
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory 

Services has issued the formal decision notice.  
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

106 of the Town and County Planning Act and other 
enabling powers as set out in this report, including 
refining, adding to, amending and/or deleting the 
obligations detailed in the heads of terms set out in this 
report (including to dovetail with and where appropriate, 
reinforce the final conditions and informatives to be 
attached to the planning permission) as the Director of 
Planning and Regulation considers reasonably necessary; 
and  

  Complete the section 106 legal agreement referred to 
above and issue the planning permission.  

 
 
6   25/01489/FUL 86 Temple Road, Oxford, OX4 2EZ 

Site address: 86 Temple Road, Oxford, OX4 2EZ 

121 - 
142 

 Proposal: Demolition of existing garage, existing rear extension and 
conservatory. Subdivision of existing dwellinghouse to create 2 x 7 bed 
large houses in multiple occupation (Sui Generis). Erection or a two-
storey side and rear extension. Erection of a single storey front 
extension. Alterations to roof and insertion of 5no. rooflights in 
association with a loft conversion. Alterations to fenestration. Provision 
of bin, cycle storage and private amenity space.  
Reason at Committee: Called in by Councillors 
RECOMMENDATION  
Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to: 

1. Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and 
subject to the required planning conditions set out in section 12 
of this report and grant planning permission; and  

2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning & 
Regulation to: 

  finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this 
report including such refinements, amendments, additions 
and/or deletions as requested by the Lead Local Flood 
Authority and as the Director of Planning and Regulation 
considers reasonably necessary; and 

  issue the planning permission. 

 

 

 



 
Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or 
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory 

Services has issued the formal decision notice.  
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

7   Forthcoming applications  

 Items currently expected to be considered by the committee at future 
meetings are listed for information. This is not a definitive list and 
applications may be added or removed at any point. These are not for 
discussion at this meeting. 
 

22/03078/FUL: Land Bounded by Meadow Lane and 
Church Way, Oxford 

Major 

23/00988/FUL: Bertie Place Recreation Ground and 
Land South West of Wytham Street, Oxford 

Major 

23/01001/CT3: Tumbling Bay, Head of Bulstake Stream, 
Botley Road, Oxford 

Called in  

  

24/01104/FUL: 35 Ash Grove, Oxford OX3 9JN Called in 

25/01859/OUTFUL: Warneford Hospital, Warneford 
Lane, Oxford, OX3 7JX 
 

Major 

25/00813/OUT: Land Adjacent The Iffley Academy, Iffley 
Turn, Oxford, OX4 4DU 
 

Major 

25/01053/FUL: Oxfam, 2700 John Smith Drive, Oxford, 
OX4 2JY 
 

Major 

24/02890/FUL: Hertford And Exeter College Sports 
Grounds, Edgeway Road, Oxford, OX3 0HQ 

Major 

24/02361/FUL: New Barclay House, 234 Botley Road, 
Oxford, OX2 0HP 

Major 

24/1541/OUT: Land At Bayswater Farm, Bayswater Farm 
Road, Oxford 

Major 

  

25/00307/FUL: Oxford Sports Park, Oxford Road, 
Horspath, Oxford, OX33 1RT 

Major 

25/01588/FUL: Ozone Leisure Park, Grenoble Road Major 

24/00318/FUL - Land To The North Of Goose Green 
Lane, Oxford, Oxfordshire 

Major  

23/01198/FUL - Unit 1, Ozone Leisure Park, Grenoble Major 

 



 
Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or 
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory 

Services has issued the formal decision notice.  
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

Road, Oxford, Oxfordshire, OX4 4XP 

24/02918/FUL - 17 Harbord Road Oxford Oxfordshire 
OX2 8LH 

Called in 

25/00562/FUL - 19 Polstead Road Oxford Oxfordshire 
OX2 6TW 

Called in 

25/01126/FUL - Land Adjacent To Ivy Lane Oxford 
Oxfordshire OX3 9BN 

Called in 

25/01518/FUL - 54 Rose Hill Called in 

25/00823/FUL - 11 Glebelands Oxford Oxfordshire OX3 
7EL  

Called in 

  
 

 
8   Dates of future meetings  

 Future meetings of the Committee are scheduled at 6.00pm on: 
18 November 2025  
9 December 2025 
20 January 2025 
 

 

 



 
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

Information for those attending 
Recording and reporting on meetings held in public 
Members of public and press can record, or report in other ways, the parts of the meeting 
open to the public. You are not required to indicate in advance but it helps if you notify the 
Committee Services Officer prior to the meeting so that they can inform the Chair and 
direct you to the best place to record.  
The Council asks those recording the meeting: 
  To follow the protocol which can be found on the Council’s website  
  Not to disturb or disrupt the meeting 
  Not to edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation of the 

proceedings. This includes not editing an image or views expressed in a way that may 
ridicule or show a lack of respect towards those being recorded. 

  To avoid recording members of the public present, even inadvertently, unless they are 
addressing the meeting. 

Please be aware that you may be recorded during your speech and any follow-up. If you 
are attending please be aware that recording may take place and that you may be 
inadvertently included in these. 
The Chair of the meeting has absolute discretion to suspend or terminate any activities 
that in his or her opinion are disruptive. 

Councillors declaring interests  
General duty 

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 
election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s 
area; corporate tenancies; and securities. These declarations must be recorded in each 
councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the Council’s website. 
Declaring an interest 
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, 
you must declare that you have an interest. You should also disclose the nature as well as 
the existence of the interest. If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having 
declared it at the meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and 
must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed. 
Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of 
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and 
that “you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 
questioned”. The matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a 
whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 
Members’ Code – Other Registrable Interests 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or 
wellbeing** of one of your Other Registerable Interests*** then you must declare an 

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings


 
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

interest. You must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and you must 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed. 
Members’ Code – Non Registrable Interests 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or 
wellbeing (and does not fall under disclosable pecuniary interests), or the financial interest 
or wellbeing of a relative or close associate, you must declare the interest.  
Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects your own financial interest or wellbeing, 
a financial interest or wellbeing of a relative or close associate or a financial interest or 
wellbeing of a body included under Other Registrable Interests, then you must declare the 
interest.  
You must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the 
room, if you answer in the affirmative to this test: 

“Where a matter affects the financial interest or well-being: 
a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;  
b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 
would affect your view of the wider public interest You may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.” 

Otherwise, you may stay in the room, take part in the discussion and vote. 
*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member 
her or himself but also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with 
as husband or wife or as if they were civil partners. 
** Wellbeing can be described as a condition of contentedness, healthiness and 
happiness; anything that could be said to affect a person’s quality of life, either positively 
or negatively, is likely to affect their wellbeing. 
*** Other Registrable Interests: a) any unpaid directorships b) any Body of which you are a 
member or are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 
nominated or appointed by your authority c) any Body (i) exercising functions of a public 
nature (ii) directed to charitable purposes or (iii) one of whose principal purposes includes 
the influence of public opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) of 
which you are a member or in a position of general control or management. 



 
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

 

Procedure for dealing with planning applications at the Oxford City 
Planning Committee and Planning Review Committee 
Planning controls the development and use of land in the public interest. Applications must 
be determined in accordance with the Council’s adopted policies, unless material planning 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Committee must be conducted in an orderly, fair 
and impartial manner. Advice on bias, predetermination and declarations of interests is 
available from the Monitoring Officer. 

The following minimum standards of practice will be followed: 
1. All members of the Committee will have pre-read the officers’ report. Committee 

members are also encouraged to view any supporting material and to visit the site if 
they feel that would be helpful. (In accordance with the guidance at 24.15 (Planning 
Code of Practice) in the Council’s Constitution). 

2. At the meeting the Chair may draw attention to this procedure. The Chair may also 
explain who is entitled to vote. 

3. The sequence for each application discussed at Committee shall be as follows:  
(a) the planning officer will introduce it with a short presentation; 
(b) any objectors may speak for up to 5 minutes in total; 
(c) any supporters may speak for up to 5 minutes in total; 
(d) speaking times may be extended by the Chair, provided that equal time is given to 

both sides. Any non-voting City Councillors and/or Parish and County Councillors 
who may wish to speak for or against the application will have to do so as part of 
the two 5-minute slots mentioned above; 

(e) voting members of the Committee may raise questions (which shall be directed via 
the Chair to the lead officer presenting the application, who may pass them to other 
relevant officers and/or other speakers); and  

(f) voting members will debate and determine the application.  
 

4. In determining an application Committee members should not: 
(a) rely on considerations which are not material planning considerations in law; 
(b) question the personal integrity or professionalism of officers in public;  
(c) proceed to a vote if minded to determine an application against officer’s 

recommendation until the reasons for overturning the officer’s recommendation 
have been formulated including the reasons for refusal or the wording of any 
planning conditions; or  

(d) seek to re-design, or negotiate amendments to, an application. The Committee 
must determine applications as they stand and may impose appropriate conditions. 

Public requests to speak 
Members of the public wishing to speak must notify the Committee Services Officer 
by noon on the working day before the meeting, giving their name, the 
application/agenda item they wish to speak on and whether they are objecting to or 
supporting the application. Notifications can be made via e-mail or telephone, to the 
Committee Services Officer (details are on the front of the Committee agenda). 



 
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

Written statements from the public 
Any written statement that members of the public or Councillors wish to be 
considered should be sent to the planning officer by noon two working days before 
the day of the meeting. The planning officer will report these at the meeting. Material 
received from the public at the meeting will not be accepted or circulated, as Councillors 
are unable to give proper consideration to the new information and officers may not be 
able to check for accuracy or provide considered advice on any material consideration 
arising. Any such material will not be displayed or shown at the meeting. 

Exhibiting model and displays at the meeting 
Applicants or members of the public can exhibit models or displays of photos and/or 
pictures at the meeting or a room provided for that purpose as long as they notify the 
Committee Services Officer of their intention by noon two working days before the start of 
the meeting so that members can be notified.  Applicants or members of the public are not 
permitted to exhibit photos and/or pictures in any electronic format. 

Recording meetings 
This is covered in the general information above. 

Meeting Etiquette 
All representations should be heard in silence and without interruption. The Chair will not 
permit disruptive behaviour. Members of the public are reminded that if the meeting is not 
allowed to proceed in an orderly manner then the Chair will withdraw the opportunity to 
address the Committee. The Committee is a meeting held in public, not a public meeting. 
This procedure is detailed in the Annex to part 24 of the Council’s Constitution as 
agreed at Council in March 2023. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Minutes of a meeting of the  
Planning - Oxford City Planning Committee 
on Tuesday 16 September 2025  
 

Committee members present: 
Councillor Clarkson Councillor Henwood 

Councillor Hollingsworth Councillor Regisford 

Councillor Railton Councillor Upton 

Councillor Rehman Councillor Kerr 

Councillor Goddard (For Councillor Fouweather)  

Officers present for all or part of the meeting:  
Uswah Khan, Committee and Member Services Officer 
Ross Chambers, Planning Lawyer 
Andrew Murdoch, Development Management Service Manager 
Robert Fowler, Development Management Team Leader (West) 
Chloe Jacobs, Senior Planning Officer 
 
 

14. Apologies for absence and substitutions  
Councillor Fouweather sent apologies.  
Substitutes are shown above. 
 

15. Declarations of interest  
General  
For 24/02918/FUL, Councillor Goddard stated that as he had called-in the 
application, having taken advice he would leave the meeting while it was being 
discussed 
 

16. Minutes  
The Committee resolved to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 20 May 2025 
as a true and accurate record. 
 

13

Agenda Item 3



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

17. 24/02918/FUL 17 Harbord Road, Oxford, OX2 8LH  
The Committee considered an application for the erection of a single storey rear 
extension. Alterations to roof to form hip to gable. Formation of 1no. rear dormer in 
association with a loft conversion. Installation of solar panels to front elevation. 
Installation of render. Removal of existing front bay and associated porch roof. 
Removal of 1no. rear chimney. Insertion of 1no. chimney flue. Insertion of 2no. front 
rooflights. Alterations to garage door and fenestration. Associated landscaping 
(amended plans and description, amended documents including an updated Design 
and Access statement, A Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment and Flood Risk 
Assessment).  
The Planning Officer gave a presentation outlining the details of the location and the 
proposal. This included site photos and existing and proposed elevations and plans:  

  The application sought planning permission for a single-story rear extension, 
alterations to the roof and several other alterations aimed at improving the 
building’s energy efficiency and aligning with the Council’s net zero carbon 
objectives. 

  Following the application being called in, Officers worked closely to address 
Councillors’ concerns and coordinated with the applicant to revise the proposals. 
These amendments included replacing the existing hipped roof with a pitched 
gabbled roof, reducing the number of solar panels on the front elevation, 
shortening the length of the rear extension and simplifying the rear elevation. 
The rear would now be finished in a peddle dash render instead of metal. 
Additionally, the canopies above the windows were removed and the design of 
the windows and doors were simplified. External thermal blinds originally 
proposed, were also removed from the updated plans.  

  A number of objections were received, particularly regarding the removal of the 
front bay window, the scale of rear extension and inclusion of a rear dormer 
window. However, Officers noted that the property does not lie within a 
designated heritage asset, Conservation Area, or any defined character area, 
nor is it a listed building. As such, the removal of the bay window was 
considered acceptable in design terms. It was further acknowledged that this 
alteration formed part of the applicant’s efforts to enhance the thermal efficiency 
of the property, which is proposed to be finished in insulated render. 

  The change to a gabled roof was deemed appropriate, as similar pitched roof 
forms exist elsewhere on the street, including the neighbouring property. 

  Concerns were also raised regarding the depth of the rear extension, which 
would extend further than some other properties nearby. However, Officers 
noted that various properties on the same street and adjacent roads such as 
Hayward Road have had rear extensions of up to 5 metres in depth. Taking this 
into account, the proposed extensions was considered to be of an acceptable 
scale and design, reading as a subservient addition to the main dwelling and in 
keeping with the character of the area.  

  Concerns raised in regard to impact on neighbouring amenity. The proposed 
extension would pass the 45/25 degree guidelines outlined in Policy H14 and 
therefore acceptable. Proposed extension would be set off boundaries and 
would not be significantly overbearing or result in tunnelling./enclosure impacts. 
One window in west elevation would not overlook neighbour given existing 

14



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

boundary treatments. Other windows face towards rear garden and therefore 
acceptable in amenity terms. 

  Overall, the proposal was deemed acceptable in design and amenity terms and 
considered to comply with policy DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 and 
Paragraph 167 of the NPPF. 

  Concerns were also raised regarding potential surface level flooding impacts. 
However, the site is located within Flood Zone 1, and it was therefore concluded 
that the development would not increase flood risk 

  Bat surveys carried out, identified that works need to be carried out under a 
license from Natural England. Officers conclude unlikely a license would not be 
granted in this instance. 

  Therefore, officers recommended approval of the proposed development, 
subject to conditions listed in the report. 

 
Oliver Jackson spoke in favour of the application. 
 
The Committee asked questions about the details of the application which were 
responded to by officers. The Committee’s discussions included but were not limited to:  

  Questions were raised about the material grounds for the call in. The 
Development Management Team Leader responded that the concerns related to 
the perceived bulk of the proposal compared to neighbouring properties, and to 
conflicts with the Neighbourhood Plan. These included objections to the original 
metal roof, the removal of the tiled canopy over the front door, and the addition 
of window shutters, features considered out of character for the area. There 
were also concerns that the footprint of the development could exacerbate 
groundwater and surface flooding issues affecting neighbouring properties. 
However, the Development Management Team Leader clarified that these 
concerns were directed at the originally submitted plans, and not the revised 
proposals currently under consideration.  

  Further questions were raised regarding the timeline of the application, 
specifically about when the original site notices were posted and whether delays 
were solely due to bats. The Planning Officer explained that revisions to the 
application had been prompted by efforts to respond to feedback from both 
neighbours and Councillors. The only thing contributing to the delay was the 
need to carry out bat assessment. 

  Concerns were raised regarding the proposed development not being in 
accordance with the Wolvercote Neighbourhood Plan. The Planning Officer 
clarified that the amended application was now in accordance with the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

 
On being proposed, seconded, and put to the vote, the Committee agreed with the 
officer’s recommendation to approve the application for the reasons set out in the 
report. 
 
 

15



Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

The Oxford City Planning Committee resolved to: 
1. Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to the 

required planning conditions set out in section 12 of this report and grant 
planning permission 

2. Agree to delegate authority to the Head of Planning and Regulatory Services 
to: 

finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including such 
refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Head of Planning Services 
considers reasonably necessary. 
  

18. Forthcoming applications  
The Committee noted the list of forthcoming applications. 
 
 

19. Dates of future meetings  
The Committee noted the dates of future meetings. 
 
 
 
The meeting started at 6pm and ended at 6.32pm. 
 
 
 
Chair ………………………….. Date:  Tuesday 7 October 2025 
 
When decisions take effect: 
Cabinet: after the call-in and review period has expired 
Planning Committees: after the call-in and review period has expired and the formal 

decision notice is issued 
All other committees: immediately. 
Details are in the Council’s Constitution. 

16



Oxford City Planning Committee 7th October 2025 
 
Application number: 24/00585/VAR 
  
Decision due by 6th May 2024 
  
Extension of time Extension of time until 22nd October 2025 
  
Proposal Variation of condition 6 (Management of Car Park) of 

planning permission 21/01271/CT3 (Resurfacing of car 
park with new drainage system and provision bicycle 
stands (Retrospective) (Amended Plans)) to allow 
improved public access by converting it into a public 
suburban car park operated by Oxford City Council. 

  
Site address Car Park, Meadow Lane, Oxford, Oxfordshire – see 

Appendix 1 for location plan 
  
Ward Donnington Ward 
  
Case officer Robert Fowler/Andrew Murdoch 
 
Agent:  Other - Jessop 

and Cook 
Architects 

Applicant:  Oxford City Council 

 
Reason at Committee The application was called in by Councillors Pegg, 

Muddiman, Kerr, Jarvis, Rawle and Turner due to strong 
views on the development from the local community 
regarding the impact on local amenity and concerns 
about the level of consultation with Falcon Boat Club. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to: 
 
(i) approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to 

the required planning conditions set out in section 9 of this report and grant 
planning permission; and 

 
(ii) agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regulation  to 

finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including such 
refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Director of 
Planning and Regulation considers reasonably necessary. 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1. This report considers an application to vary Condition 6 of the planning 

permission that was granted in December 2021 for the retrospective 
resurfacing of the car park at Meadow Lane in East Oxford (reference 

17

Agenda Item 4



21/01271/CT3). The requirements of the condition sought to manage the car 
park by limiting its use to a private car park for the Falcon Rowing Club and 
for the car park to be locked outside of the rowing club’s normal hours of 
use. The application seeks the variation of the condition to change the car 
park into a public suburban car park operated by Oxford City Council. 

 
1.2. Additional information has been sought from the applicant following 

significant local interest in the application and objections from the local 
highway authority. The additional information that has been provided 
includes details relating to an altered layout to the car park, confirmation that 
a charging regime to preclude longer stay or commuter parking is proposed 
and additional justification for the car park in policy terms. 

 
1.3. Whilst the acceptability of the proposals in principle, amenity and transport 

terms are finely balanced officers recommend that the variation to the 
condition would be acceptable subject to conditions to ensure that the 
management of the car park continues to preclude commuter parking to 
safeguard local amenity, ensures adequate parking for local community 
groups (including the Falcon Rowing Club) and alterations are made to the 
layout to resolve concerns relating to highway safety. 

 
2.  LEGAL AGREEMENT 
 
2.1. This application is not subject to a legal agreement. 
 
3. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 
 
3.1. The proposal is not CIL liable. 
 
4. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
4.1 The application site is an existing car park on Meadow Lane, to the north 

of Donnington Bridge Road. The car park is situated to the north of the 
‘Riverside Centre’ (a community and youth centre), east of the recently 
constructed Falcon Rowing Club building and south of Ferry House (a 
large detached dwellinghouse). On the opposite side of the road to the 
car park are houses facing onto Meadow Lane; these are characteristic 
of this part of the City being arranged as rows of wider terraced 
properties and having front gardens, some of which are used for car 
parking. 
 

4.2 Meadow Lane itself is relatively narrow, with the western side of the road 
being less developed and predominately open. Other uses within the 
vicinity of the site include the Sea Scout building and allotments to the 
north. Meadow Lane continues north where it is blocked to motor 
vehicles but forms an important cycle and pedestrian route into the Iffley 
Fields residential area, including Fairacres Road and Bedford Street. 
Despite being closed to through traffic the road is relatively busy and 
particularly busy for cyclists and pedestrians (with St Mary and St John 
CE Primary School being located approximately a quarter of a mile to the 

18



north of the application site). 
 

4.3 The application site encompasses the entire surface car park and some 
of the surrounding existing vegetation. Whilst the site is only 
approximately 60m from the River Thames there are limited views of the 
river from the application site because it is flat and low lying. The 
application site is largely surrounded to the north and west by a number 
of mature trees. 

 
4.4 The existing car park is surfaced in a dark asphalt and laid out to 

accommodate 37 car parking spaces and five Sheffield stands. There is 
an existing railing (approximately 1m in height) along the boundary with 
Meadow Lane. The site is accessed by pedestrians, cyclists and cars 
from a single entrance onto Meadow Lane; there is a height restriction 
(approximately 2m) barrier and a vehicle gate. There is also a gate at the 
southern boundary of the site which connects the site to the Riverside 
Centre. 

 
4.5 The application site lies outside of any Conservation Areas and would 

not impact on the setting of any listed buildings or non-designated 
heritage assets. The site lies within the Oxford Green Belt. 

 
See site location plan below: 

 
(Extract from Site Location Plan, 24/00585/VAR) 

19



5. PROPOSAL 
 
5.1 The car park was originally granted planning permission in 1971 (with a 

temporary consent that was then made permanent, subject to a condition 
for summer use only in 1973). Until the last quarter of 2018 the car park 
was constructed of a largely unmade surface and did not have any 
spaces delineated. The car park was open to the public and there was no 
charging regime in place (though a gate at the entrance presumably 
allowed it to be closed if required). At some point in the last quarter of 
2018 the car park was resurfaced without planning permission, 
vegetation was removed from parts of the edge of the car park and the 
spaces were painted with white lines. It is likely that when the car park 
was resurfaced its capacity was increased (to approximately 43 car 
parking spaces according to the application form submitted with the 
application to regularise the car park resurfacing). In December 2022 
retrospective planning permission (21/01271/CT3) was granted to retain 
the resurfaced car park with a reduced number of car parking spaces (37 
spaces) subject to conditions requiring remedial landscaping and surface 
water management improvements. The applicant proposed that the car 
park was retained for use by the Falcon Rowing Club to overcome 
concerns relating to the acceptability of the proposals in principle, 
highway and amenity terms; the use of the car park in this way became a 
condition of the planning permission 21/01271/CT3 – Condition 6. 
 

5.2 This application seeks to vary Condition 6 of the planning permission 
21/01271/CT3 with a view to facilitating the conversion of the existing car 
park into a public suburban car park operated by Oxford City Council. 
Condition 6 of planning permission 21/01271/CT3 reads: 

 
Within four weeks of the date of this decision the existing car park gate shall 
be closed and locked and shall only be unlocked and open when the Falcon 
Rowing Club is in in operation and shall only be used exclusively by the 
users of the Falcon Rowing Club. Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 11, 
Class C of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (as amended) or any order replacing or re-
enacting those provisions the existing gate on the application site shall not 
be removed or altered other than its replacement on a like for like basis 
unless agreed otherwise in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To prevent uncontrolled commuter parking and residential car 
parking on the site in a manner that would be contrary to Policies M1 and M3 
of the Oxford Local Plan (2036), in the interests of neighbouring residential 
occupiers as required by Policies RE6, RE7 and RE8 of the Oxford Local 
Plan, and to ensure that there is adequate car parking for the Falcon Rowing 
Club in accordance with Policy V7 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). 
 

5.3 The imposition of the above condition was justified on the basis that the 
resurfacing and other improvement works that were approved with the 
retrospective planning permission (21/01271/CT3) would only be acceptable 
in highways, amenity and in terms of providing adequate car parking for a 

20



community facility if measures were in place to preclude commuter parking. 
The applicant for the application 21/01271/CT3 put forward the option of 
closing the carpark to the general public and instead allowing its use by 
Falcon Rowing Club on the days they operate. An existing gate is required to 
be locked, preventing access to the public, and Falcon Rowing Club have 
use of the car park on the days they operate.   
 

5.4 Whilst the application does not seek specific wording for the condition to be 
varied it clearly seeks to remove the aspects of Condition 6 that preclude the 
use of the car park by the public. As part of the variation application it is 
proposed to alter the layout of the car park (with the use of painted white 
lines), provide a disabled car parking space, replacement 4 no. cycle hoops, 
two payment meters and replace the existing height restrictor. Whilst these 
aspects of the development are not specifically included in the application 
description they would be permitted development in any case (as they are 
small-scale developments that can be carried out by a local authority on the 
basis of Class A of Part 12, Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended)). 

 
5.5 The planning history of the site and the basis for the imposition of Condition 

6 of planning permission 21/01271/CT3 is explained in further detail in the 
officer delegated report for that permission which can be found in Appendix 
2. 

 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
The table below sets out the relevant planning history for the application site: 
 

 
21/01271/CT3 - Resurfacing of car park with new drainage system and provision 
bicycle stands (Retrospective) (Amended Plans): Approved 
 
 

 
 
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 
The following policies are relevant to the application: 

Topic National Planning 
Policy 
Framework 

Local Plan Other planning 
documents 

Design 131, 135 DH1 - High quality 
design and 
placemaking 
 

 

Natural 
environment 

181, 182, 187 RE3 - Flood risk 
management 
RE4 - Sustainable 
and foul drainage, 
surface 
RE6 - Air Quality 

 

21



G1 - Protection of 
Green/Blue 
Infrastructure 
G2 - Protection of 
biodiversity geo-
diversity 
G8 - New and 
enhanced Green 
and Blue  
Infrasturcture 
 

Social and 
community 

96, 98, 103,  H14 - Privacy, 
daylight and 
sunlight 
V7 - Infrastructure, 
cultural and 
community 
 

 

Transport 110, 113, 116, 117, 
118 

M1 - Prioritising 
walking,cycling+pu
blic transport 
M2 - Assessing and 
managing 
development 
M3 - Motor vehicle 
parking 
M5 - Bicycle 
Parking 
 

Car and Bicycle 
Parking 
Technical Advice 
Note, March 
2022 

Environmental  RE8 - Noise and 
vibration 
RE9 - Land Quality 
RE7 - Managing 
the impact of 
development 
 

 

Miscellaneous 11, 12, 39, 125, 
142, 143, 144, 
153, 154 

RE1 - Sustainable 
design and 
construction 
RE2 - Efficient use 
of Land 
G3 - Green Belt 
 

 

 
6. CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
6.1. Site notices were displayed around the application site on 27th March 2024. 
 
 
 

22



Statutory and non-statutory consultees 
 
6.2. Oxfordshire County Council (Highways): 
 
6.3. Oxfordshire County Council Highways initially objected to the proposals on 

the basis of the impact on highway safety. In addition to this it was stated 
that the proposals would go against both County Council and City Council 
policies and strategies to reduce demand for car parking and car-based trips 
within the City. 

 
6.4. Following revised information including a technical assessment of the 

proposals, a revised design and access statement, and the submission of a 
revised layout plan the objection was withdrawn and the following comments 
were received: 

 
On the basis of the information now provided, which includes greater detail 
of the car park layout with set-back give-way markings, the 
internal  circulation area and visibility splays and the explanation that boat 
users could continue to unload large items from the access lane taken from 
the dropped kerb access to the south of the car park, I no longer object to 
the application on the grounds of highway safety. 

 
The information presented has demonstrated that any additional risk of the 
potential for conflicting movements and overspill parking is reduced to an 
acceptable degree. 
 
In terms of the policy position, it is useful to now have an explanation in the 
planning submission of the history and context behind the proposals. 
Particularly the fact that historically the land had been used informally for 
public parking, up until the fairly recently applied planning condition. In this 
context it can be considered that the proposals do not introduce new car 
parking spaces. The proposals to operate the car park under a pay and 
display scheme would largely prevent the car park from being used for 
commuter purposes, as could have been the case prior to the 
implementation of the planning condition. 
 
I still struggle to see any real benefit behind the proposals and do not agree 
that the proposals meet the requirements of those visiting a district or local 
centre as the car park does not serve a district or local centre. I also do not 
consider that opening up the car park on a pay and display basis is likely to 
have much of a perceptible impact in reducing any on-street parking 
pressures in the locality. 

 
(Extract from Officer response, Oxfordshire County Council, 12th June 2025) 

 
 

Public representations 
 

6.5. Comments were received from the following addresses: 5 St Anne's Road, 
Falcon Rowing Club, 55 Wharton Road, 59 Pitts Road, Park House 

23



(Souldern), 5A Kirk Close, 127 Hurst Street, 1 Bugloss Walk (Bicester), 54 
Ock Street (Abingdon), 111 Oxford Road (Abingdon), Windflower House 
(Horton cum Studley), 7 Radcliffe Road, Mendip House Pullens Lane, 35 
Osler Road, 72 Norreys Avenue, 28 Nicholas Avenue, 40 New High Street, 
Ferry House Meadow Lane, 11 Marston Ferry Road, 52 Margaret Road, 26 
Kennett Road, Goatley House Church Hanborough , Flat 4 Langford House 
Gloucester Street (Farringdon), 43 Frenchay Road, 37 Florence Park Road, 
11 Elms Road, 20 Chawley Lane, 39 Bellenger Way (Kidlington), 57 
Alexander Close (Abingdon), 78 Marlborough Ave (Kidlington), 20 Chawley 
Lane (Cumnor), 115 South Avenue (Abingdon), 109 The Avenue 
(Kennington), 1 The Sandlings School Road (Hythe), York Cottage Long 
Lane (Newbury), 8 Watermill Way, 24, 53, 74, 83, 87 Warwick Street, 11 
Edith Court Upper Road, 27 Stanley Road, Sandy Lane (mo number 
provided) (Milton Common), 44 Percy Street, 48 Chequers Court (Bristol), 35 
Osler Road, 7 Lewin Close, 11A Lakeside, 43 Frenchay Road, 107 Church 
Cowley Road, 5 Canning Crescent, 31 Bedford Street, 32 Flat A Ash Grove, 
28 Arnold Road, 56 Atwater House, Armstrong Road, 2 Anne Greenwood 
Close, 8 Ferny Close Radley (Abingdon), 75 Drayton Road (Abingdon), 70 
Laurel Drive (Southmoor), 69 Millwood End (Long Hanborough), 4 Poplars 
Close (Stone), 4 College Court High Street (Kidlington), 36 North Street 
(Marcham), 30 St Marys Avenue (Reading), 29 Farmclose Road (Wheatley), 
17 Overstrand Close (Bicester), 12 Collett Drive (Bampton), 31 Sunningwell 
Road, 36 St Marys Road, 48 St Annes Road, 5 Selwyn Crescent (Radley), 8 
Raymund Road, 65 Queens Road (Carterton), 69 Millwood End Long 
Hanborough, 2 Jack Straw's Lane, Flat1, 2A Girdlestone Road, 16, 37 
Campbell Road, 55 Beech Road (Wheatley), 10 Wellington Square 
(Swindon), 373A Woodstock Road, 109 Radley Road (Abingdon), 147 
Radley Road (Abingdon), 6 Sandfield Road, 44 Percy Street, 11 Nuneham 
Courtenay, Nuffield College Oxford, 9 Newman Lane (Drayton), 42 New High 
Street, 86 Needlepin Way (Buckingham), 31 Magdalen Road, 3 Lane Ness, 
(Benson), 6 Kingston Close (Abingdon), 45 Kings End (Bicester), 27 Hugh 
Allen Crescent , 105 High Street, (Chalgrove), 51 Hayfield Road, 22 Forest 
Road,, 4 Eynsham Road,  71 Courtland Rd,  Barracks Lane (No number 
provided), 36 Astley Road, (Thame), 36 Slaymaker Close, 38 Plater Drive, 
Oldfields Farm (Stratton Audley), 211 Iffley Road, 179 Howard Street, 49 
Courtland Roa, 39 Bullingdon Road, 54, 49 Boundary Brook Road, 24 The 
Motte (Abingdon), 23 kings Orchard (Brightwell cum Sotwell), Juniper 
Cottage, 1 Beauchamp Lane, Tanners Cottage Lower End (Great Milton), 14 
St Pauls Crescent (Great Milton), 33 St Pauls Crescent, Ross House, Ross 
Court,  57, Alexander Close (Abingdon), 36 Bertie Road (Cumnor), 1 Farm 
Close (Ringwood), 3 York Avenue, 10 Naldertown (Wantage), 301, 379, 303 
Meadow Lane, Manor Farm Bungalow, Northampton Road (Weston-on-the-
Green), 39 Manor Drive (Horspath), 6 Fernham Gate (Farringdon), 24 
Addison Crescent, 14 Wharton Road, 45, 75 Stratford Street,  111 Merewood 
Avenue, 10 Maidcroft Road,  72 High Street (Finstock), 57, 90, 94, 103, 107 
Fairacres Road, 25 Blakeman Lane (Eynsham), 306 Barracks Lane, 7 
Augustine Way, 7 Tackley Place, 28 Iffley Turn, Oxford Sea Scouts (Meadow 
Lane), 2, 43 Argyle Street, 2a Burgan Close, 90 Crescent Road, 77 
Campbell Road, 71 Courtland Road, 4 Farndon Road, 9 Frenchay Road, 11a 
Westbury Crescent, 78 Lytton Road, Mendip House Pullens Lane, 31 

24



Ramsay Road, 108 Southoor Road, 92, 125 Staunton Road, 21 Belvedere 
Road, 3 Fane Road, 14 Tree Lane, 11 Bay Tree Close, Oxford Media & 
Business School One Cambridge Terrace, 2 Wylie Close, 6 Kingston Road, 
39 Manor Drive, 17 Cotman Close (Abingdon), Barrow Cottage The Green 
(Leafield), 8 Herman Close (East Hanney), 7 Lewin Close, 32 Monmouth 
Road, 14 Chawley Lane, 22 York Avenue, 24 St Leonards Road, 4 Stanley 
Road, 31 Sunningwell Road, 43 Norreys Avenue, 7 Tackley Place, 14 
Robinsgreen (Swindon) 17 Maple Furlong (Benson) 27 Lock Crescent 
(Kidlington), 22 Larkdown (Wantage), 42 Pontefract Road (Bicester), 86 
Copse Lane, 56 London Road (Milton Common), 31 Sunningwell Road, 
Ivybank 17 (Wantage), 43 Church Street (Sutton Courtenay), 33 North 
Hinksey Lane, May Cottage High Street (Aston), Pangkalan, Silver Street 
(Swindon), 59 Old Road (Wheatley), 70 Laurel Drive (Southmoor), 29 
Littlebrook Meadow (Shipton-Under-Wychwood), 37 Millwood End (Long 
Hanborough), objecting to the proposals, in summary these comments 
included concerns relating to the following: 
- Concerns about the charging schedule 
- More detail needed relating to the charging of the car parking 
- Charging may reduce accessibility of rowing club 
- Concerns about cost of car parking 
- Falcon Rowing Club members come from further afield so require car 

parking 
- A condition of Falcon Rowing Club’s building included a management 

plan for the provision of car parking 
- Other nearby clubs have their own dedicated car parking (whereas 

Falcon Rowing Club does not) 
- Car park cannot currently accommodate all of Falcon Rowing Club’s 

requirements (and so opening to other users would mean it would be 
over-capacity) 

- The car park was resurfaced and improved to meet Falcon Rowing Club’s 
requirements 

- Guest coaches and coaches from further afield need car parking at 
Falcon Rowing Club 

- Concerns about loss of car parking for Falcon Rowing Club for users with 
reduced mobility/disability 

- If the variation is granted can Falcon Rowing Club members be provided 
permits 

- Equipment needed by Falcon Rowing Club is heavy and cars are 
required to take equipment to the site 

- Impact of anti-social behaviour from public use 
- Impact on highway safety 
- Impact from noise/pollution 
 

6.6. Comments were received from the following addresses: 72 St Leonards 
Road, 10 Twynhams Road Tackley, 18 Oxford Close, 320 London Road, 44 
Iffley Turn, 221 Iffley Road, 44, 71 Freelands Road, 78 Donnington Bridge 
Road, 26 Chester Street, 26 Cavell Road, 50 Arnold Road, 51 Corallian drive 
(Faringdon), 49 Balliol Road (Bicester), 37 Jay Close (Bicester), 31 Binning 
Close (Drayton), 3 Pound Close (Yarnton), 18 Oxford Road (Cumnor), 18 
Leen Valley Way (Hucknall), 18 Butlers Drive (Carterton), 11 Seedling Road 

25



(Bodicote), 82 Swinburne Road, Rotherfield Mews (Henley-on-Thames), 17 
Outram Road, 21 Lincoln Road, 13, 42, 72, 88 Freelands Road, 92 Crescent 
Road , 44 Chester Street, 1, 2, 3, 4, 11, 13, 14, 14, 16, 17, 19, 21, 25, 27, 31, 
35, 39, 41, 55, 57 Bedford Street, 16 Bannister Close, 28, 31, 45, 53 Arnold 
Road, 318 Flat 1 Headington (incomplete address), 12 Cowleaze (Chinnor), 
William Lucy Way (no number provided), 105 Radley Road (Abingdon), 6, 8, 
12, 17, 23, 28, 38, 51, 53 Stratford Street, 33 Station Road (Wallingford), 30 
Chester Street, 83 Bagley Close, 33 Maidcroft Road, 24 Chester Street,  41 
Cardigan Street, 17 Broad Gap (Banbury), Flat 2, 304 Banbury Road, 27 
Acorn Close (Bicester), 26 Fletcher Road, 55 Bodley Road, 33 Parkside 
(Marcham), 14 St Pauls Crescent , 49 Ypres Way (Abingdon), 56 Wilding 
Road (Wallingford), 33J West St Helen Street (Abingdon), 5 Waxes Close 
(Abingdon), Wantage (No address provided), 1, 13 The Oval (Bicester), The 
Old Pound (Wootton), Flat 1,107 The Moors (Kidlington), The Limes 
(Chipping Norton), 4 The Glebe (Wheatley), 17 Sycamore Gardens 
(Bicester), 9 Staniland Court (Abingdon), 32 Round Close Road (Adderbury), 
109 Ridgefield Road, 3, 7, 13, 16, 21, 28, 32 Parker Street , 32 Pauling 
Road, 57 Old High Street, 90 North Street (Middle Barton), 8 Norreys Road 
(Cumnor), 335 Meadow Lane, Mathews Way (Abingdon), 34 Masons Road, 
7 Larch End (Garsington), 122 Kimmeridge Road (Cumnor), 18B Kempson 
Crescent, 18 Japonica Close (Bicester),  Highwinds Woodperry Road,  4 
High Street (Cumnor), Harpes Road (no number provided), 165 Foxhills Way 
(Brackley), 33 Foxglove Close, 5 Drayton Close, 3 Dale Close, 37 Coverley 
Road, 62 Courtland Road, 16 Costar Close,  Brize Norton Carterton (no 
number provided),  20 Bracegirdle Road, 24 Blackbird Close (Brackley), 
Beauchamp Lane (No number provided), 54 Barretts Way (Sutton Courtney), 
35 Abingdon Road, 33 Abelwood Road, 51, 64, 66, 81, 82, 90 Warwick 
Street, 34 Percy Street, Meadow Lane (no number provided), 12 Howard 
Street, 57 Hertford St, 17 Bannister Close, 320 London Road, 33, 45, 47, 49, 
52, 66, 70, 71, 73, 87, 92, 100, 101, 104, 108, 111, 113, 115 Fairacres Road, 
St Mary & St John CE Primary School Meadow Lane, Donnington Football 
Club, 16 Boulter Street, 9 Hastoe Grange, 348A Woodstock Road, 20, 58 
Cornwallis Road, 2 Crown Street, 32 Dale Close, 168 Howard Street, 117 
Mogridge Drive, 6 Oswestry Road , 1 Press Way, 10 Stubble Close, 34 
Cornwallis Road, 15 Church Cowley Road, 64 Nowell Road, 6, 27, 35, 36, 
38, 49, 50B, 58, 62, 63, 66, 68 Argyle Street, 28 Collinwood Road, 18 Oxford 
Road (Cumnor), 22 Harcourt Green (Aylesbury), 40 Cavell Road, 19 Owens 
Way, 12 Percy Street, 44 Sunningwell Road, (No number provided) 
Warneford Road, Iffley Fields Residents' Association, 27 Spring Field Way 
(Sutton Courtenay), 14 The Paddox, 58 Spruce Drive (Bicester), 12 Lock 
Crescent (Kidlington) The Barn (Thrupp), supporting the proposals, in 
summary these comments included points relating to the following: 
- Support the opening up of the car park to other users 
- Support the proposals to open but car park should be opened and closed 

at reasonable times 
- Support use by the school, would like 30 minute free drop off for parents 
- Support use of car park by other water sport activities 
- Car park should be free for school drop off 
- Car parking would be useful for guests of clubs in the area 
- Hours of car parking should deter long-term or commuter use 

26



- Consultation should take place with community groups about the 
management of the car park 

- Car parking permits could be made available for local residents to use 
the car park 

- Would be useful for football clubs in the area 
- Car park should be closed at night 
- Support provision of cycle parking 
- Proposals would reduce congestion 
- Would be beneficial for angling clubs 
- Support provision of a car club space 
- Reduction in congestion in nearby residential roads 
- Benefit for disabled users of the car park 

 
6.7. Comments were received from the following Lindale Berry Hill Road 

(Adderbury), No Address Provided, 115 Fairacres Road, Cllr Kerr (Ward 
Councillor), neither objecting nor supporting the proposals, in summary 
these comments included points relating to the following: 
- Would like reasonable charging rates for car parking 
- Returning to original provision as an equitable facility for residents and 

others 
- Would like provision of designated car club space 

 
Officer Response 
 

6.8. A large number of comments have been made with respect to this 
application. In summary, the majority of objections to the application have 
been made by members of Falcon Rowing Club and relate to the potential 
loss of provision of car parking for the Club. The majority of comments in 
support of the application have been made by residents who support the 
opening of the car park to the public.  
 

6.9. A small number of comments may have been labelled by residents as 
objections but were in fact supporting the re-opening of the car park to the 
public (and should therefore have been arguably titled a comment in 
support); likewise a number of objections actually support the variation of the 
condition and should have been labelled as a comment supporting the 
application. Officers have labelled the comments above as comments 
objecting to or supporting the application based on the way that these 
comments were labelled by the residents making those comments rather 
than based on a supposition about their content. 

 
6.10. The matters raised in comments above have been carefully considered in 

the officer report below. 
 

 
7. PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

 
Officers consider the determining issues to be: 

i. Principle of development 
ii. Impact on Amenity 

27



iii. Highways Impacts 
iv. Other Matters 

 
i. Principle of development 

 
Greenbelt 
 

7.1 The application site is located within the Green Belt; the planning permission 
granted for the resurfacing of the car park and associated improvements 
(reference 21/01271/CT3 ) considered the acceptability of those proposals in 
the context of their impact on the Green Belt. Development can only be 
acceptable in the Green Belt where it is not considered to be inappropriate 
development in accordance with local and national planning policies as 
required by Policy G3 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036) and Paragraph 150 of 
the NPPF. In this context, it was acknowledged that the development of the 
car park had altered the appearance of the site, specifically as it had 
previously been constructed of a largely unmade surface but was then 
enlarged and surfaced in tarmac. The principle of this development was 
appropriate because it constituted local transport infrastructure and was an 
improvement to an existing car park. Despite this, Paragraph 154 (formerly 
Paragraph 150 at the time of the determination of application 21/01271/CT3) 
of the NPPF requires that such development is only acceptable where it 
preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the 
purposes of including the land in the Green Belt. The location of local 
transport infrastructure in the Green Belt must be justified to be considered 
acceptable in the context of Paragraph 154 of the NPPF. 
 

7.2 With respect to the consideration of the acceptability of the application 
21/02171/CT3 in terms of its location in the Green Belt it was concluded that 
this was justified as a result of the recent development of the Falcon Rowing 
Club (planning permission 19/00410/FUL) as the resurfacing and 
improvements to the car park could contribute towards the provision of car 
parking for that building. It is worth considering that the development of the 
Falcon Rowing Club building in the Green Belt was justified in the context of 
relating to the provision of outdoor sport which is itself an appropriate 
development in the Green belt for the purposes of Paragraph 154 of the 
NPPF (Paragraph 145 at the time of determination of application 
21/01271/CT3). The proposed management of the car park, as suggested by 
the applicant as part of the application 21/01271/CT3 and required by 
condition as part of the granting of planning permission therefore linked the 
acceptability of the resurfacing of the car park in Green Belt terms with the 
provision of car parking for Falcon Rowing Club. 

 
7.3 On the basis of the above, the proposed variation to condition 6 that is 

sought with this application would remove some of the justification as the car 
park that was identified as making the resurfacing and associated 
improvements (with application 21/01271/CT3) acceptable in Green Belt 
terms as the car park would no longer be associated solely with Falcon 
Rowing Club. Despite this, Officers consider that the provision of the car park 
is still associated with outdoor sport and recreation given the location 

28



adjacent to a number of community facilities for outdoor sports (which still 
include the Falcon Rowing Club) as well as public access to the river. 

 
7.4 The proposals include small ancillary changes to the car park (which would 

be permitted development in any case, on the basis of work that can be 
undertaken by a Local Authority as set out in Part 12 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as 
amended). As a result, these aspects of the development are acceptable in 
terms of their impact on the Green Belt. 

 
7.5 On the above basis, the principle of the car park in Green Belt terms is still 

acceptable despite the variation of condition that is sought. As a result, the 
proposals meet the requirements of Policy G3 of the Oxford Local Plan 
(2036) and Paragraph 154 of the NPPF. 

 
Impact on Community Facilities 
 

7.6 The proposed development should be considered in terms of its acceptability 
in the context of Policy V7 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036); this seeks to 
safeguard the loss of community facilities. The requirements of the policy 
mean that development should be refused where it would lead to the loss of 
the viability of a community facility or prejudice its operation which could 
include the loss of car parking. In this context, officers consider the Falcon 
Rowing Club to be a community facility and have carefully considered the 
impact of the proposed changes to the condition on the provision of car 
parking for that facility. A number of objection comments have focused on the 
loss of car parking having a negative impact on the function and viability of 
the Falcon Rowing Club and in particular a condition of the planning 
permission 19/00410/FUL for the development of the new building for the 
rowing club which required the provision of car parking: 

 
No development shall commence until a Car Parking Management Scheme 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Car Parking Management Scheme shall, as a minimum, 
include details of access arrangements for the car park and its ongoing 
management including the following: o A plan to show the number and layout 
of car parking spaces; o Details of the groups that will have access to the car 
park; o The hours of use when the car park will be made available for those 
groups; o The means of restricting access and egress to ensure parking will 
not be available for unsolicited commuter vehicles; o The means for 
implementing and enforcing the car parking management scheme; o The 
method of monitoring and amending the car parking management. The 
development shall be undertaken strictly in accordance with the Car Parking 
Management Scheme as approved at all times. 

 
Reason: To reduce the pressure for car parking in the locality in accordance 
with policies CP1, TR3 and TR12 of the Adopted Oxford Local Plan 2001-
2016. 
 
(Condition 19 of planning permission 19/00410/FUL) 

29



 
7.7 The application site for this application (24/00585/VAR) was not included in 

the application site for the rowing club (19/00410/FUL).  Condition 19 of the 
planning permission 19/00410/FUL was discharged with a management plan 
that included the provision of 35 car parking spaces on the application site. 
The approved management plan included the provision of public car parking 
and some physical separation between the private (Falcon Rowing Club) 
and public car parking. It is understood that the car park has not been 
managed in accordance with the approved management plan.  
 

7.8 Officers note that there are a number of objections that relate to the above 
matter. It is important for members to be aware that at the time that the 
management plan was submitted to the Council to discharge Condition 19 of 
planning permission 19/00410/FUL Falcon Rowing Club did not have a lease 
that would allow them to manage the car park in line with their submission.  

 
7.9 Whilst not strictly a matter for the consideration of this application officers 

would indicate that it may be possible for Falcon Rowing Club to provide an 
alternative management plan that would propose the use of the car park if 
this application is approved; albeit acknowledging that they would not have 
exclusive use of the car park. Officers consider that this is a matter for 
Falcon Rowing Club and the applicant for this application.  

 
7.10 In addition to the above, it is noted that at the time that the application 

19/00410/FUL was approved the former Oxford Local Plan (2006-2016) 
formed the adopted Development Plan. Policies in that plan differ from the 
current adopted plan, and specifically Policy M3 of the Oxford Local plan 
(2036) in prescribing parking standards for community facilities and 
buildings. It is unlikely that if planning permission was granted for the Falcon 
Rowing Club’s new building now that exclusive provision of car parking 
would be required. It should also be noted that since the approval of 
planning permission 19/00410/FUL a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ) has 
been implemented in Meadow Lane that means that any overspill parking 
from the Falcon Rowing Club is less likely given parking controls in the area. 
In this respect, it is arguably the case that the requirements of Condition 19 
of planning permission 19/00410/FUL would not be justified in policy terms 
now. 

 
7.11 Officers do not consider that the proposed opening of the car park to the 

public and the end of its exclusive use by Falcon Rowing Club would be 
contrary to Policy V7 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). The car park would 
still be open to the users of the Falcon Rowing Club and the opening of the 
car park to other uses would have wider benefits in the context of this policy 
by allowing its use by other community facilities in the area which include 
other clubs and the school (as well as public access to the river). 

 
ii. Impact on Amenity 

 
7.12 Policy RE7 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning permission 

will only be granted for development that ensures that standards of amenity 

30



are protected. This includes the amenity of communities, occupiers and 
neighbours is protected in addition to not having unacceptable unaddressed 
transport impacts and provides mitigation measures where necessary. 
 

7.13 Policy RE8 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning permission 
will only be granted for development proposals which manage noise to 
safeguard or improve amenity, health, and quality of life. Planning permission 
will also not be granted for development that will generate unacceptable 
noise and vibration impacts. Planning permission will not be granted for 
development sensitive to noise in locations which experience high levels of 
noise, unless it can be demonstrated, through a noise assessment, that 
appropriate attenuation measures will be provided to ensure an acceptable 
level of amenity for end users and to prevent harm to the continued 
operation of existing uses.  

 
7.14 The principal impacts of the car park in amenity terms relate to the increase 

noise and emissions from vehicles using the car park; with the increased use 
arguably arising as a result of the car park having an increased capacity and 
year round use because of it being properly surfaced The uncontrolled use of 
the car park for commuter parking was one of the reasons for the imposition 
of Condition 6 of planning permission 21/01271/CT3. It should be noted that 
there was a period of time between the unauthorised resurfacing of the car 
park in late 2018 and the implementation of the management of the car park 
in line with the aforementioned condition in early 2022 when the car park 
was used by the general public. It is understood that there were impacts on 
some local residents during this period; the car park had been enlarged, 
surfaced in tarmac and was free to use without restrictions or enforcement. 
In addition to the increase use throughout the day it was understood that 
there were some issues with anti-social behaviour and evening/nighttime 
use.  

 
7.15 When the application 21/02171/CT3 was approved the above impacts on 

local residents were acknowledged in the officer report but it was concluded 
that with the correct management of the car park it could be made 
acceptable in amenity terms. Given the presence of the gate on the 
application site and the applicant’s proposals to lock the gate and allow the 
site to only be used by the Falcon Rowing Club the aforementioned amenity 
impacts could be made acceptable. This led to the imposition of Condition 6 
of planning permission 21/01271/CT3. 

 
7.16 The supporting information submitted with the application (which includes a 

Design, Access and Impact Statement) does not identify how the proposed 
car parking management of the site with the implementation of a charging 
regime would safeguard amenity impacts. However, the main impacts arising 
from the use of the car park were previously considered to likely arise from 
its uncontrolled use. On this basis, officers recognise that the applicant will 
provide more control over the use of the car park than has previously 
existing.  A charging regime is to be introduced which would be priced to 
deter long-term and commuter parking. 

 

31



7.17 As a result of the above, officers recommend that the variation of the 
condition to implement a charging regime with a weighted payment rate to 
deter long-term and commuter parking would likely resolve any amenity 
impacts from the car park’s use. It should also be noted that the site 
operated for many years as a public car park, albeit acknowledging that the 
use was likely restrained by the quality of surface and capacity. On the 
above basis the variation of condition would be acceptable in the context of 
Policies RE7 and RE8 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). 

 
iii. Highways Impacts 

 
7.18 Policy M3 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states the parking requirements for 

all non-residential development, whether expansions of floorspace on 
existing sites, the redevelopment of existing or cleared sites, or new non- 
residential development on new sites, will be determined in the light of the 
submitted Transport Assessment or Travel Plan, which must take into 
account the objectives of this Plan to promote and achieve a shift towards 
sustainable modes of travel. The presumption will be that vehicle parking will 
be kept to the minimum necessary to ensure the successful functioning of 
the development. In the case of the redevelopment of an existing or 
previously cleared site, there should be no net increase in parking on the site 
from the previous level and the Council will seek a reduction where there is 
good accessibility to a range of facilities. 
 

7.19 As part of the determination of the application for the resurfacing and 
improvements to the car park (application 21/01271/CT3) it was 
acknowledged that the development had led to an increased provision of car 
parking on the site which was contrary to the aims of policies M1 and M3 of 
the Oxford Local Plan 2036. The response from the applicant with respect to 
application 21/01271/CT3 was to manage the car park in such a way that it 
would not lead to an increase in car parking. 
 
It is proposed for the car park to be locked and only open during times 
when the Falcon Rowing Club are operating on the site. There is an 
existing gate (which can be secured) at the entrance to the car park and 
sufficient space for a car to pull in off of the highway so that the gate can 
be opened (by the authorised keyholder) without vehicles obstructing the 
highway. On the basis that the car park solely serves the Falcon Rowing 
Club then it would only marginally overprovide car parking in relation to 
that facility, having had regard to the maximum standards required by 
Policy M3. 
 
(extract from officer delegated report 21/01271/CT3) 
 

7.20 Policy M3 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036) does recognise the need for some 
on and off-street parking to meet the requirements of those using the city 
centre and district and local centres for both business and pleasure. This is 
the position that has been advanced in the submitted Design, Access and 
Impact Statement with his application.  Having regards to this officers are 
mindful that the site is not within close proximity to the city, a district or a 

32



local centre. However, weight does need to be given to the fact that the 
existing use of the site had been a car park for a considerable period of time 
until the approval of the application 21/01271/CT3 and the restriction set out 
within condition 6 of this permission.  As a result officers are of the view that 
the reinstatement of public car parking on this site may be considered 
acceptable in light of that longstanding historic use of the site. 
 

7.21 Revised plans have been received that suggest a circulation of vehicles 
through the car park (with the use of painted white arrows) that would ensure 
that vehicles could move through the car park and exit safely if the car park 
is full. This was raised as a requirement by the County Council as the local 
highway authority who initially objected to the proposals in highway safety 
terms. A revised comment from the County Council has removed that 
objection as the car park can safely operate and users would not have to 
reverse into Meadow Lane if the park is full. Officers of the County Council 
have suggested that they question the case put forward by the applicant to 
resolve the use of the car park for public parking in policy terms. Officers 
consider that this matter has been considered above and on balance is 
acceptable as a result of the previous public use of the site for car parking. 

 
7.22 Some concerns have been expressed about the use of the site during peak 

hours. Officers visited the site on a number of occasions on weekend 
mornings and witnessed that a number of vehicles were parked in previously 
landscaped parts of the site and not within the surfaced area of the car park. 
In order to ensure that the landscaped edges of the site are not degraded 
and there is not an increase in car parking (beyond what is currently 
approved on the site) then the provision of a low fence or bollards should be 
required by condition.  

 
7.23 The improvements proposed to be provided for circulation through the car 

park that are proposed with this application are recommended to be included 
as a condition if planning permission is granted. There is existing provision of 
cycle parking on the application site which would be unchanged by the 
proposals. On this basis the development would be acceptable in highway 
safety and parking terms and meets the requirements of Policies M1, M3, 
M5 and RE7 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). 
 

iv. Other Matters 
 
7.24 The proposals would create additional public car parking which would 

include the provision of a disabled car parking space. Officers consider that 
this is beneficial in the context of Policy M1 of the Oxford Local Plan and 
Paragraph 117 of the NPPF. In reaching a recommendation to grant planning 
permission and vary Condition 6 of planning permission 21/01271/CT3 
officers have considered the requirements of Section 149 of the Equalities 
Act (2010). 
 

7.25 Several objecting comments refer to a lack of local engagement in the 
preparation of the application, specifically with Falcon Rowing Club. Officers 
understand that there was targeted consultation carried out in advance of the 

33



submission of the application and this included the opportunity for interested 
parties to influence the charging regime, permits or a lease over parts of the 
site to secure some provision of exclusive use.  
 

7.26 The proposed changes to conditions would not impact on the acceptability of 
the development on site in the context of ecology, drainage or landscaping. 
Where applicable officers have recommended that original conditions 
imposed with condition 21/01271/CT3 are included in the new planning 
decision if permission is granted. 

 
 
8. CONCLUSION 
 
8.1 Having regards to the matters discussed in the report, officers would make 

members aware that the starting point for the determination of this 
application is in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which makes clear that proposals should be 
assessed in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

8.2 Officers recommend that it would be acceptable to vary condition 6 of 
planning permission 21/01271/CT3 which required the car park to be used 
only by the Falcon Rowing Club and allow the use of the car park by the 
public and other community groups in line with the management of the car 
proposed in this application. Despite the main material impacts arising from 
the proposals in policy terms being finely balanced officers have had regard 
to the previous use of the car park by the public when recommending that 
this application should be approved. 

8.3 On balance, the proposal would be acceptable in principle, there would not 
be an unacceptable impact in amenity terms and the proposals would be 
acceptable in highway safety and parking terms. Any specific impacts or 
mitigation can be adequately addressed by conditions as set out below. 

8.4 The NPPF has a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  NPPF 
paragraph 11 states that proposals that accord with the development plan 
should be approved without delay, or where the development plan is absent, 
silent, or relevant plans are out of date, granting permission unless any 
adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 
when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole; or 
specific policies in the framework indicate development should be restricted. 
Policy S1 of the OLP 2036 repeats this. 

8.5 Officers consider that the proposal would accord with the overall aims and 
objectives of the NPPF and policy S1 for the reasons set out within the 
report.  Therefore in such circumstances, planning permission should be 
approved without delay.  This is a significant material consideration in favour 
of the proposal. 

8.6 Officers would advise members that having considered the application 
carefully including all representations made with respect to the application, 

34



that the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of the aims and 
objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework, and relevant policies 
of the Oxford Local Plan 2016-2036, when considered as a whole, and that 
there are no material considerations that would outweigh these policies. 

8.7 It is recommended that the Committee resolve to grant planning permission 
for the development proposed subject to conditions with draft wording as set 
out below and with the final wording of the conditions delegated to the 
Director of Planning and Regulation. 
 

9. CONDITIONS 

 
Time limit 

 1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later 
than the expiration of three years from the date of the permission 
21/01271/CT3. 

  
 Reason: In accordance with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning 

Act 1990 as amended by the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 

Build in accordance with the approved plans 
 2 The development referred to shall be constructed strictly in complete 

accordance with the specifications in the application and the submitted 
plans. 

  
 Reason: To avoid doubt as no objection is raised only in respect of the 

deemed consent application as submitted and to ensure an acceptable 
development as indicated on the submitted drawings. 

 
Drainage 

3 The gravel infiltration trenches as shown on the approved surface water 
strategy plan (Drawing No. 2 Rev. A dated 24.11.2021) submitted with 
application 21/01271/CT3 shall be installed in accordance with the submitted 
construction details (Drawing No. SD001 Rev A dated 10.05.2021). 

  
 Reason: In the interests of satisfactory drainage as required by Policy RE4 

of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). 
 

Landscaping 
 4 Within twelve months of the date of the decision 21/01271/CT3 or by the end 

of the first planting season following the substantial completion of the 
remedial work required by Conditions 3 and 4 of the decision 21/01271/CT3  
the approved landscaping scheme as set out on the approved plan (Drawing 
No. 005 Rev A dated 24.11.2021) shall be completed. For the avoidance of 
doubt the completion of the approved landscaping scheme shall include the 
planting of four trees as shown on the approved landscaping scheme and 
either the application of grass seed or turf to the areas shown in green on 

35



the approved plan (Drawing No. 005 Rev A dated 24.11.2021) where those 
areas currently contain asphalt and that asphalt is required to be removed. If 
any tree that is planted in accordance with this condition dies within five 
years of the date of this decision then a replacement specimen shall be 
planted. 

  
 Reason: In order for the development to be acceptable in terms of its impact 

on the amenity of surrounding occupiers and in terms of its environmental 
impact as required by Policies RE3, RE4, RE6, RE7, RE8, G1, G3 and H14 
of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). 

 
Management of Car Park 

 5 The management of the car park shall include the provision of a charging 
regime that would include weighted payment rates to deter long-term and/or 
commuter parking as set out in the submitted Design, Access, and Impact 
Statement (Jessop and Cook Architects, April 2025). The charging regime 
shall be commenced within six months of the date of this decision and shall 
thereafter be retained. 

  
 Reason: To prevent uncontrolled commuter parking and residential car 

parking on the site in a manner that would be contrary to Policies M1 and M3 
of the Oxford Local Plan (2036), in the interests of neighbouring residential 
occupiers as required by Policies RE6, RE7 and RE8 of the Oxford Local 
Plan, and to ensure that there is adequate car parking for the Falcon Rowing 
Club and local community groups in accordance with Policy V7 of the Oxford 
Local Plan (2036). 

 
No Additional Car Parking 

 6 No additional car parking shall be provided on the application site other than 
within the marked car parking spaces shown on the approved site plan 
(Drawing No.P.1646_013 REV E) and no areas outside of the marked car 
parking spaces shall be used informally for car parking.  

  
 Reason: In order for the development to be acceptable in terms of its impact 

on the amenity of surrounding occupiers and in terms of its environmental 
impact as required by Policies RE3, RE4, RE6, RE7, RE8, G1, G3 and H14 
of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). 

 
 No additional access 
 7 Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 2, Class B of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) or any 
order replacing or re-enacting those provisions no additional vehicular 
access shall be created into the approved car parking area shown on the 
approved plans. 

  
 Reason: To prevent uncontrolled commuter parking and residential car 

parking on the site in a manner that would be contrary to Policies M1 and M3 
of the Oxford Local Plan (2036), in the interests of neighbouring residential 
occupiers as required by Policies RE6, RE7 and RE8 of the Oxford Local 

36



Plan, and to ensure that there is adequate car parking for the Falcon Rowing 
Club in accordance with Policy V7 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). 

 
Improvements to Car Park 

 8 Within six months of the date of this decision the layout of the car parking 
including the painting of white lines as set out in the approved plan (Drawing 
No.  P.1646_013 REV E) shall be completed. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety as required by Policy RE7 of the 

Oxford Local Plan (2036). 
 
 Boundary Treatment 
9 Within four months of the date of this decision a detailed plan showing a 

boundary around the surfaced area of the car park that would preclude 
access from the car park to the areas outside of that surfaced area (other 
than the approved access onto Meadow Lane) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved boundary 
treatment shall be installed with six months of the date of this decision and 
thereafter shall be retained and maintained in perpetuity. 

 
 Reason: In the interests of ensuring that there is no further increase in the 

car park size or capacity and there is no further loss of vegetation or green 
space at the verdant edges of the site as required by Policies M3, G2, G3 
and G7 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). 

 
APPENDICES 
Appendix 1 – Location Plan 
Appendix 2 –Officer Delegated Report (21/01271/CT3) 
 
HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 
Officers have considered the implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 in reaching 
a recommendation to [approve/refuse] this application. They consider that the 
interference with the human rights of the applicant under Article 8/Article 1 of 
Protocol 1 is justifiable and proportionate for the protection of the rights and freedom 
of others or the control of his/her property in this way is in accordance with the 
general interest. 
 
SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the proposal on the 
need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the determination of this application, in 
accordance with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. In reaching a 
recommendation to grant planning permission, officers consider that the proposal will 
not undermine crime prevention or the promotion of community. 
 

37



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – Location Plan 24/00585/VAR – Car Park, Meadow Lane, Oxford 
 

 

39



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT 

DELEGATED REPORT 
 

Application Number: 21/01271/CT3 
  

Decision Due by: 5th July 2021 (EOT until 31st December 2021) 
  

Proposal: Resurfacing of car park with new drainage system and 
provision bicycle stands (Retrospective) (Amended Plans) 

  
Site Address: Car Park Meadow Lane Oxford Oxfordshire 

  
Ward: Iffley Fields Ward 

 
Agent:  Mr Jasper Syms Applicant:  Oxford Direct Services 

 
 
 

 
Recommendation: 
 
APPLICATION BE APPROVED 
 
For the following reasons: 
 
 1 The Council considers that the proposal accords with the policies of the 

development plan as summarised below.  It has taken into consideration all 
other material matters, including matters raised in response to consultation 
and publicity.  Any material harm that the development would otherwise give 
rise to can be offset by the conditions imposed. 

 
subject to the following conditions, which have been imposed for the reasons stated:- 
 
1 Development begun within time limit   
 
2 Deemed in accordance with approved plns   
 
3 Asphalt Removal   
 
4 Drainage   
 
5 Landscaping   
 
6 Management of car park   
 
7 No additional car parking 
 
8 No additional access 
 
Main Local Plan Policies: 
 

41



REPORT 

Oxford Local Plan 2036 
 
RE1 - Sustainable design and construction 
RE2 - Efficient use of Land 
G3 - Green Belt 
RE8 - Noise and vibration 
RE9 - Land Quality 
RE7 - Managing the impact of development 
M1 - Prioritising walking,cycling+public trns 
M2 - Assessing and managing development 
M3 - Motor vehicle parking 
M5 - Bicycle Parking 
DH1 - High quality design and placemaking 
H14 - Privacy, daylight and sunlight 
V7 - Infrastructure,cultural and community 
RE3 - Flood risk management 
RE4 - Sustainable and foul drainage, surface 
RE6 - Air Quality 
G1 - Protection of Green/Blue Infrastructure 
G2 - Protection of biodiversity geo-diversity 
G8 - New and enhanced Green and Blue  Infrast 
 
Other Material Considerations: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Relevant Site History: 
 

 

21/01271/CT3 - Resurfacing of car park with new drainage system and provision bicycle stands 

(Retrospective) (Amended Plans). PDE . 

 

 

 
Representations Received: 
Ferry House: Objections: 
The car park is in a high-risk flood zone directly backing on to our property. Work was 
carried out in November 2018 with much disruption and without consultation with 
neighbours, and without any flood assessment. Previously it provided mixed use 
parking for river users, mostly at weekends, and dog walkers, with strict no overnight 
parking. Since the so-called improvements and virtual obliteration of the no overnight 
stay sign, it is used every day by commuters, it provides free longterm parking, and 
has often been used at night for loud parties and drug dealing.  
 
My objections are that the current space:  
a) has increased flood risk, particularly to our property, 
b) encourages free parking closer to the city (avoiding Redbridge Park & Ride), which 
is totally against the Council's declared low traffic green city policy, and  
c) has increased traffic, noise and fumes pollution in our residential street. 

42



REPORT 

 
I urge 1) reduced (as opposed to current increased) car parking spaces, preferably 
designated for river users (especially the Falcon Club) 2) no overnight parking, and 
no entry after 8pm, monitored by CCTV cameras, 3) a full and transparent 
retrospective independent flood risk assessment, with necessary action as required, 
4) tree planting where car parking bays are removed. I am pleased that at last the 
Council may be rethinking and considering reshaping this ill-thought out and 
environmentally damaging project, for which no one would take responsibility when I 
first protested through our local councillors in 2018 and 2019. 
 
 
Statutory and Internal Consultees: 
Oxfordshire County Council Highways: The proposals are unlikely to have a 
detrimental impact on the local highway network in traffic and safety terms. Oxfordshire 
County Council do not object to the granting of planning permission. 
 
Environment Agency: No objections, refer to standard advice 
 
Issues: 
Principle of development 
Impact on residential amenity 
Landscaping/Trees 
Flooding and Surface Water Drainage 
Ecology 
Highway and parking 
 
Officers Assessment: 
 
Site Description and Planning History 
The application site is an existing car park on Meadow Lane, to the north of 
Donnington Bridge Road. The car park is situated to the north of the ‘Riverside 
Centre’ (a community and youth centre), east of the newly constructed Falcon 
Rowing Club building and south of Ferry House (a large detached dwellinghouse). 
On the opposite side of the road to the car park are houses facing onto Meadow 
Lane; these are characteristic of this part of the City being arranged as rows of 
wider terraced properties and having front gardens, some of which are used for car 
parking. 
 
Meadow Lane itself is relatively narrow, with the western side of the road being 
less developed and predominately open. Other uses within the vicinity of the site 
include the Sea Scout building and allotments to the north. Meadow Lane continues 
north where it is blocked to motor vehicles but forms an important cycle and 
pedestrian route into the Iffley Fields residential area, including Fairacres Road and 
Bedford Street. Despite being closed to through traffic the road is relatively busy 
and particularly busy for cyclists and pedestrians (with St Mary and St John CE 
Primary School being located approximately a quarter of a mile to the north of the 
application site). 
 
The application site encompasses the entire surface car park and some of the 
surrounding existing vegetation. Whilst the site is only approximately 60m from the 

43



REPORT 

River Thames there are limited views of the river from the application site because 
it is flat and low lying. The application site is largely surrounding to the north and 
west by a number of mature trees. 
 
The existing car park is surfaced in a dark asphalt and laid out to accommodate 43 
car parking spaces and five Sheffield stands. There is an existing railing 
(approximately 1m in height) along the boundary with Meadow Lane. The site is 
accessed by pedestrians, cyclists and cars from a single entrance onto Meadow 
Lane; there is a height restriction (approximately 2m) barrier and a vehicle gate. 
 
The application site lies outside of any Conservation Areas and would not impact 
on the setting of any listed buildings or non-designated heritage assets. The site 
lies within the Oxford Green Belt. 
 
The planning history of the site is relevant to the proposals. Planning permission 
was granted for use of the site as a car park in 1971 (reference 71/24760/A_H), 
with permission granted initially for a two year period of use of the land. It is clear 
from the application description that the land was simply cleared and laid to grass 
to form the parking area (there are no plans scanned to the file). Planning 
permission was granted for an additional year of use (reference 73/01709/A_H) 
albeit for the summer months (1st May to 31st October) only. Lastly, a planning 
permission was granted for a permanent use of the site (reference 75/00043/A_H). 
It is understood that the reason for seeking temporary use of the site only related 
to the fact that the site lay within the Green Belt, as stipulated by conditions 
attached to the permission. It is likely that any conditions attached to the 1970s 
permissions that have not been complied with (for example, summer use only) 
have been breached for such an extended period (and certainly in excess of ten 
years) that they no longer could be enforced against.  
 
At some point in the last quarter of 2018 the existing car park was enlarged and 
improved through resurfacing and laying out spaces (involving painting white lines). 
It is likely that some of this work may have involved the loss of trees or vegetation 
around the site. Some works to improve drainage (an infiltration trench) may have 
been installed. This would work was carried out without planning permission. 
Images from google maps and photographs provided with the application suggest 
that prior to carrying out the aforementioned work the car park was largely 
constructed from an unmade surface; there were some areas of gravel (or possibly 
hardcore/compacted gravel). Importantly, prior to the work being carried out to the 
car park in 2018 the margins of the car parking area were not well defined and 
therefore unused (or presumably only used during periods where the ground was 
dry) and the car park therefore had a reduced capacity. It is not possible to 
conclusively suggest how many car parking spaces existed on the site prior to the 
improvements being made to it in 2018; the application form suggests that there 
were approximately 30 spaces. There are currently 43 spaces on the site.  
 
Proposed Development 
The application is part-retrospective. Originally the application sought to retain the 
car park as it currently exists. Amended plans have been sought that seek to carry 
out remedial work to the car park that would reduce its capacity to 37 spaces and 
reduce the area of asphalt currently on the site to reflect that reduced capacity. 

44



REPORT 

Remedial work that is proposed also relates to the provision of an infiltration trench 
around the proposed car park to deal with surface water. Six existing cycle spaces 
are proposed to be retained. 
 
In addition to the above, the applicant has put forward a strategy to deal with the 
management of the car park. This specifically includes a way to preclude the car 
park’s use for uncontrolled commuter parking which may have increased as a result 
of the improvements carried out to the car park. The proposed management of the 
car park would mean that the car park would be closed other than for use by the 
Falcon Rowing Club. There is an existing gate (which can be locked) that would 
prevent access outside of the times when the Falcon Rowing Club is operating. 
 
Principle of Development 
 
The application site lies within the Green Belt. Policy G3 of the Oxford Local Plan 
states that proposals for development in the Green Belt will be determined in 
accordance with national policy. Planning permission will not be granted for 
inappropriate development within the Green Belt, in accordance with national 
policy. Paragraph 149 of the NPPF sets out uses which are compatible with the 
function of the green belt. These uses include buildings for agriculture and forestry; 
the provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, 
cemeteries and burial grounds and allotments; the extension or alteration of a 
building provided that it does not result in disproportionate additions over and 
above the size of the original building; the replacement of a building, provided the 
new building is in the same use and not materially larger than the one it replaces; 
limited infilling in villages; limited affordable housing for local community; and 
limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed 
land. 
 
Paragraph 150 of the NPPF also specifies that certain other forms of development 
are also not inappropriate in the Green Belt provided they preserve its openness 
and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it. These are mineral 
extraction, engineering operations, local transport infrastructure, the re-use of 
buildings, material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor 
sport or recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and development, 
including buildings, brought forward under a Community Right to Build Order or 
Neighbourhood Development Order. 
 
The development of the car park has altered the appearance of the site. Whereas 
previously the car park was constructed of a largely unmade surface it is now 
constructed from asphalt and has been enlarged. There has also been some loss 
of vegetation and the introduction of more vehicles onto the site which has changed 
the appearance of the site. The impact of the car park on the greenbelt is arguably 
greater in the winter months as the trees around the edge of the site have less of 
an impact in terms of screening the car park (and cars parked there). This may well 
have been a basis for imposing conditions to require summer use only for the car 
park in the 1970s; as whilst that planning application was determined fifty years 
ago the broad principles of green belt remain largely unchanged. The original basis 
for granting a temporary planning permission on the site related to its location within 
the green belt. 

45



REPORT 

 
It is important to point out that in principle the development does not involve the 
development of a building in the greenbelt. As a result, the main considerations for 
whether or not the development is appropriate development in the greenbelt is set 
out in Policy G3 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036) and Paragraph 150 of the NPPF. 
It is considered that the development proposed would be acceptable in the context 
of Paragraph 150 of the NPPF; namely as it would relate to the provision of local 
transport infrastructure as an improvement to an existing car park. However, such 
development is only acceptable where it preserves the openness of the greenbelt 
and does not conflict with the purposes of including the land in the greenbelt.  
 
On the basis of the information contained within the application it is understood that 
the improvements that have been carried out to the car park have largely coincided 
with the development of a new Falcon Rowing Club building. The development of 
that building is considered acceptable in the greenbelt for the reason of being for 
outdoor sport and recreation (as set out in Paragraph 149 of the NPPF, formerly 
paragraph 145 at the time that the decision 19/00410/FUL for the rowing club was 
made). As part of the determination of the application of the rowing club 
(19/00410/FUL) it was noted that there would be a requirement for 35 car parking 
spaces which could be met by the existing car park that is the subject of this 
application. Whilst the proposed development relates to an existing car park the 
proposals formalise the use of the car park and have increased its capacity. The 
justification for providing the car park in this greenbelt location (which is a 
consideration of Paragraph 150 of the NPPF) can arguably be met by the fact that 
the car park is required for its use by the Falcon Rowing Club who have an 
operational requirement for a car park in close proximity to their site. 
 
The development proposed as part of this application seeks to retain most of the 
existing car park changes, including approximately 85% of the asphalt area to 
create capacity for parking 37 cars. The proposals include additional landscaping 
to soften the impact of the car park. This part of the greenbelt is important in terms 
of providing an area of open space adjacent to the Thames, containing largely 
undeveloped land with grass and trees. Having had regard to the relatively open 
nature of the car park and proposals for enhanced landscaping it is considered that 
the proposed development would be acceptable in the context of greenbelt 
development and the requirements of Policy G3 of Oxford Local Plan (2036) and 
Paragraph 150 of the NPPF. 
 
Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 
Policy RE7 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning permission will only 
be granted for development that ensures that standards of amenity are protected. 
This includes the amenity of communities, occupiers and neighbours is protected 
in addition to not having unacceptable unaddressed transport impacts and provides 
mitigation measures where necessary.  
 
Policy RE8 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning permission will only 
be granted for development proposals which manage noise to safeguard or 
improve amenity, health, and quality of life. Planning permission will also not be 
granted for development that will generate unacceptable noise and vibration 
impacts. Planning permission will not be granted for development sensitive to noise 

46



REPORT 

in locations which experience high levels of noise, unless it can be demonstrated, 
through a noise assessment, that appropriate attenuation measures will be 
provided to ensure an acceptable level of amenity for end users and to prevent 
harm to the continued operation of existing uses.  
 
The proposed development impacts on properties in Meadow Lane and Ferry 
House (the latter being to the immediate north of the car park). The main impacts 
of the car park include the noise and emissions from vehicles using the car park. 
Whilst it is acknowledged that the car park was existing prior to the work being 
carried out to enlarge and improve the surface that work has brought about a 
formalising of the car park that increases the capacity of the car park (and arguably 
its desirability). The car park’s previous unmade surface meant that it was likely to 
be less heavily used during the winter months.  As a result, it is acknowledged that 
the existing car park is likely to have had some impact on local residents through 
increased noise and emissions and this has led to the applicant submitting 
revisions to reduce the impact of the car park by decreasing the size of the car park 
(as already outlined above) and providing further planting. It is considered that the 
amended scheme would reduce the impact of the car park on local residents. 
 
Further to the above, it is important to point out that whilst the increase in the size 
of the car park has likely given rise to an impact on local residents it is possible that 
with the correct management of the car park those impacts can be reduced to the 
extent that the car park is acceptable in amenity terms. The applicant has put 
forward a simple method of managing the car park to ensure that it is not used for 
uncontrolled commuter parking but also provides sufficient car parking for the 
Falcon Rowing Club (when the club is in operation). It is proposed for the car park 
to be locked and only open during times when the Falcon Rowing Club are 
operating on the site. There is an existing gate (which can be secured) at the 
entrance to the car park and sufficient space for a car to pull in off of the highway 
so that the gate can be opened (presumably by the authorised keyholder) without 
vehicles obstructing the highway. 
 
On the above basis it is considered that the revised scheme that reduces the car 
park from its current size, provides additional planting and proposes an acceptable 
mitigation to reduce uncontrolled use of the car park would mean that the 
development would be acceptable in terms of its amenity impacts and specifically 
the requirements of Policy RE7 and RE8 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). 
 
Landscaping and Trees 
Policy G7 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning permission will not be 
granted where development would result in the loss of green infrastructure features 
such as hedgerows, trees or woodland, where this would have a significant adverse 
impact upon public amenity or ecological interest. It must be demonstrated that 
their retention is not feasible and that their loss will be mitigated. Planning 
permission will not be granted for development resulting in the loss or deterioration 
of ancient woodland or ancient or veteran trees except in wholly exceptional 
circumstances.  
 
The development of the car park has resulted in the loss of some vegetation around 
the edge of the site. This is regrettable. The extent of vegetation lost has not been 

47



REPORT 

assessed but likely includes some small shrubs, trees and grassed areas which 
have now been surfaced with asphalt. In order to ameliorate for the increased area 
of hard surfacing on the site it is proposed to reduce the size of the car park and 
provide additional planting at the northern edge of the site, contiguous with the 
coppice of trees that lies in this location. The proposed planting includes hawthorn, 
alder, acer and wild service tree; these would have a complimentary appearance 
to the site and screen the car park when viewed from parts of the river bank and to 
the north. Subject to a condition requiring the implementation of the landscaping 
scheme as proposed then the development would comply with the requirements of 
Policies G1 and G7 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). 
 
Flooding and Surface Water Drainage 
Policy RE3 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning permission will not be 
granted for development in Flood zone 3b except where it is for water-compatible 
uses or essential infrastructure; or where it is on previously developed land and it will 
represent an improvement for the existing situation in terms of flood risk. Minor 
householder extensions may be permitted in Flood Zone 3b, as they have a lower 
risk of increasing flooding. Proposals for this type of development will be assessed 
on a case by case basis, taking into account the effect on flood risk on and off site. 
Development will not be permitted that will lead to increased flood risk elsewhere, or 
where the occupants will not be safe from flooding.  
 
Policy RE4 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that all development proposals will 
be required to manage surface water through Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
or techniques to limit run-off and reduce the existing rate of run-off on previously 
developed sites. Surface water runoff should be managed as close to its source as 
possible, in line with the drainage hierarchy outlined in the policy. Applicants must 
demonstrate that they have had regard to the SuDS Design and Evaluation Guide 
SPD/ TAN for minor development and Oxfordshire County Council guidance for 
major development.  
 
The application site lies within functional flood zone 3b. However, the risk of flooding 
in land use terms is not increased by the development as it was previously in use as 
a car park. There is no additional building that has taken place as a result of the 
proposed development. However, it is noted that there has been an increase in hard 
surfacing on the site and as a result, the proposed development would give rise to an 
impact in terms of surface water drainage. The submitted flood risk assessment 
suggests that the previous surfacing on the site was impermeable but officers 
consider that the overall area of hard surfacing has increased. As a result, infiltration 
trenches have been sought to reduce the flows of surface water off of the site and 
thereby decrease the impact of pluvial flooding resulting from the proposed 
development. Subject to these improvements being provided on site the development 
would comply with the requirements of Policy RE3 and RE4 of the Oxford Local Plan 
(2036). 
 
Ecology 
 

Policy G2 of Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that important species and habitats will be 
expected to be protected from harm, unless the harm can be appropriately mitigated. 
It also outlines that, where there is opportunity, it will be expected to enhance Oxford’s 

48



REPORT 

biodiversity. This includes taking opportunities to include features beneficial to 
biodiversity within new developments throughout Oxford.  
 
The proposed development lies within an area where there could be protected species, 
specifically bats. However, the development in question has already been carried out 
and as it has not resulted in increased lighting it is not likely to give rise to an adverse 
impact on bats or their habitats. Given the lack of buildings on the site (and the 
desirability to maintain an open site) it is not appropriate to require biodiversity 
enhancements in the form of bat boxes or similar. As a result, the development is 
considered to meet the requirements of Policy G2 of the Oxford Local Plan (2036). 
 
Highways and Parking 
Policy M3 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states the parking requirements for all non-
residential development, whether expansions of floorspace on existing sites, the 
redevelopment of existing or cleared sites, or new non- residential development on 
new sites, will be determined in the light of the submitted Transport Assessment or 
Travel Plan, which must take into account the objectives of this Plan to promote and 
achieve a shift towards sustainable modes of travel. The presumption will be that 
vehicle parking will be kept to the minimum necessary to ensure the successful 
functioning of the development. In the case of the redevelopment of an existing or 
previously cleared site, there should be no net increase in parking on the site from the 
previous level and the Council will seek a reduction where there is good accessibility 
to a range of facilities. 
 
The proposals have led to an increased provision of car parking on the site which 
is at odds with the Council’s adopted planning policies M1 and M3 (of the Oxford 
Local Plan (2036). The improvements made to the surface, layout and capacity of 
the car park have brought about an increased intensity of the use of the site; whilst 
this would not be unacceptable in highway safety terms it could lead to increased 
commuter parking which would have an adverse impact on the highway network 
as a whole (and the amenity of neighbouring residential occupiers, as already 
discussed above). As a result the applicant has put forward a simple method of 
managing the car park to ensure that it is not used for uncontrolled commuter 
parking but also provides sufficient car parking for the Falcon Rowing Club (when 
the club is in operation). It is proposed for the car park to be locked and only open 
during times when the Falcon Rowing Club are operating on the site. There is an 
existing gate (which can be secured) at the entrance to the car park and sufficient 
space for a car to pull in off of the highway so that the gate can be opened (by the 
authorised keyholder) without vehicles obstructing the highway. On the basis that 
the car park solely serves the Falcon Rowing Club then it would only marginally 
overprovide car parking in relation to that facility, having had regard to the 
maximum standards required by Policy M3. 
 
The car park includes some cycle parking that is provided adjacent to Meadow 
Lane. This would be a sensible location for cycle parking having had regard to the 
passive surveillance from the road and houses on the opposite side of the road.  
 
Conditions have been included to ensure that areas outside of the marked car 
parking areas are not used for car parking and that additional (unmanaged) 
accesses to the site are not created as this would give rise to an unacceptable 

49



REPORT 

impact in the context of Policy M3 (and potentially in amenity terms also).  
 

There has been no objection from the Local Highway Authority to the development in 
highway safety terms. Subject to a condition that requires the car park to be 
managed in line with the applicant’s proposals to prevent uncontrolled commuter 
parking then the development would be acceptable in the context of Policy M3 of the 
Oxford Local Plan (2036). 
 
Conclusion: 
On the basis of the above, planning permission should be granted subject to 
conditions. 
 
Human Rights Act 1998 
 
Officers have considered the Human Rights Act 1998 in reaching a 
recommendation to grant planning permission, subject to conditions.  Officers have 
considered the potential interference with the rights of the owners/occupiers of 
surrounding properties under Article 8 and/or Article 1 of the First Protocol of the 
Act and consider that it is proportionate. 
 
Officers have also considered the interference with the human rights of the 
applicant under Article 8 and/or Article 1 of the First Protocol caused by imposing 
conditions.  Officers consider that the conditions are necessary to protect the rights 
and freedoms of others and to control the use of property in accordance with the 
general interest.  The interference is therefore justifiable and proportionate. Subject  
 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 
Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the proposal on the 
need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the determination of this application, 
in accordance with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  In reaching a 
recommendation to grant planning permission officers consider that the proposal 
will not undermine crime prevention or the promotion of community safety. 
 
Contact Officer: Robert Fowler 
Extension: 2104 
Date: 29th December 2021 
 
 
 

50



1 
 

OXFORD CITY PLANNING COMMITTEE 07.10.2025 
 
Application number: 25/00799/FUL 
  
Decision due by 16th October 2025 
  
Extension of time None 
  
Proposal Demolition of existing retail store (Use Class E). Erection 

of new building at 2 to 3 storeys (with basement) to 
provide Use Class E floorspace comprising use for 
research and development and offices. Service area, 
landscaping (including low walls to London Road and 
Stile Road), cycle parking, bin stores, and alterations to 
access off Stile Road. 

  
Site address 152 London Road, Headington, Oxford, OX3 9ED  

– see Appendix 1 for site plan 
  
Ward Quarry And Risinghurst Ward 
  
Case officer Tracy Harvey 

 
Agent:  Mr Nik Lyzba Applicant:  Cantay Estates Ltd 

 
Reason at Committee Major Development 

 

 
1. RECOMMENDATION 

1.1. Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to: 

1.2 Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to the 
required planning conditions set out in section 12 of this report and grant planning 
permission; and subject to:  

• the satisfactory completion of a legal agreement under section.106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 and other enabling powers to secure the planning 
obligations set out in the recommended heads of terms which are set out in this 
report; and  

1.3 Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning & Regulation to:  

• finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including such 
refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Director of 
Planning and Regulation considers reasonably necessary; and  

•  finalise the recommended legal agreement under section 106 of the Town and 
County Planning Act and other enabling powers as set out in this report, 
including refining, adding to, amending and/or deleting the obligations detailed 
in the heads of terms set out in this report (including to dovetail with and where 

51

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

appropriate, reinforce the final conditions and informatives to be attached to 
the planning permission) as the Director of Planning and Regulation considers 
reasonably necessary; and  

Complete the section 106 legal agreement referred to above and issue the 
planning permission. 

 

2.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.1. This report considers the redevelopment of the existing Co-Op store, with a 
scheme for the erection of a Class E (Commercial) building for use for research 
and development and offices.  The building would be 2 and 3 stories high with a 
basement. The overall building mass would extend in height from 2 storeys on 
the boundary with St Andrews CE Primary School and 5/7 Stile Road rising to 3 
storeys on the corner of London Road and Stile Road. A service yard is proposed 
to the rear accessed off Stile Road.  

2.2. The report considers the proposal having regard to its location within, but on the 
edge of Headington District Centre, and adjacent to Old Headington 
Conservation Area and St Andrews CE Primary School, as a late Victorian 
school building. 

2.3. The report considers the policies for Class E and retail development having 
regard to its location in the District Centre. The report also notes that as the site 
is located in a sustainable position on a main arterial road, that the principal of 
the proposed use is acceptable. 

2.4. However, it is recognised that the site is located on an open and prominent 
position on London Road, on the edge of the District Centre where the District 
Centre merges with the surrounding suburban character of Headington, where 
the building vernacular is of two storey scale.  The report considers that the scale 
and massing of the building occupying a wide and deep frontage, along with an 
overall building height of some 13m would not result in a significant or 
incongruous building form. The proposed building has been designed to reflect 
the lower heights of the adjacent buildings. The proposed building is appropriate 
in its design, siting and context.   

2.5. Officers have considered the wider impact of the building from long range views 
from Elsfield. The building would not be visible from this view and would not sit in 
the view cone of the historic skyline. In local views its staggered position closer 
reflecting the adjacent building lines, result in its scale, height and massing would 
not be visually discordant in the streetscape, it would not be out of character with 
this part of the District Centre, or detrimental in views along London Road/Stile 
Road.   

2.6. Officers have considered the views from Bury Knowle Park and the setting of Old 
Headington Conservation Area. The significance of the Conservation Area has 
been assessed and the views of the site considered from Bury Knowle Park. It is 
considered that the development would be acceptable in this view and the 
development would not harm the setting of Old Headington Conservation Area.  
Additionally, it would not harm the setting of the listed wall that bounds Bury 

52



3 
 

Knowle Park.  Officers consider that the proposal by reason of its siting, scale, 
height and massing would cause no harm and take into account the effect of the 
development on the significance of St Andrews Primary School, as a non-
designated heritage asset.   

2.7. Officers have considered the highway implications of the development and 
concluded that the application is supported by an appropriate assessment of the 
existing trip rate of the existing retail store and note that the local public car parks 
have been surveyed to assess whether there is capacity to meet the occasional 
demands the development may place on these car parks and to assess highway 
impact. Officers also note that the site is in a Controlled Parking Zone (CPZ). The 
car-free approach to the development is supported. 

2.8. The report considers the impact of the siting, scale, height and massing on the 
amenities of the school, children’s education and local residents and considers 
the impact on noise, daylight/sunlight, outlook, privacy and shading.  Officers 
consider from the supporting documentation that the proposal would not harm the 
amenity of the school, children or local residents through loss of privacy or 
adverse impacts on amenity/use which cannot be controlled through the use of 
conditions.  

2.9. Finally officers have assessed the impact on land quality, trees, wildlife, drainage, 
SuDS and air quality to be acceptable, however have had regard to the 
sustainability requirements of policy RE1 of the Oxford Local Plan and that the 
applicant has demonstrated that the development provides evidence of 
exceeding the Councils target of 40% reduction in carbon emissions. 

2.10. Subject to the imposition of appropriately worded conditions and a section 106 
legal agreement, the development would accord with all policies in the Oxford 
Local Plan 2036 and NPPF and complies with the duties set out in the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), UN Convention on the Rights of 
the Child (UNCRC) and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).. 

3. LEGAL AGREEMENT 

3.1  This application is subject to a legal agreement with: 

Oxfordshire County Council to secure:  

• £3,840 Traffic Regulation Order (if not dealt with under S278/S38 agreement) 
towards removal of parking bay space and installation of e-bike hire parking  

• £2,035 Travel Plan Monitoring    

•   Off-site highway works: 

  Stopping up of car park access off Stile Road  

  Changes to the servicing access off Stile Road 

• Undertaking to enter into a S278 Agreement for highways works.  

53



4 
 

 Oxford City Council to secure: 

• Biodiversity Net Gain 

• Community Employment and Procurement Plan  

4. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)  

4.1. The proposal is liable for CIL amounting to £353,122.32.  

5. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 

5.1. The application site comprises the existing Co-Op local store, located fronting onto 
the London Road in Headington.  The existing building is a white clad low level 
structure with a wide frontage and plan depth occupying a corner plot on the corner 
of London Road and Stile Road.  The building is characterised by a mainly flat roof, 
with a linear second storey in part, with projecting canopy to the front and side.  To 
the front of the shop is a car park which serves the store.  To the rear is the 
servicing area for loading/unloading.   

5.2. The site lies within, but on the edge of Headington District Centre as defined in the 
Policies Plan of the Oxford Local Plan, within primary shopping frontage.  The site 
thus has a mixed commercial and residential character.  To the west of the site 
across the junction with Stile Road is a retail unit on the ground floor and residential 
above.  To the east is St Andrews Primary School.  To the south is Stile Road, 
which is a road comprising Edwardian semi-detached houses.  Across the site, to 
the north of London Road, is Bury Knowle Park. 

5.3. The application site lies just outside of the boundary of the Old Headington 
Conservation Area, which is on the north side of London Road and includes Bury 
Knowle Park. 

5.4. See location plan below: 

 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2020. 
Ordnance Survey 100019348 

54



5 
 

 
6. PROPOSAL 

6.1. The application proposes to demolish the Co-Op building and to redevelop the 
site to provide a Class E (Commercial) building for research and development 
(R&D) and offices.   

6.2. The main entrance to the proposed building would be from the front (London 
Road). This entrance would open onto a lobby and circulation space including 
WC’s, a lift and a goods lift. Large open plan rooms are shown for office/R&D on 
the ground, first and second floors. The staff entrances would be from a service 
area accessed from Stile Road.   

6.3. The proposed building would be 4 storeys overall including a basement. The 
highest point would be on the corner of London Road with Stile Road. The heights 
of the building drop down to reflect the height of the existing structures towards 
St Andrews School and 5/7 Stile Road.  

6.4. The ‘T’ shaped basement level extends under the building  on the  London Road 
and  Stile Road frontages. The rooms within the basement are labelled as storage 
on the submitted plans along with plant, comms and electronics room. An area 
has been identified as bike storage along with shower rooms. Both the lift and 
goods lift both extend into the basement.  

6.5. At first floor level an open air plant area is proposed which contains the Air 
Sources Heat pumps (ASHP’s) and other plant. Within the building running 
parallel to the primary scheme a mezzanine area, within the roof space, is  lit by 
roof lights. The mezzanine floor is set approx. 4m from the sides of the building 
and some 1.6m below the glazed area of the rooflights. This building also 
contains a number of roof line solar panels. Further solar panels are shown on 
the roof of the three storey element of the building.  

6.6. To the rear of the site there would be a gated service yard to serve the building. 
This service area would contain the bin store and bike storage along with seating 
areas and planting.  

6.7. The plans indicate the building would comprise the use of two complementary 
bricks.  Buff bricks are proposed for the higher corner section of the building. Red 
brick is proposed to the areas of the building closest to neighbouring properties. 
The fenestration is proposed in a symmetrical manner with aluminium frames and 
reconstituted stone reveals.  The roof plans would include zinc metal roof, green 
roof sections to the part of the building located on the site’s frontage with London 
Road and the erection of PV panels. 

6.8. The application scheme is proposed to be car free development. There is an 
existing lay by on Stile Road which would continue to provide  car parking space.  
However, the southern end would be converted to e-bike and e-scooter parking. 

7. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

7.1. The table below sets out the relevant planning history for the application site: 

55



6 
 

 

 
21/03361/FUL - Demolition of existing retail store (Use Class E). Erection of new 
building at 1 to 5 storeys containing retail store (Use Class E) and hotel (Use Class 
C1). Service area, landscaping, cycle parking, and drop off bays on Stile Road. 
REFUSED 16th March 2022. 
 
23/00272/FUL - Demolition of existing retail store (Use Class E). Erection of new 
building at 1 to 4 storeys containing retail store (Use Class E) and hotel (Use Class 
C1). Service area, landscaping, cycle parking, and drop off bays on Stile Road. 
Appeal dismissed. Decision notice attached as Appendix 2 
 
23/00386/OUT - Outline application seeking the approval of access, layout and 
scale for the demolition of existing retail store (Use Class E). Erection of new 
building at 2 to 4 storeys to provide Use Class E floorspace comprising use for 
research and development and offices (including Life Sciences); ground floor 
coffee shop. Service area, landscaping, cycle parking, and drop off bays on Stile 
Road. Withdrawn. 
 

 
 
8. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 

8.1. The following policies are relevant to the application: 

Topic National 
Planning 
Policy 
Framework 

Local Plan Other 
planning 
documents 

Neighbourhood 
Plans: 
 
 

Design 131-141 DH1 - High 
quality design 
and placemaking 
DH6 - Shopfronts 
and signage 
DH7 - External 
servicing features 
and stores 
AOC6 - 
Headington 
District Centre 

  GSP4 - 
Protection of the 
setting of the site 
CIP1 - 
Development 
respect existing 
local character 
CIP2 - Protecting 
locally important 
views 
CIP3 - Innovative 
design  

Conservation/ 
Heritage 

202-221 DH2 - Views and 
building heights 
DH3 - 
Designated 
heritage assets 
DH4 - 
Archaeological 
remains 
DH5 - Local 
Heritage Assets 

  
CIP4 - Protecting 
important assets 
  

Commercial 85-87 V1 -Ensuring the 
vitality of centres 
V4 - District and 
Local Centre 
Shopping Front 

   

56



7 
 

V5 - Sustainable 
tourism 

Natural 
environment 

152-188 G1 - Protection of 
Green/Blue 
Infrastructure 
G2 - Protection of 
biodiversity geo-
diversity 
G7 - Protection of 
existing Green 
Infrastructure 
G8 - New and 
enhanced Green 
and Blue  
Infrastructure 

    

Social and 
community 

96-102 V6 - Cultural and 
social activities 
V7 - 
Infrastructure,cult
ural and 
community 
RE5 - Health, 
wellbeing, and 
Health Impact 
Assessment 

    

Transport 109-118 M1 - Prioritising 
walking,cycling 
and public 
transport 
M2 - Assessing 
and managing 
development 
M3 - Motor 
vehicle parking 
M4 - Provision of 
electric charging 
points 
M5 - Bicycle 
Parking 

Parking 
Standards 
SPD 

 TRP1 - Parking at 
major 
employment sites 
TRP2 - 
Connectedness 
  

Environmental 7-14, 124-128, 
162-182, 187-
201 

S1 - Sustainable 
development 
RE1 - 
Sustainable 
design and 
construction 
RE2 - Efficient 
use of Land 
RE4 - 
Sustainable and 
foul drainage, 
surface 
RE6 - Air Quality 
RE8 - Noise and 
vibration 
RE9 - Land 
Quality 

Energy 
Statement 
TAN 

   

57



8 
 

Miscellaneous 7-14 V8 - Utilities 
RE7 - Managing 
the impact of 
development 

External Wall 
Insulation 
TAN, 

 

 
9. CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

9.1. Site notices were displayed around the application site on 20th May 2025 and 5th 
August 2025. An advertisement was published in The Oxford Times newspaper 
on 29th May 2025. 

Statutory and non-statutory consultees 

Active Travel England 

9.2 Active Travel has no comments 

Environment Agency 

9.3 The proposed development will be acceptable if the conditions are included on 
the planning permission’s decision notice. Without these conditions we would 
object to the proposal due to its adverse impact on the environment. 

9.3 The previous history of the proposed development site as fuel station with 
accompanying car servicing and car washing facilities with potentially 5 foam 
filled tanks and 7 concrete slurry filled tanks beneath the site presents a high risk 
of contamination that could be mobilised during construction to pollute controlled 
waters. Controlled waters are particularly sensitive and vulnerable in this location 
because the proposed development site is located upon a secondary aquifer A 
with no superficial deposits. 

9.4 In light of the above, the proposed development will be acceptable if a planning 
condition is included requiring the submission of a remediation strategy. This 
should be carried out by a competent person in line with paragraph 196 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 

9.5 Two informatives for the applicant are suggested on Dewatering and On-site 
Waste. 

9.6 In relation to Wastewater, in recent months, Thames Water has presented a 
programme of work, providing certainty it can provide capacity for planned growth 
and greater confidence in delivery, so water quality will be protected, and 
communities in the area can have the water services they need, while allowing 
projected growth to come forward.   

Historic England 

9.7 Do not wish to offer any comments 

Natural England 

58



9 
 

9.8 No Objection – based on the plans submitted, the proposed development will not 
have significant adverse impacts on statutory designated sites and has no 
objection. 

9.9 Lye Valley Site of Special Scientific Interest – the proposed development will not 
damage or destroy the interest features for which the site has been notified and 
has no objection.  

 Oxfordshire County Council – Children’s Services  

9.10 Oxfordshire County Council’s Children’s Services Directorate, on behalf of St 
Andrew’s Church of England Primary School has a number of concerns.  

9.11 The applicant’s updated scheme in response to the previous refusal and appeal 
dismissal (application ref. 23/00272/FUL) the proposal has given rise to a wide 
range of significant concerns. The concerns arise from its role as provider of 
education services to the School, which is part of its statutory responsibilities.  

9.12 The main concerns can be summarised as follows:  

- Overbearing nature of development 
- Health and Safety 
- Safeguarding concerns 
 

9.13  In summary, it is considered that the proposal does not accord with a number of 
the policies in the Local and Neighbourhood Plans, or with the spirit of those 
policies. 

Overbearing Nature of Development: 

9.14 The proposed development has been modified in response to the reasons for 
refusal of the previous application / appeal case which has led to a better, 
stepped, design. However, the proposal remains tall and monolithic in the context 
of an otherwise suburban locality with two storey development to the east and 
south and an open aspect to the north.  

9.15 The proposal is for primarily 2.5-3 storey buildings; however the scale of the 
proposed building is still significantly larger than the scale of development in the 
block within which it is situated. The proposal site belongs to the character area 
situated east of Stile Road which has a “more relaxed, domestic, lower scale 
character” (paragraph 5, appeal ref. APP/G3110/W/23/3322566).  

9.16 When looking at the northern elevation, the proposal steps up as it moves away 
from St Andrew’s School (a non-designated heritage asset). There are three main 
building heights proposed on this façade – 6.5m, 11.3m, and 12.5 from east to 
west. The School’s roofline measures to 7.5m. Whilst the closest section of the 
proposed building has a shorter roof height than the School’s the next section 
jumps up 4.5m, and then an additional metre in the final section. This is not 
reflective of the lower scale, domestic style that is existing of the area. For 
example, the 2 storey semi-detached houses along Stile Road measure to be 
8m. 

59



10 
 

9.17 Furthermore, the proposal does not reflect the existing building line that all other 
development maintains to the east of Stile Road. The existing building line is 
shown in blue in the image below, whilst the proposed building line shift more 
than 2m closer to the road. This further stepping “would give the building a 
prominent and bulky appearance when seen from both east and west along 
London Road” (paragraph 6, appeal ref. 3322566). 

9.18 Policy DH1 of the local plan highlights the importance of providing high quality 
design that creates or enhances local distinctiveness. Supporting paragraph 6.2 
of the above policy states that development should be informed by the 
characteristics of the site and its setting, including the pattern, character and 
appearance of the streets, buildings and spaces. This is further supported by the 
Headington Neighbourhood Plan Policy CIP1 which notes that new 
developments must respond to and enhance the distinctive local character.  

9.19 St Andrews CE Primary School is a non-designated heritage asset that is a 
primary feature along the London Road. It is now included on the Oxford City 
heritage Assets Register which provides further details of its local significance. 
The proposed height (5m higher than the roofline of the School) “combined with 
the slight forward step in its building line adjacent to the school, would give the 
building an overbearing presence next to the school when seen from both east 
and west along London Road and would erode its setting” (paragraph 10, appeal 
ref. 3322566).  

9.20 In light of the above, the proposed scheme remains too bulky and out of character 
with the local area and therefore does not comply with policies DH1 of the Local 
Plan and CIP1 of the Neighbourhood Plan. 

Health and Safety: 

9.21 The construction phase of the development proposals give rise to a number of 
concerns which have not been adequately addressed in the application 
submission thus far. Further information is required in order to be able to properly 
consider the impact of the development on the School, its staff and pupils. In 
particular further information is required in the following areas: 

9.22 1.  Air Quality (dust and asbestos) - the submitted air quality assessment 
(section 4) appears to downplay the sensitivity of the school’s occupants by 
instead referring to them in the round in table 8, together with other receptors in 
the area, and determining that collectively the receptors will experience no 
greater than medium sensitivity to impacts overall. This then translates to an 
overall assessment of a low risk of impacts from dust overall (table 9). It is highly 
unlikely in practice that the proximity (only 0-20 metres) of the construction site 
to the school will not give rise to materially significant impacts at times during the 
construction period, especially give the prevailing wind direction which will tend 
to blow dust and debris from the application site onto the school site  

9.23  The applicant’s Rapid Health Assessment rather strangely assesses the potential 
health impacts from dust / noise / vibration and odours as positive and proposes 
no mitigation, yet this cannot be the case given that the dust assessment in the 

60



11 
 

air quality report confirms there will be negative effects and that they will need to 
be mitigated to (in their view) make the development acceptable.  

9.24 No asbestos assessment has been provided in support of the application 
proposals and this is a further omission which must be rectified and – if asbestos 
is found to be present – fully addressed and a mitigation strategy agreed prior to 
a decision being made on the application because it is of fundamental concern to 
the School given the proximity of pupils and staff to the application site and the 
prevailing wind direction.  

9.25 A more detailed assessment of the effects of the development on air quality and 
an asbestos survey and impact assessment – looking at the specific context of 
those who will be most impacted (i.e. the school and neighbouring residents) - 
should be undertaken to properly inform decisions in this regard. Without 
additional evidence that satisfactorily assesses and proposes mitigation for the 
impacts of the development on the School, its staff and pupils, the proposal will 
be contrary to Local Plan policies RE5, RE6 and RE7 (health, air quality and the 
impact of development). and the NPPF (in particular paragraph 199). It should be 
noted that schools are mentioned in policy RE6 as being ‘sensitive uses’ in the 
context of air quality. 

9.26 2.  Noise and Vibration – the applicant’s noise assessment only considers 
the impact of the development on the amenity of future occupants of the offices, 
and not the noise impacts of the proposed development on the surrounding 
areas. Again, this additional analysis must be undertaken to enable decision-
makers to understand whether the proposals will give rise to acceptable 
development or not. The Health Impact Assessment indicates the effect on 
adjacent users will be positive, but this cannot be verified without any assessment 
having been undertaken. No assessment of vibration impacts has been made 
and this will also need to be addressed in further submissions.  

9.27 Furthermore, details of noise during construction has not been submitted. It is 
considered that noise levels during demolition and construction will be high and 
will impact on the learning environment for people within the School. Details of 
how this will be mitigated so as to not impact on the School should be provided 
within a Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP).  

9.28 Without further assessment work that satisfactorily assesses and mitigates the 
impacts of the development on the School, its staff and pupils, the proposal will 
be contrary to Local Plan policies V5 (sustainable tourism), RE8 (noise and 
vibration) and M2 (assessing and managing development) in respect of noise and 
vibration impacts. They are also contrary to the NPPF (paragraph 198 in 
particular). 

9.29 3.  Construction Environment Management Plan – the absence of a CEMP 
(as required by Local Plan policies RE7, RE8 and M2) is a significant omission 
given the sensitivity of the site and neighbouring uses. This should be requested 
at the application stage so that it can properly be assessed to determine if the 
impacts can be adequately mitigated. Local Plan Policy V5 is clear that 
development proposals must not result in an unacceptable level of noise and 
disturbance to nearby residents.  

61



12 
 

9.30 The proposal to condition a CEMP is not appropriate in the circumstances. One 
should be provided now, and the measures secured through a legal agreement 
as indicated in Local Plan Policy RE8. 

Safeguarding Concerns: 

9.31 The proposal has been amended, so as to reduce the amount of windows looking 
east towards the School. A majority of these windows are rooflights, from the 
drawings provided (Section CC) it is considered unlikely that overlook will occur.  

9.32 However, the third floor, eastern window within the circulation corridor is not 
proposed to be obscure glazing and it is considered there may be some overlook 
into the School’s rear play areas – depending on the height of proposed users. 
Further details should be provided (for both window types) to ensure that there 
would be no degree of overlook from proposed users of various heights.  

9.33 Safeguarding is absolutely critical and central to the operation of all schools in 
Oxfordshire. The Schools Safeguarding Policy for 2021-22 makes clear that it is 
the responsibility of all staff to establish and maintain an environment where 
children feel secure, are encouraged to talk and are listened to.  

9.34 It goes on to explain that the Governing Body has additional responsibilities to 
ensure they facilitate a whole school approach to safeguarding. This means 
ensuring safeguarding and child protection are at the forefront and underpin all 
relevant aspects of process and policy development. Ultimately, all systems, 
processes and policies should operate with the best interests of the child at their 
heart. 

9.35 As a consequence, those responsible must do all they can to ensure that the 
children at their care are protected, especially within the School site. Paragraph 
200 of the NPPF supports this approach, noting that:  

“200. Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development can 
be integrated effectively with existing businesses and community facilities (such 
as places of worship, pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Existing businesses 
and facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a 
result of development permitted after they were established. Where the operation 
of an existing business or community facility could have a significant adverse 
effect on new development (including changes of use) in its vicinity, the applicant 
(or ‘agent of change’) should be required to provide suitable mitigation before the 
development has been completed.” 

9.36 Furthermore, paragraphs 96 and 135 of the NPPF make similar observations in 
relation to community safety and the fear of crime. Paragraph 135 explains that:  

“135. Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:  

….. f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote 
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the 
quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.”  

62



13 
 

9.37 As currently proposed, the development is considered to conflict with policies V5 
(sustainable tourism), V7 (community facilities) and RE7 (managing development 
impacts). Policy V5 advises that proposals should not result in an unacceptable 
level of noise and disturbance to nearby residents. Policy V7 advises that the 
“City Council will seek to protect and retain existing cultural and community 
facilities” and policy RE7 advises that “planning permission will only be granted 
for development that: a) ensures that the amenity of communities, occupiers and 
neighbours is protected” having regard to various matters including visual privacy 
and outlook. Neighbourhood Plan policy EDP1 also indicates the value that the 
local community places on education facilities in the locality.  

9.38 The proposals do not achieve these important policy objectives in the context of 
safeguarding children 

9.39 The applicant’s Rapid Health Assessment indicates that the development will 
deliver positive impacts in relation to crime (section 6) and social cohesion 
(section 9) but this is not an outcome that is recognisable to our client in the 
context of the current scheme as there is a risk that situations may arise which 
would put at risk the integrity of the School’s approach to the safeguarding of 
children attending St Andrew’s School. 

Conclusion: 

9.40 As set out at paragraph 8 of the NPPF, there are three interdependent, 
overarching objectives to sustainable development - economic, social and 
environmental. In relation to each objective the application fails to accord with the 
social and environmental objectives for the following reasons: 

• a social objective – of relevance to this application “by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open 
spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ 
health, social and cultural well-being.” The proposed scheme could 
potentially put the safeguarding of the children at St Andrew’s School at risk, 
it could adversely affect their health and wellbeing due to noise, dust / 
asbestos and construction impacts, and upon completion the development 
would adversely impact the amenity of users of the school’s indoor and 
outdoor spaces due to the overbearing nature of the development and the 
attendant loss of daylight and sunlight.  

• an environmental objective – more specifically ‘contributing to protecting 
and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment’. The proposal 
would negatively impact upon the quality and character of the locality which 
is predominantly sub-urban and residential in scale, with some heritage 
significance.  

9.41 The proposed development is considered to be contrary to the NPPF and 
Development Plan policy in specific respects, as described in detail above, and 
in particular it is considered to conflict with Local Plan policies M2, RE2, RE5, 
RE6, RE7, RE8, DH1, V5, V7 and Neighbourhood Plan policies CIP1 and EDP1. 
There are no material considerations that would justify departing from the policies 
in the Development Plan. 

63



14 
 

Oxfordshire County Council (OCoC) – Lead Local Flood Authority 

9.42 Objection. Detailed comments: Confirm the details of the party that will conduct 
the maintenance for the proposed Sustainable Urban Drainage (SuDS). 

Oxfordshire County Council (OCoC) – Transport  

9.43 Objection for the following reasons: 

• It has not been demonstrated that safe access can be achieved for all users. 
The proposals are therefore not in line with paragraph 115 of NPPF. 

• The applicant has not provided adequate cycle parking. 

9.44 If despite OCoC’s objection permission is proposed to be granted then OCoC 
requires prior to the issuing of planning permission a S106 agreement including 
an obligation to enter into a S278 agreement to mitigate the impact of the 
development plus planning conditions and informatives] as detailed below. 

• S106 Contributions as summarised in the table below and justified in this 
Schedule: 

• An obligation to enter into a S278 agreement as detailed below. 

• Planning Conditions as detailed below. 

• Note should be taken of the informatives stated below. 

S106 Contributions 

 

Contribution  Amount £  Price base  Index  Towards 
(details)  

Traffic Reg 
Order (if not 
dealt with 
under 
S278/S38 
agreement)  

£3,840  April 2024  RPI-x  Removal of 
parking bay 
and 
installation of 
e-bike hire 
parking  

Travel Plan 
Monitoring  

£2,035  April 2025  RPI-x   

Other obligations: 

• Off-site highway works: 

           Stopping up of car park access off Stile Road  

  Changes to the servicing access off Stile Road 

64



15 
 

9.45 Key points  

• The proposal includes the demolition of the existing retail store and erection of 
a new 3 storey office and research building with a GIA of 3,485sqm.  

• The development will be car-free with no on-site car parking.  

• The applicant is required to demonstrate how suitable access for cyclists can 
be obtained including a dropped kerb and sufficient width.  

• The applicant is required to prepare a highway layout drawing showing 
proposed works for the footway, carriageway and vehicular crossover. 
Dimensions on the proposed widths should also be included.  

• Further information is required on the type of vehicles that will service the site 
and a swept path analysis is required of the largest vehicle accessing the 
servicing area.  

• The proposed development is likely to reduce the number of person and vehicle 
trips generated, compared to the existing use. As the proposed development will 
be car-free, the vehicle trips that will be generated will be to car parks and Park 
& Rides in the wider area.  

Comments, in summary, from Highways:  

Pedestrian and cycle access arrangements  

9.46 An updated drawing has now been submitted, drawing 0111 Rev P3, GA Plans 
Proposed LG - Level Ground, which now includes a pedestrian route segregated 
from the loading area. However, it is unclear whether this route is for cyclists as 
well as pedestrians. If it is for cyclists, there appears to be insufficient space at 
the eastern end.  

9.47 The applicant is required to amend the drawing and clearly explain how access 
for cyclists can be obtained. Sufficient width needs to be available for cyclists to 
wheel their bike to the parking. 

9.48 A dropped kerb is required in front of the cycle access to allow cyclists to access 
the footway.  

Vehicular access  

9.49 It was previously explained that a proposed highway layout plan was required for 
both the stopping up of the existing access and the relocated retained access. 
This has not been provided but the updated general arrangement ground level 
plan (0111 Rev P3) includes more information. 

9.50 The 45 degree angle between the footway and the parking bay has been changed 
to a 90 degree angle with the southern space changed into an e-scooter / e-bike 
parking bay. However, there is still a lack of information on the proposed changes 
especially with regards to the vehicle crossover and dropped kerbs. The applicant 
is required to prepare a highway layout drawing showing proposed works for the 

65



16 
 

footway (including the location of dropped kerbs), carriageway and vehicular 
crossover. Dimensions on the proposed widths should also be included.  

9.51 The Highway Agreements Team have also requested that the location of the 
highway boundary is confirmed with highway records. 

Sustainable transport connectivity  

9.52 The e-scooter / e-bike parking bay has now been shown on the layout. As 
explained in the previous response, the applicant will be required to fund the 
amendment to the Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) to change this bay.  

Cycle parking  

9.53 Further information was requested to demonstrate that 30 cycle parking spaces 
in the form of Sheffield stands could be provided within the cycle store and 
basement. Double decked or vertical cycle parking should not be used unless 
agreed by OCoC in specific circumstances and a proportion of the cycle parking 
should be provided for non-standard cycles.  

9.54 The DAS Addendum states that the cycle parking in the cellar has increased from 
17 to 22 spaces. The applicant has provided no further information on the 
dimensions or the type of parking to be provided. 

9.55 The applicant has now provided three spaces for cargo bikes, situated at the 
eastern end of the servicing bay. This location would only be accessible if there 
are no vehicles in the service bay. If there is a large vehicle, a cargo bike would 
not have enough space to pass, and the location is therefore not suitable.  

9.56 In total there are now 38 staff spaces proposed. Based on 1 space per 5 staff, 
the required number of cycle parking spaces for 130 people would be 26 and 
based on 1 per 90m2 of GIA (excluding basement), the required number of cycle 
parking spaces would be 30. The provision of 30, easy to access and use, 
Sheffield stand spaces (including 2 or 3 larger spaces) is preferred over the 
provision of 38 semi vertical spaces.  

9.57 It is therefore considered that the proposed cycle parking is still not adequate. 
The applicant is requested to amend the proposals and provide adequate space 
for the number and type of cycle parking required. 

Servicing  

9.58 The applicant is therefore required to explain what type of vehicles will service 
the site, how often and provide a swept path analysis of the largest vehicle 
accessing the servicing area.  

Traffic impact  

9.59 The applicant has now provided a person and multimodal trip generation for the 
proposed development, using the TRICS database. However, a person and 
multimodal trip generation has not been provided for the existing use. The TRICS 

66



17 
 

data for the existing use is for car and vehicle trips only. In addition, a survey of 
nearby car parks was conducted.  

9.60 The existing store generates 82 two-way car trips based on surveys in the AM 
peak hour, but this would be 37 trips based on TRICS. In the PM 77 two-way car 
trips were calculated using TRICS while the survey suggested 76 trips.  

9.61 Based on the TRICS assessment, the proposed development is likely to generate 
65 two-way person trips in the AM peak hour and 70 two-way person trips in the 
PM peak hour. Of these person trips, 51% is expected to be car driver trips, 33 
two-way trips in the AM peak hour and 36 in the PM peak hour.  

9.62 The application removes 7 car parking spaces from the site and all of the parking 
in the immediate vicinity of the site is short term. The car trips to the new 
development will therefore be to car parks and Park & Rides in the wider area 
rather than to the site. 

9.63 It can therefore be concluded that the proposed development is likely to reduce 
the number of person and vehicle trips generated, compared to the existing use. 
As the proposed development will be car-free, the vehicle trips that will be 
generated will be to car parks and Park & Rides in the wider area. 

Planning Conditions: 

9.64 In the event that permission is to be given, the following planning conditions 
should be attached: 

Cycle Parking 
Delivery and Servicing Management Plan 
Travel Plan 
Construction Traffic Management Plan  

 
Thames Water  

9.65 No objection in principle (Foul Water, Surface Water, Waste Water and Water 
Supply). Request conditions to cover submission of the piling method statement 
and informatives in relation to protection of water assets and water pressure 

Thames Valley Police 

9.66 Building Security: Without knowing the tenant of the buildings or the holdings that 
may be contained within, it is not possible to provide full guidance for appropriate 
security specifications to be provided. With this in mind, the recommendations of 
Secured by Design Non-Residential 2025 should be used as the minimum 
standard across the development. Once tenants for the building are identified, 
recommend a Security Needs Assessment (SNA) is completed by a competent 
Suitably Qualified Security Specialist (SQSS). This assessment should then be 
used to inform the design and specification of access points and controls, CCTV 
systems, alarms and any additional lighting requirements throughout the 
development.  

67



18 
 

9.67 A detailed security and access strategy should be provided, that demonstrates 
how building security will be managed to prevent unauthorised access. This 
strategy should include details of secure lines and access control points, and how 
these will protect secure areas of the development. Where multiple tenants are 
envisaged, access controls should be zoned across floorplates and cores with 
plans provided to illustrate accordingly. 

Public representations 

9.68 Comments and objections have been received from 74 properties in: 

Barton Lane, Beaumont Road, Burrows Close (3), Canal Street, Chestnut 
Avenue, Coltman Avenue, Dorchester Close, Finch Close, Gardiner Street, Hazel 
Cresent, Horwood Road, Kennett Road (2), Larkfields, Lime Walk, Margaret 
Road, Mark Road, Mattock Close, Mileway Gardens, New Cross Road, Norton 
Close, Old High Street, Old Road, Osler Road, Perrin Street, Pitts Road (2), 
Quarry Road (2), Quarry Road, Railway Lane, Ramsey Road (7), Saxton Road, 
Sermon Close, Shotover Kilns,St Leonards Road (2), Staunton Road (3), Stile 
Road (13), Stoke Place, Troy Close, Upwey Road, Wantage, Wharton Road (7), 
and Windmill Road (2). 

9.69 In summary, the following general points/concerns have been raised by residents: 

  Effect on existing community facilities 
Loss of local shop, post office, in person banking, community facility 

  Access 
Amount of development on site 

  Contaminated land issues 
  Effect on adjoining properties 
  Effect on character of area 
   Effect on pollution 

Effect on privacy 
Effect on traffic 

  Flooding risk 
  General dislike or support for proposal 
  Height of proposal 

Information missing from plans 
  Impact on Light - daylight/sunlight 
  Local ecology, biodiversity 
  Noise and disturbance 
  Not enough info given on application 

Information missing from plans 
On-street parking 

  Open space provision 
Parking provision 

  Public transport provision/accessibility 
Proposals do not fit in with the community 

  Enough research and office space already 
  Not suitable location for research and offices  

Other better locations available for this use  
The use won’t add to the community 

68



19 
 

The community needs post office, shops and houses  
What dangerous substances are going to be used/stored in building 
Who is responsible if there is an accident? 
The building overlooks a school /safeguarding risk to pupils 
Detrimental to setting of Heritage Asset (school) 
Will degrade the public realm 
Contrary to Local Plan / Neighbourhood Plan 
Inadequate space for parking/loading/turning of service vehicles 

Specific comments / concerns include: 

Another dominating Building 
Welcome the retention of the existing warehouse walls 
No continuation of retail space 
No attempt to prove a demand for this quality of office and lab space 
Type of research not specified – concern about potential excessive noise or 
cause health and safety risks 
Alterative Post Office site should be identified in Headington before construction 
starts 
Loss of well-used retail and Post Office in exchange for a under-used large 
building – detriment to community, neighbourhood, local residents, elderly and 
those with access needs  
Residential badly needed in Headington and should be considered on upper 
floors in accordance with the neighbourhood Plan Policy CIP1 
Do the developers have a user for the building or is this speculative – could result 
in a change of use 
Sceptical about the claim of a car-free development 
In reality, lack of parking space means more cars looking for spaces in the already 
over-crowed roads 
Dispute Interim Travel Plan that ‘bus services will complete the journey to (Oxford 
Station) in 20 minutes’ – this is highly unlikely during the day 
Concern about large number of delivery and services vehicles for existing shops 
and businesses 
Service vehicles – what size are anticipated? Will they wait in Stile Road until the 
gate is open? Is the service area sufficient for vehicles to turn/reverse? The 
service area includes seating - reserving trucks/pedestrians/cyclists should not 
mix. 
Will the floors/lifts cope with a 2.5tonne, 2 m wide pallet? 
Rubbish disposal area inadequate and will need servicing daily – how will 
collectors know which route to take to access (currently no entry into Stile Road) 
Contaminated land – site contaminated by previous uses.  
Disturbance of hazardous materials including asbestos/petrol from previous uses 
Request suitable precautions taken during demolition and construction to prevent 
contamination and dust spread as well as vibration from any piled foundations 
No mention of Asbestos on site 
Construction impacts, noise and disturbance, should be minimised as much as 
possible  
Noise from operational plant should be minimised  
Work should minimise impacts on existing plants and trees 
The site should have a Construction Management Plan 

69



20 
 

Demolition and construction activities should consider impact on community ie no 
demolition during school terms and construction take place only on weekdays 
between 8am and 6pm  
Disturbance to swifts 
Known issues should be addressed beforehand rather than by conditions 
Environment Agency caution on groundwater should be acted on 

 
Local Body/Group Comments 

 
9.70 Detailed comments have been received from Highfield Residents Association 

and St Andrews Primary School which are set out below. 
 
Highfield Residents Association 

9.71 Several of the general comments outlined by residents above are repeated within 
the representation. Comments also reflect concerns which were raised with 
previous applications. In addition, the following comments are made: 

9.72 The recurring objection is that in terms of its design and the function, the building 
is out of character with the area, Even in its revised plans, the building would be 
too large, and would in, in effect, overdevelopment of the site in this area of 
Headington. The proposals claims that the building would be two storeys (plus 
basement), the ‘Design and Access Statement’ shows a substantial third above 
the ground storey.  

9.73  Among the residents of Headington there remains much concern about the effect 
of the development on the adjacent St Andrews C-of-E Primary School. In relation 
to the school, the research building would a dominant structure, overbearing and 
instructive, and its presence would mean additional risk to children in particular 
and reduction of privacy.  

9.74  One of the major deficiencies of the proposals is the lack of a stated purpose for 
the project. The proposal does not make clear what is meant by ‘research and 
development’. Is there a research institution or company or local authority 
department that needs space for research and has commissioned this 
development? If the proposals cannot be specific on the question of purpose, it 
would seem that the project is wholly speculative and as such is a potential threat 
to the nature and character of this area. The objections that have so far been 
lodged in connection with 25/00799/FUL point to the need to retain a post office 
for Headington, and to provide additional housing. If these were the aims of the 
development, it would then have prupose.  

St Andrews Primary School 

9.75 Summary: Serious concerns about this building/construction in close proximity to 
the school on grounds of safeguarding, impact on children’s education during 
construction/demolition, need/requirement in area, site suitability.   

9.76 The impact on quality of education provided in the short terms is a major issue. 
However, The school appreciates the reduced scale of the latest application, the 

70



21 
 

attempt to minimise the change in aspect from the school, and the landscaping 
alongside London Road beside the front of the school.  

9.77 Heritage Site: School is now on City Council Heritage Asset Register 

9.78 Size of Building and Use of adjoining wall: the side boundary wall is shown as 
retained, the similar roof structure/height of the building near the school means 
the impact on daylight in the school would be minimal. However, is it realistic that 
the boundary wall could be retained and has this been checked on site? If the 
wall has to be reconstructed this will have a major impact as the pathway next to 
it is the main access in and out of school for pupils. 

9.79 Overlooking/safeguarding: The latest plan indicates attempts to prevent 
overlooking of the school. However, the window facing Shotover Hill does appear 
to give a partial view of the east end of the school courtyard. It would appear 
possible for a tall person to see through the velux windows, especially if they 
could be opened.  

9.80 The removal of the square block at the front of the Co-op will mean the west site 
of the school pathway is not protected. The fencing and gates at that entrance 
will need to be rearranged. Safeguarding is a prime concern of schools. 

9.81  Noise: No details have been included of noise from the new building such as from 
extractor fans or air conditioning units. What is the noise impact on the school? 
None of the classrooms face London Road so additional noise at the back/side 
of the school would be disruptive. On the other hand, workers in the proposed 
building should not expect a quiet lunch or break times. 

9.82 Demolition/Construction Phase: Is a major issue for the school.  

9.83 Timing of demolition – could this be carried out in summer school holidays due to 
the risk to children and staff? Will the school be updated on risks during 
demolition? 

9.84 Health and Safety: Insufficient consideration has been given to the risks during 
construction due to the proximity of the school. An independent assessment 
should be agreed by impacted parties and carried out to assess the risk to the 
school.  

9.85 Noise – No assessment of noise impact on school during construction/demolition. 
This will be very disruptive to school, especially SEN children, and if windows are 
open in warmer weather. 

9.86 Fuel tanks: Old tanks have been identified as a risk – apart from during removal 
will there be any ongoing contamination risks? 

9.87 Asbestos: Little mention of asbestos in planning submission. There should be no 
risk from airborne fibres during construction due to impact on child/staff health. A 
full asbestos survey should be carried out by an independent accredited surveyor 
(agreed by the stake holders) 

71



22 
 

9.88 Dust: can affect all people at St Andrews particularly those with asthma. Can dust 
levels be independently monitored? Additional cleaning (premises/building/solar 
panels) is likely to be needed during construction 

9.89 Safeguarding: How will safeguarding be ensured when construction above 
boundary wall is being carried out? 

9.90 Foundations and Structure of School Buildings: Proposed basement is only 6m 
away from oldest school buildings. It would be a major disruption if subsequent 
repairs are needed – who would assess this and fund them? 

9.91 School Management Time: Time spent dealing with construction issues will lead 
to less effective teaching, stress on staff, cost of management time 

9.92 School Loss of earnings/expenses: Would the developer reimburse the school for 
loss of earnings e.g. for holiday club which the school relies on? 

9.93 Local of Local Supermarket and Post Office: Parents and staff will be greatly 
inconvenienced 

9.94 Need for Science Facility: There are already science facility in may parts of 
Oxford, Headington doesn’t need another employer but does not community 
assets. 

9.95 Future Use of the Building: Will there be information about the use of the building 
for research in order for any ongoing risks to be assessed? 

Officer response to public representations  

9.96 In respect of the comments made in relation to the Post Office, it is a separate 
commercial enterprise and there are no policies within the Local Plan that provide 
protection of post offices.  

9.97 The concerns of the residents are noted. However, under planning legislation the 
existing uses on the site, shop and post office, fall with Use Class E (Commercial). 
Planning permission is not required for changes of use between uses in the same 
use class. In this case, Class E is being proposed. Therefore, planning 
permission is not required for the use change from a shop/post office to 
research/development and offices. 

9.98 Under the previous refused application, representations were made, and which 
tie in with representations summarised above, querying whether planning 
controls exist that would enable the Post Office to open temporarily in another 
unit, including a unit under the ownership of the applicant, whilst the site is being 
redeveloped.  However, Officers advised that the imposition of any planning 
condition, or planning obligation, would be contrary to the advice in the NPPF 
regarding the 6 condition tests and advice on the use of planning obligations. 

9.99 Some concerns have been raised about the location of research and 
development facilities on the edge of a residential area. The proposal is for Class 
E (Commercial) building which contains a range of uses including shops and 
offices. The national planning legislation states; 

72



23 
 

Use, or part use, for all or any of the following purposes … 

a) for the display or retail sale of goods, other than hot food, principally to 
visiting members of the public,… 

c) for the provision of the following kinds of services principally to visiting 
members of the public— 
(i) financial services, 
(ii) professional services (other than health or medical services), or 
(iii) any other services which it is appropriate to provide in a commercial, 
business or service locality,… 

g) for— 
(i) an office to carry out any operational or administrative functions, 
(ii) the research and development of products or processes, or 
(iii) any industrial process, being a use, which can be carried out in any residential 
area without detriment to the amenity of that area by reason of noise, vibration, 
smell, fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust or grit. 
 
In this case, the proposal falls within Class E(g) and the loss of the retail unit and 
post office cannot be controlled in planning terms.  
 

9.100 Any other issues have been addressed in the main body of the report if material 
to the planning application. 

10 PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

10.1 Officers consider the determining issues to be: 

• Principle of development 

• Design 

• Impact on Heritage Assets 

• Highways 

• Managing the Impact of the Development (including residential and school) 

• Trees 

• Flooding and Drainage 

• Energy and Sustainability  

• Biodiversity  

• Archaeology 

• Air Quality 

• Land Quality 

• Health Impact Assessment 

• Utilities 

• Best Interests of the Child 

73



24 
 

 

Principle of development 

10.2 The site lies with within the Headington District Centre Area of Change in the 
Local Plan, controlled by Policy AOC6. The site lies on the edge of, but within, 
Headington District Centre as defined in Policy V4 of the Oxford Local Plan 
2036.  The site is also included as District Centre Shopping Frontage as defined 
in Policy V4 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

10.3 Policy AOC6 of the Local Plan has regard to the characteristics of the 
Headington District Centre and reflects the part of the historical, rural character 
of the area with remnants of stone buildings and boundary walls, which are an 
important part of the areas character.  Regard is had to the inter and post war 
housing that surrounds the district centre in addition to the Victorian and 
Edwardian terraces.  Bury Knowle Park is noted as a historic parkland located 
to the east with its grade-II listed boundary walls and the Old Headington 
Conservation Area to the north. 

10.4 The Area of Change policy has regard to the defining character of 2-3 storey 
buildings and large 3-4 storey commercial infill buildings.  It is recognised there 
may be an opportunity to redevelop some of these sites in a more intensive way 
that would still be in keeping with the character of the area.  It does state 
however that at 15m (approximately 5 storeys) that there may be a sky-lining 
effect in views from Elsfield that will need careful design and justification. 

10.5 The policy thus states planning permission would be granted for new 
development within the area of change where this would take opportunities to 
deliver, where relevant, improved connectivity across London Road; make more 
efficient use of land by consolidating uses and through infill and taller 
development; enhance the public realm. 

10.6 Policy V4 relates to district shopping frontages and states planning permission 
will only be granted at ground level within Headington District Centre for Class 
A1 uses; or Class A2 – A5 uses where the proposed development would not 
result in the proportion of units at ground floor level in Class A1 uses falling 
below 50% of the total number of units within the defined shopping frontage; or 
other town uses where the proportion of A1 use does not fall below 85% of the 
total number of units within the defined shopping frontage. 

10.7 Objections and concerns have been raised in representations. The primary 
concerns related to the loss of the shop and post office which are valued local 
community facilities. In planning terms, there is no change of use since the 
existing and proposed uses fall within the same definition of commercial. 

10.8 Members will be aware in September 2020 that retail uses (Use Classes A) 
amongst others, have been amalgamated with other uses to create Class E  
Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulatio
ns 2020.  The policy above clearly predates this change and what that means 
is that the distinction in the policies between A1 (retail) and other A classes 
cannot now be made.  However, the reference in the policies to Class A uses 
(apart from use as a public house or a hot food takeaway) could equally apply 

74



25 
 

to Class E uses.  Therefore, there will be no separate threshold for any 
equivalent of Class A1 uses and Class A2 and A3 uses and their thresholds will 
be taken to be represented by Class E.  

10.9 Objections have been received in respect of the need for further office / research 
and development space, stating that the site would be best served to provide 
affordable housing.  It is recognised that there is a need for new homes within 
the city. The site is currently in use for Class E and this use category remains 
with the proposed development. Therefore, in planning terms, there are no 
objections to the continued use of the site for Class E uses. In addition, the site 
is not allocated in the Local Plan for development therefore there is no 
stipulation that the site must deliver housing.  

10.10 The development would provide a maximum of 130 jobs (FTE), and a net 

increase of 110, for Oxford and the economy as a whole once operational.  

Jobs would also be created during the demolition and construction period, 

which would also contribute towards the local economy, secured within a 

Community Employment Plan.  This could be secured via a S106 legal 

agreement. 

 

10.11 In general terms, it is considered that the proposals are acceptable in respect 
of policy V4 to compliance with the policy criteria specified and development 
management policies outlined below.   

Design 

10.12 A previous planning application on the site (reference 23/00272/FUL – Hotel 
Scheme) was dismissed on appeal by the Planning Inspectorate (decision 
notice attached as Appendix 2). The main issues on appeal were, firstly, the 
effect of the proposed development on the street scene; secondly, the impact 
on the setting of St Andrews CE Primary School, which is a non-designated 
heritage asset; and thirdly, the effect on parking, congestion and highway safety 
in the area. The Planning Inspector in reaching his decision did not consider that 
the scheme would create problems in respect of car parking, congestion or 
highway safety. However, the Inspector stated ‘The building’s height, bulk, 
design and siting would be inappropriate in this location and would harm the 
street scene and the setting of the adjacent school which is a non-designated 
heritage asset’. This report will consider whether the current scheme overcomes 
the design issues raised by the Planning Inspector.  

10.13 Policy DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states planning permission will only 
be granted for development of high quality design that creates or enhances local 
distinctiveness. 

10.14 All developments would be expected to be supported by a constraints and 
opportunities plan and supporting text and or visuals to explain their design 
rationale in a design statement proportionate to the proposal in accordance with 
the checklist in Appendix 6.1.  Planning permission would only be granted when 

75



26 
 

proposals are designed to meet the key design objectives and principles for 
delivering high quality development. 

10.15 Policy DH2 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that the City Council will seek 
to retain significant views both within Oxford and from outside, in particular to 
and from the historic skyline.  Planning permission will be granted for 
developments of appropriate height or massing, as demonstrated by a range of 
criteria including design choices regarding height and massing; regard had to 
the High Buildings Study Technical Advice Note, in particular impact on skyline, 
competition and change of character should be explained, and demonstrating 
how proposals have been designed to have a positive impact with the relation 
of the building to the street and the potential impact on important views to the 
historic skyline and out towards Oxford’s green setting. The site does not sit in 
the view cone of the historic skyline from Elsfield, but has been assessed on 
impact on views from Elsfield.  It is also not a site within 1200m of the Historic 
Core Area.                                                    

10.16 Policies in the Headington Neighbourhood Plan (HNP) are also relevant.  Policy 
GSP4 of the HNP states development will be permitted where its design 
responds appropriately to the site and the character of the surrounding area. 

10.17  Policy CIP1 of the HNP states new development will only permitted where they 
respond to and enhance the distinctive local character where it is described in 
the Character Assessments.  

10.18 Policy CIP2 of the HNP states development will seek to protect importance 
views within Headington itself and out of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 
Area as identified on the Viewpoint Map. 

10.19 Policy CIP3 of the HNP states high quality development proposals which are of 
an innovative and/or contemporary design will be permitted where they accord 
with the policies in the Local Plan; respect and take account of local heritage 
and enhance the distinctive identity, character and setting in terms of scale, 
layout, density, orientation and massing. 

10.20 The site is located at the edge of Headington District Centre adjacent to Bury 
Knowle Park, which forms the boundary of Old Headington Conservation Area. 
The block on which the site is located is characterised by low density 20th 
Century semi-detached housing, wrapping around St. Andrews School which is 
adjacent to the site. The site is currently occupied by a 1-1.5 storey Coop 
supermarket and post office. The site occupies an open prominent corner on 
London Road and Stile Road. The site is located opposite the attractive leafy 
green setting of Bury Knowle Park, enclosed by a historic stone wall.  Bury 
Knowle Park lies in the Old Headington Conservation Area.  Whilst the existing 
shop occupies a wide frontage, the building is set back into the site behind car 
parking. 

10.21 The proposed development seeks to demolish this building and erect a building 
of staggered heights. The previous hotel scheme (23/00272/FUL) had mainly 2-
3 storey elements rising to 4 storeys height (approx. 14.3m) on the corner of 
London Road and Stile Road. The building adjacent to St Andrews CE Primary 

76



27 
 

on the frontage was to be 3 storeys, rising to 4 storeys after 5.5m at a distance 
of 2 metres away from the boundary line. On Stile Road, the building was to be 
4 storeys to the north and extend down to 3 storeys closest to 5B/7 Stile Road.  

10.22 The Planning Inspector in reaching his decision stated that ‘The development 
would unacceptably disrupt the transition to the lower scale at the edge of the 
shopping centre and would be an unattractive and out of scale feature in the 
street scene. In addition, the three storey and four storey elements would be 
overly dominant in relation to the adjacent school…Part of the proposed building 
would present a bulky three storey elevation towards the school and, behind a 
set back, the building would rise to four floors. This scale and design, combined 
with the slight forward step in its building line adjacent to the school, would give 
the building an overbearing presence next to the school when seen from both 
east and west along London Road and would erode its setting. Further into the 
site the upper floors would be set back a little more, but even this part of the 
development would appear too dominant in scale in relation to the school.’ 

10.23 The current proposals have a lower built form to both London Road and Stile 
Road. The overall height of the tallest element of the building has been reduced 
by some 1.3m. The height and profile of the building form along Stile Road has 
been more significantly reduced forming a transition in height along this road 
elevation.  

Below - Extract from Design and Access Statement showing proposed Stile 
Road frontage with previous Hotel Scheme marked in red/dashed. 

 

 

Below - Extract from Design and Access Statement showing proposed London 
Road frontage with previous Hotel Scheme marked in red/dashed.   

77



28 
 

 

The built form closest to St Andrews Primary school has been stepped further 
away from the side site boundary at first floor level. These changes, along with 
a step back, around 1m, in the footprint to the building line adjacent to the 
school, are felt to overcome the Planning Inspectors design concerns about bulk 
and dominance.  

10.24 The site and its context: As outlined above, the proposals positively engage with 
the site edges, and the proposed building positions largely respect the building 
line established by the neighbouring properties e.g. stepping back from the 
street edge to align with St Andrew’s Primary School, and stepping forward at 
the corner of Stile Road to positively engage with the street and align with the 
building line established by the properties on the opposite corner of Stile Road 
(146-150a London Road).  

10.25 The overall arrangement of building(s) on the site results in a large footprint, 
which is not in-keeping with the grain of development / scale of properties in this 
area of London Road, even taking into consideration the larger buildings in the 
District Centre.  The provision of an internal courtyard towards the centre of the 
site provides some relief to the overall footprint. 

10.26 The advanced building line at the corner of London Road and Stile Road 
positively addresses this corner, however this does result in a significant change 
in how this site is experienced in long views along London Road, particularly 
when viewing from the west.  The existing tree on the corner of Stile Road and 
London Road (within the site) is proposed for removal. This tree is currently 
softening the views to the uninspiring retail building. The addition of new trees 
within the proposed frontage to London Road would help manage the change.   

10.27 This existing tree on the corner is the start of notable street tree planting which 
corresponds to the site’s threshold position between Headington District Centre 
and the more residential character of London Road to the east. This tree-
planting is particularly noticeable when travelling from west to east. Therefore, 
the loss of this tree changes the viewer’s experience of that transition from 
district centre to a more domestic character, and the proposed tree must be 
given maximum opportunity to thrive and establish itself at the corner.  Further 
detail is requested through a proposed condition to ensure measures are taken 
to ensure the proposed corner tree can establish and flourish.   

78



29 
 

10.28 The removal of the existing surface parking, within the site, to London Road is 
positive and improves the pedestrian experience.  It also encourages 
sustainable forms of travel to/from the site by staff and visitors. 

10.29 Plots: The overall configuration of accommodation on the site is broadly positive, 
with office space facing the surrounding streets.  The main entrance is 
appropriately located on London Road. 

10.30 The ordering principles of the internal spaces are positive.  The central lobby 
and circulation space is legible from both entrances (main entrance to the north 
and additional staff entrance to the south) and access to all office spaces are 
arranged off this central circulation.  The internal door screens in the lobby and 
circulation space should be glazed to ensure that views from the main entrance 
through to the staff entrance and courtyard beyond are maximised. 

10.31 The service entrance location corresponds with the existing site access 
arrangements and the provision of gates and planting to Stile Road will improve 
the experience for passers-by from the current situation, where bin clutter is 
visible from the street. 

10.32 Built form: This site is a large open site, highly prominent in views along the 
London Road.  The existing building sits comfortably in this location as this site 
blends into the suburban surroundings of its location on the edge of the centre.  
As mentioned above, the submitted street views looking east along London 
Road demonstrate that the proposals are clearly visible, however the articulation 
of the roof form is such that the intervention is in-keeping with the varied 
roofscape of the street, albeit at an increased scale. 

10.32 An appropriate language of bays with gables is employed along Stile Road, 
taking their cues from the bay windows of the neighbouring houses. The 
variation of the roof form with strong windowed gable adds to the buildings 
interest and breaks what could otherwise be a monotonous roof form. This 
language turns the corner onto London Road to create a strong corner building, 
which although is larger in height and scale than its immediate neighbours, 
presents a well-considered building form. 

10.33 When approaching the site from the east, the pitched roof angle of the 2-storey 
element is in keeping with roofscape seen further down street e.g. 144-148 
London Road. Areas of green roof are proposed which are supported, however, 
further details (through planning conditions) are required to ensure that these 
areas will flourish. 

10.34  In respect of views from Elsfield, a wireline (which is an outline of the buildings 
mass) has been provided of the position of the building in that view. This 
indicates that in this view the building will not be visible and will sit behind the 
trees and therefore not impact on the skyline. 

 
10.35 Movement The overall access points into the building are logical and well-

placed.  Due to the relatively constrained nature of the site, there are potential 
areas of conflict when considering staff arriving by bike and/or using the 
southern staff entrance, with the servicing area.  The separate pedestrian gate 
on Stile Road is a positive inclusion in the design, however further subtle 

79



30 
 

delineation between pedestrians and vehicles could be incorporated into the 
paving materials within the servicing area. 

 
10.36 The success of the additional cycle storage located in the basement will require 

careful consideration of the journey through all access points (lifts and lift doors, 
stairs, size of door openings). Further information has been submitted during 
the course of the application to demonstrate how a cycle could reach the 
basement area if the lift was not available. Further details are needed to show 
that a cycle or cycles can be wheeled into the lifts and/or goods lift without 
having to lift cycles or require awkward manoeuvres.  A condition is suggested 
to address this.  

 

10.37 Public Realm New landscaping is proposed on the London Road frontage with 
the aim of enhancing the public realm. The area includes a proposed poetry 
route which comprises a laser cut hard path with local poetry which is intended 
to weave art, poetry and play for local children. No seating is proposed in this 
area due to concerns about anti-social gatherings. Further details of the 
maintenance and planting species will need to be conditioned to ensure that the 
area remains an attractive addition to the street frontage. Likewise the planting 
areas to the Stile Street frontage, helps to soften the built form at ground level.  

 
10.38 Materials and Detailing The success of the elevations will rest on achieving the 

crisp, modern profiling demonstrated in the application visuals, particularly the 
verge details to the pitched gables, the recessed Rain Water Pipes (RWPs) and 
the window reveal framing. The articulation of elevations through the use of 
recessed RWPs will rely on quality of detailing and ensuring sufficient depth is 
provided to create shadow gaps without compromising the overall wall-build-up 
and performance. Further details of these have been submitted during the 
course of the application which address this point.  

 

10.39 There are no officer objections to the materials pallet proposed of bricks, metal 
and green roofs. These are felt to reflect materials in the local area. However, 
to ensure a high quality of development sample panels are required to ensure 
the proposed materials are appropriate in relation to each other and to the wider 
context. Likewise, due to the quantity of this material proposed in street 
elevations (the window frames, window reveal linings and roof) the precise 
material and colour proposals will be key in ensuring a high-quality development 
that sits well into its surroundings. Conditions are proposed to ensure that the 
materials reflect the local area and are acceptable in their final finish. 

10.40 Conclusion: Policy DH1 states that planning permission would only be granted 
for development of a high-quality design that creates or enhances 
distinctiveness.  It is considered that for the reasons as set out above, that the 
siting, scale, height and massing of the proposal would be acceptable as this 
would be in keeping with character of development in the area.  The proposed 
development is considered to be of a high-quality design. The proposals have 
been altered enough when compared to the previously refused scheme to 
overcome the previous refusal reasons and Inspectors concerns. This 
application would create or enhance local distinctiveness. The development is 
in accordance with policies DH1, DH2 and AOC6of the Oxford Local Plan 2036, 

80



31 
 

policies CIP1, CIP2, CIP3 and GSP4 of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 
and the paragraph 130 of the NPPF. 

Impact on Heritage assets 
 
10.41 The NPPF requires proposals which are likely to have an impact upon 

designated heritage assets to be based upon an informed analysis of the 
significance of all affected heritage assets and be sufficient to understand the 
potential impact of the proposal on their significance (paragraph 207).  Local 
Planning Authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any 
heritage asset affected by a proposal, and take this into account when 
considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset to avoid or minimise 
any conflict between the heritage assets conservation and any aspect of the 
proposal (para 208). 

10.42 When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of 
a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the assets’ 
conservation (para 210). Paragraph 215 of the NPPF advises that where 
development proposals will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public 
benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum 
viable use.  

10.43 Sections 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires local planning authorities to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses.  It is accepted that this is a higher duty. 

10.44 Policy DH3 of the Oxford Local Plan states planning permission will be granted 
for development that respects and draws inspiration from Oxford’s unique 
historic environment, responding to the significance character and 
distinctiveness of the heritage asset and locality.  For all planning decisions 
great weight will be given to the conservation of that asset.  An application for 
planning permission which would or may affect the significance of any 
designated heritage asset, should be accompanied by a heritage assessment 
that includes a description of the asset and its significance and assessment of 
the impact of the development proposed on the asset’s significance.  It goes on 
to state that where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial 
harm to a designated heritage asset, this harm must be weighed against the 
public benefits of the proposal.  Clear and extensive justification for this harm 
should be set out in full in the heritage assessment. 

10.45 Policy CIP4 of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan states that where the 
significance of a heritage asset would be affected by a development proposal, 
that development proposal will only be permitted where it addresses the 
conservation and enhancement of the significance, character and any special 
architectural or historic features of significance the asset may possess. 

10.46 The site is located outside of and opposite Bury Knowle Park which is sited in 
Old Headington Conservation Area.  The park is an attractive feature within the 
Conservation Area and is bounded by a stone wall on its southern boundary 

81



32 
 

and a row of trees, which add considerably to the character and attractiveness 
of the park.  The stone wall is also listed at grade II.  

10.47 To support the application, a Heritage Statement has been submitted which 
considers the impact on the Conservation Area, and a wireline has been created 
of the building which considers the impact of the building on views from within 
the park.  This indicates that the building would not exceed the height of the 
trees that define the southern boundary of the park and would be contained by 
these trees in views. Arguably however, this would not be the case when the 
trees are not in leaf. 

10.48 The application site does not lie within any of the designated view cones set out 
in the Oxford View Cones Study but lies within the setting of the Elsfield View 
cone and therefore has the potential to impact upon this important long-distance 
view of the Oxford skyline. To support the application a wireline has been 
submitted by the applicant to demonstrate the impact of the proposal on the 
Elsfield view cone. Unfortunately, the submitted document is of low quality, and 
it is too pixilated to tell if the wireline is a dotted or solid line and therefore confirm 
whether the proposal would be visible. However, previous schemes on the site 
were understood to sit behind an area of vegetation and had no adverse impact 
on the view. As the current proposal is reduced in scale there is no anticipated 
adverse impact on this view.    

10.49 Turning to its more immediate context, the application site is located opposite 
Bury Knowle Park, which has formed part of the Old Headington Conservation 
Area since the designated area was expanded in 1985. The park is an attractive 
and vibrant part of the Conservation Area that is well used by the community as 
a spacious green area for recreation and relaxation and represents a well-
preserved example of the pleasure grounds historically associated with the 
mansion houses built around the village by Oxford merchants in the late-18th 
and early-19th centuries. The Park is bounded to the south by a stone wall and 
a row of trees, which make an important contribution to the character and 
significance of the Park, with the boundary wall designated as a Grade II listed 
building. Considerable objection has been received that the erection of the 
building would harm views from within the Conservation Area.   

10.50 Officers have considered the views from the Conservation Area looking south 
across the London Road and consider that the impact is considered to be 
acceptable in terms of the views from the park.  The park is inward looking and 
contained by the boundary wall, as well as the trees on the southern boundaries. 
It is considered in those views, the London Road represents a physical feature 
and border, and beyond which are not as critical to the Conservation Area.  By 
comparison, those views that are important and contribute to the setting of the 
Conservation Area are those views along London Road that are focussed on 
the north side of the road and exclude those views south of the London Road.   

10.51 Equally in considering views from Stile Road looking north towards Bury Knowle 
Park it is considered that the scale and massing of the building would not cause 
harm to the setting of the Conservation Area, again for the reason that the 
London Road is a physical and separate barrier that is distinct. 

82



33 
 

10.52 Therefore, Officers are satisfied the development would not cause harm to the 
setting of the Old Headington Conservation Area. 

10.53 Officers have also considered the impact on the Grade II listed wall, listed for its 
scenic value, and note that the wall was modified in the mid-1980s when it was 
lowered.  Whilst the stone wall is a key feature that encloses Bury Knowle Park, 
it is considered that the walls’ separation from the application site by the London 
Road and the wall being to the north of the London Road and the application 
site to the south would result in no adverse impact on the setting of this 
designated heritage asset.  

10.54 As was established in the Officer reports for the 2021 and 2023 applications on 
the site, the Park is inward-looking and contained by the boundary wall and 
trees, with the London Road representing a physical feature and border beyond 
which the Conservation Area’s setting is not as critical to its significance. The 
wireline submitted by the applicant indicates that views of the proposed building 
from the Park will be heavily filtered by the canopies of the trees along the Park 
boundary; and whilst it would be more visible during the winter months, and in 
views along London Road, its scale and architectural design are such that it 
would not harm the setting of the Conservation Area nor that of the Grade II 
listed boundary wall.  

10.55 The application site lies directly adjacent to the St Andrew’s Primary School, 
which was recently added to the Oxford Heritage Asset Register and must 
therefore be considered as a non-designated heritage asset (as it was in the 
Inspector’s Report for the dismissed 2023 appeal).    

10.56 Dating to the late-19th century, St Andrew’s Primary School is a single storey 
structure (as is typical of the period) and is characterised by red brick elevations, 
with gable ends facing onto London Road, stone mullion and transom windows, 
and pitched clay tiled roof with gable parapets, finials and brick chimney stacks. 
Whilst the building has subsequently been extended, its original form and 
character remain legible, and it is considered to possess a good deal of 
aesthetic value, as well as social and communal value as a school that was built 
to and continues to educate the local community. There are similar examples 
throughout the city and through the East End of Oxford, and the building is 
notable as the first significant building constructed to the south of the historic 
turnpike road [now London Road], built in open fields prior to the development 
of the residential suburbs. Currently, views of the asset from and along the 
London Road are partly filtered by the trees along the school’s front boundary, 
nonetheless the building makes an important contribution to the streetscape, 
and it is in these views that the historic and architectural interest of the building 
is best appreciated. As outlined in the design section of this report, the 
development scheme has been amended to address the concerns raised by the 
Planning Inspector on the Hotel Scheme appeal. 

10.57 Conclusion The scheme represents a significant improvement on the previous 
proposals for the site, with its reduced scale, building line that steps back 
towards the Primary School, reduced building heights next to the Primary 
School, an overall reduction in height, lowering of the buildings on the transition 
to the lower houses in Stile Road, and more articulated roof form. The proposed 

83



34 
 

design successfully mitigates the overbearing presence the previous schemes 
had next to the Primary School when seen from both east and west along 
London Road. The amended design successfully reflects the corner and end 
position of the site in a District Centre. The proposed design is considered by 
officers to overcome the design concerns of the Planning Inspector in relation 
to the Hotel Scheme. The current scheme would still represent a notable change 
to the setting of the non-designated heritage asset but would not harm one’s 
ability to appreciate its historic and architectural significance. Conditions are 
suggested to ensure that the materials and design details of the development 
reflect the setting of the site and nearby buildings. 

10.58 Subject to the suggested conditions, it is considered that the scheme would not 
have an adverse impact on non-designated heritage assets. Special attention 
has been paid to the statutory test of preserving the setting of the listed building 
or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses and preserving the character and appearance of the setting of the 
Conservation Area under Policy DH3 of the Local Plan and the NPPF. It has 
been concluded that the development would preserve the setting of the listed 
building and the character and appearance of the setting of the Conservation 
Area and thus accords with the relevant sections which it is accepted are a 
higher duty. 

Highways 

10.59 Chapter 9 of the NPPF has regard to promoting sustainable transport and states 
that significant development should be focused on locations which are 
sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of 
transport modes. The NPPF also states that development should only be 
prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable 
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road 
network would be severe.    

10.60 The Oxford Local Plan 2036 seeks to prioritise walking, cycling and public 
transport and states in policy M1 that planning permission will only be granted 
for development that minimises the need to travel.  Policy M2 requires Transport 
Assessments must be submitted for development that is likely to generate 
significant amounts of movement, assessing the multi-modal impacts of 
development proposals and demonstrate the transport measures which would 
be used to mitigate the development impact.  Policy M3 assesses motor vehicle 
parking for different types of development and whether located in a CPZ or not, 
assessing proposals against the standards in Appendix 7.3.  Policy M4 
assesses the provision of electric charging points for additional parking needs.  
Policy M5 assesses bicycle parking against the standards in Appendix 7.3. 

10.61 Sustainability: The site lies in the Headington District Centre which is highly 
sustainable and has good access to public transport which serves the City 
Centre, the Park and Ride at Thornhill and further afield, London.  The site is on 
a main arterial road.  The development is proposed to be car free other than the 
operational  parking space within the service yard) which is supported in 
principle to reflect the sustainability of the site. 

84



35 
 

10.62 Access and Parking: The site is located at the corner between the A420 London 
Road and Stile Road. The current vehicular access is however off Stile Road 
where both the car parking and servicing arrangements are undertaken. One 
vehicular access off Stile Road, closest to London Road, would be removed. 
However, the second existing vehicular access   would retain the delivery and 
servicing access to the rear of the proposed building. 

10.63 The A420 London Road is a major tributary into Oxford, with cycle, pedestrian 
facilities, and public transport including bus stops in the vicinity of the site. Along 
the site frontage on London Road is a city-bound bus gate that performs to 
terminate a bus lane into the main traffic flow.  A zebra crossing exists about 
45m west of the bus gate, providing a crossing opportunity for those wishing to 
get to access to the Headington car park and the Bury Knowle Park. 

10.64 The Transport Assessment (TA) indicates that visitors would access the site in 
a number of ways.  Either through public transport to the site, or by parking at a 
nearby public car park or from a Park and Ride facility. 

10.65 The Transport Assessment states that a number of Park and Ride facilities are 
available around Oxford and shall enable occupiers who require car travel to 
park outside the city and complete their journeys by bus.  

10.66 The application proposes to utilise several public car parks in the vicinity of the 
development, namely behind Waitrose, Old High Street and St Leonards Road 
for occasional parking demand.  This approach is considered in principle to 
comply with the principles set out in the Local Plan to reduce car parking 
provision.  Surveys have been carried out of these car parks to show there is 
sufficient space to meet this need. Within the Transport Assessment it is noted 
that all surrounding streets are covered by an area wide controlled parking zone 
(CPZ).  

10.67 Paragraph 7.24 of the Local Plan recognises that developments that may result 
in additional parking pressure locally and where this has not been adequately 
addressed may have their planning permission refused.  

10.68 County Highways have raised concerns about the location/size of dropped 
kerbs. The submitted drawings show those existing accesses which are 
proposed to be stopped up and the accesses proposed including the width on 
scaled drawings. The construction details of the access will be the subject of a 
S.278 agreement: there will be a dropped kerb, as exists at the existing access, 
which is being altered in this position. 

10.69 Delivery and Servicing: This will take place off the highway through a servicing 
entrance on Stile Road. Swept path analysis has been undertaken utilising a 
7.5t Panel Van and 11m long refuse collection truck respectively. Although the 
tracking appears to show a slight infringement/overrun on the western kerb of 
Stile Road, Highways have raised an objection about the lack of a swept path 
analysis and confirmation of the type of servicing vehicles. In the previous Hotel 
Scheme, Highways considered that a small overrun of the kerb in  
Stile Road could be avoided by careful driving.  

85



36 
 

10.70 The applicant has responded to the concerns raised: 

In relation to service vehicles, the largest which would service the site is likely 
to be the Council’s refuse vehicle (assuming that a private service is not taken 
on). The swept paths for this are shown on drawing no. TK01.RevA-03 together 
with a large panel van which is expected to be the largest service vehicle for the 
Class E use. The proposals obviously compare favourably to the existing 
arrangement which has articulated vehicles servicing the site as well as other 
service vehicles to and from the supermarket by varied retail suppliers 
constantly stocking up. The Transport Statement notes that there would be a 
lower level of servicing compared with the existing supermarket. No doubt the 
Council will also wish to have a service delivery plan and will impose a condition 
to this effect which will take account of the particular occupier, not known at this 
stage.  

10.71 The layout of the rear service yard is tight and concern has been raised that 
there could be a conflict with vehicles, pedestrians and cyclists. A delivery and 
servicing plan should therefore be provided demonstrating how this situation 
would be avoided, and indicating suitable off site waiting areas should delivery 
vehicles arrive early or be unable to enter the yard for any reason.  

10.72 Traffic Impact: The submission has utilised TRICS to determine the likely trip 
generation assessments both from the existing development and as proposed.  
In summary, the proposed car free development would represent a reduction in 
the vehicle movements to the site. The existing trips to the store were, on 
survey, 76 between 8.00-9.00am and 82 between 17.00-18.00pm.   

10.73 The trip rates have been submitted as part of the TA and Highways consider 
that the data used is too low.  However, Highways have accepted that the 
number of trips generated by the proposed building will be less than the existing 
use. In addition,  the proposal is for a car-free development in an accessible 
location. It is considered that any traffic impacts can be mitigated by the use of 
a s106/s78 Agreement (as described in the Highways comments) and by the 
suggested conditions. 

10.74 Travel Plan: The proposed development is in an area with a good opportunity 
to promote active and sustainable travel. The proposed development would 
trigger the requirement for a Travel Plan and associated monitoring fee in line 
with Oxfordshire County Council guidance and which would be secured by a 
S106/S278 Agreement. The Travel Plan should include information on how 
active and sustainable travel would be encouraged to and from both the hotel 
and retail shop. 

10.75 Cycle Parking: Cycle Parking has been shown on the site frontage, within the 
service yard and within the basement.  County Highways have confirmed cycle 
parking has been provided numerically in accordance with the required 
standards. However, an objection is raised as the details of the cycle access 
and design of the stands are not in accordance with the standards. A condition 
is considered to be an appropriate way of addressing this concern rather than 
the refusal of planning permission.  

86



37 
 

10.76 The applicant has responded to these concerns: 

The requirements for cycle parking have been met and the type of provision can 
be controlled by condition as suggested in the County Council’s comments. 
However, I have previously noted the difference in the type of cycle parking 
favoured by the County Council and the acceptance in the City Council’s TAN 
12 of different types of provision, as proposed and as approved elsewhere. You 
will note that the County Council merely expresses a preference for an 
alternative type and, given the City Council’s TAN it would be entirely 
inappropriate to consider that it is a relevant reason sufficient to reject what is 
proposed. 

The visitor cycle parking at the site frontage has a more interesting design than 
the standard Sheffield-style plain hoop but permits the same arrangement for 
cycles either side. Given the limited level of servicing, the cargo bike parking 
arrangements are considered to be appropriate and the accessibility of the 
spaces will simply require careful management on site and which is not unusual.  

Clearly there will be a dropped kerb at the service access, as existing, and this 
will also enable cyclists to access the footpath before entering the separate 
cycle/pedestrian access alongside. 
 

10.77 Details of the cycle storage design/dimensions, dropped kerbs and 
management are included in the suggested conditions. 

10.78 Conclusion:  Having considered the proposal in the light of the TA and the 
assessment undertaken by the Highway Authority, there are a number of 
objections from Highways to the details of the proposals that have been 
considered by the applicant and could be addressed through the use of planning 
conditions and the s106/s278.  The proposal therefore adequately considers 
highway impact and would not lead to an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety and hazard contrary to policies M2 and M3 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.  

Managing the impact of development 

10.79 Policy RE7 states that planning permissions will only be granted for 
development that ensures that the amenity of communities, occupiers and 
neighbours is protected and does not have unacceptable transport impacts 
affecting communities, occupiers, neighbours and the existing transport 
network, and provides mitigation measures where necessary. 

10.80 The site is located next to an existing school and existing housing on the edge 
of the Headington District Centre.  The site is located on a principal arterial road.  
It is considered for the purpose of assessing the impact of development that the 
site is located in a mixed-use area and in an area populated by residential 
houses, flats, retail, commercial and restaurants. 

10.81 Noise: A Noise Exposure Assessment of the sound insulation performance for 
all elevations has been provided.  This assessment indicates that adequate 
glazing specification has been proposed, and the use of appropriate ventilation 
has been recommended.  This should be sufficient to achieve recommended 

87



38 
 

internal noise levels for the proposed development according to BS 8233: 2014, 
World Health Organisation and requirements of the Local Authority.   

10.82 Typical sources of noise generation from laboratory and office-based uses 
derive from mechanical plant equipment, including ventilation and extract 
systems and Air Source Heat Pumps. Noise sensitive surrounding uses include 
the Primary School and homes in Stile Road/London Road. Given the proximity 
to these noise sensitive uses, the application is accompanied by a Noise 
Assessment. It should be noted that specific plant equipment has yet to be 
selected, given that the end user of the building is not currently known, however 
with appropriate mitigation, the submitted Noise Assessment indicates that the 
development would not have an unacceptably adverse impact on the amenity 
of surrounding noise sensitive uses.  

10.83 Noise rating levels for any new mechanical equipment relating to plant, 
mechanical ventilation and air conditioning has not been proposed, at this stage, 
in relation to the measured background noise levels. However this could be 
controlled through suggested conditions. 

10.84 Given that the proposed end-use for the site is for Class E (commercial) 
purposes, the main potential sources of noise impacts on existing sensitive 
receptors is assessed as likely to be from construction noise and vibration 
during the construction phase, building services plant and any potential 
increases in local traffic flows associated with the proposed development.  This 
would need to be controlled by an appropriately worded construction 
management plan condition that controls the time of activity and other measures 
to control dust and vibration. 

10.85 A condition is proposed for demolition not to take place during term time school 
hours to mitigate any adverse impacts on the education of children in St 
Andrews Primary School.   

10.86 In respect of deliveries, it would be necessary to secure a Servicing and Delivery 
Plan in any approval to ensure that this is managed in a way that safeguards 
local residents’ amenity and of those children in the school.  A condition would 
need to be imposed if planning permission was granted. 

10.87 Subject to these conditions, having considered the information submitted with 
the application and acoustic assessment, the site is considered acceptable for 
the proposed development in terms of its noise impacts.   

10.88 Privacy and Child Safeguarding: Given the proximity of the neighbouring school 
and residential properties, concerns have been raised about potential 
overlooking, particularly to the school and child safeguarding. 

10.89 On the eastern elevation, there are a number of high-level roof lights. These 
rooflights have been designed at a height that downward overlooking cannot 
occur. There is also a second-floor window serving circulation space. The 
applicant advises that ‘the view … is blocked by the ridge of the brick block 
adjacent to the school.’  However, officers consider there remains a level of 

88



39 
 

potential oblique overlooking from this window. A condition is proposed to 
ensure that a strategy is submitted for overlooking reduction measures. 

10.90 There are 2 south facing roof windows. Likewise, it is not clear from the 
submission whether oblique views would be possible from these. Concerns 
have been raised in representations about potential overlooking. It is suggested 
that a condition is added to any permission to ensure that a strategy is submitted 
for overlooking reduction measures. 

10.91 All other windows are clear on the western and northern elevations. 

10.92 In relation to the southern elevation there are houses and gardens to properties 
in Stile Road. 5 and 7 Stile Road have rear gardens immediately adjoining the 
existing rear walls of the co-op. It is proposed to retain these walls with no 
openings. However, there is a second-floor rooflight which faces these 
properties. To ensure that the amenity of these neighbours is not adversely 
impacted the potential overlooking should be minimised within the submission 
of an Overlooking Reduction Measures Strategy. 

10.93 In summary, officers consider that the design approach to safeguarding against 
loss of privacy is acceptable and can be addressed by conditions.  

10.94 Overbearing: The building on site would be greater in overall scale, height and 
massing than the existing building on site.  It is acknowledged this is set further 
away from the boundary with 5 Stile Road than the current building or previously 
proposed schemes. There would be an impact on these neighbours, which 
would be partially addressed by the suggested conditions, officers do not 
consider that the impacts would be significantly detrimental to warrant a refusal 
of planning permission.   

10.95 Sunlight/Daylight: A Daylight Sunlight Assessment has been submitted with the 
application which considers the impact of this onto the school and neighbouring 
residences.  

10.96 Having regard to impact on residential dwellings on Stile Road and the school, 
the analysis reveals the impact of the building to be negligible.   

10.97 In summary, the application is considered to be in accordance with Policy RE7 
of the adopted Local Plan. 

Trees   

10.98 Policy G7 of the Local Plan seeks the protection of existing Green 
Infrastructure features and states planning permission will not be granted for 
development that results in the loss of green infrastructure features such as 
hedgerows, trees or woodland where this would have a significant public 
amenity or ecological interest.  It must be demonstrated that their retention is 
not feasible and that their loss will be mitigated. 

10.99 Policy G8 states development proposals affecting existing Green Infrastructure 
features should demonstrate how these have been incorporated within the 
design of the new development where appropriate.  This applies to protected 

89



40 
 

and unprotected Green Infrastructure features such as hedgerow, trees and 
small public green spaces. 

10.100 There are no special tree protections present on site. 

10.101 There are three existing trees relevant to the application.  A semi mature ash 
tree (T2) on site on the corner of London Road/Stile Road; a semi mature Scots 
pine off site (on the London Road frontage in the grounds of the Primary 
School) and a mature Ailanthus (T1) (tree of heaven) on site on the Stile Road 
frontage. A group of trees on the London Road frontage close to the Scots pine 
will be removed as a result of the development. This group of trees are 
considered to be of low quality.  

10.102 In respect of the semi mature Ash (T2), this is proposed to be lost to the 
development.  This tree is relatively small and of moderate quality.  The stem 
of this tree has started to grow into the metal guard around it and the species 
is at future risk of ash dieback disease.  Its loss therefore is considered only of 
minor harm which can be adequately mitigated through replacement tree 
planting on the site’s frontage on London Road. This can be secured by 
condition. 

10.103 In respect of the semi mature Scots pine (T3), this is in the adjacent school 
frontage on London Road.  This tree is developing well and is likely to be a 
significant positive landscape feature for 40+ years (A category), and is within 
a few metres of the site’s boundary.  This tree is included in the application’s 
tree report (Arboricultural Implications Assessment (AIA)) and the RPA has 
been reconfigured from the previous Tree constraints Plan (TCP) to indicate 
ingress into the site. The area within the site where the tree’s notional Root 
Protection Area (RPA) extends is designated in the application design to a 
small garden feature space, which is acceptable. 

10.104 Officers consider that whilst the tree should not be adversely affected by the 
proposed scheme, this needs to be considered in tree protection measures 
that can be secured through a condition. 

10.105 In respect of the mature Ailanthus (T1) off site, in the pavement on Stile Road; 
the root-plate of this tree is causing deformation of the surrounding tree grille 
and hard surface; this probably indicates restricted depth of ground conditions 
suitable for root growth, which would also explain the tree’s relatively low 
vitality and modest size for its age. The scheme proposes to retain this tree, 
and subject to robust measures this is considered feasible. Its retention will 
maintain an element of landscape maturity to the site but given its condition 
(20-40 Year remaining contribution), and the issue of the deformation of the 
surrounding hard surface, a replacement tree might be a better long-term 
option in Arboricultural terms. 

10.106 In respect of the previous use of the site, the site was at one time a petrol 
station and thus there is a need to consider the implications for contamination.  
Contamination may have potential implications for the treatment of the 
proposed tree planting along the frontage to the London Road, subject to 
findings of intrusive investigation and contamination risk assessment, together 

90



41 
 

with any remediation that may be required under Land Quality conditions. 
Consideration of soil contamination, and its suitability as a growing medium 
generally, for tree planting is required (a biologically based soil scientist report 
is required). Adverse findings may potentially necessitate soil replacement, but 
these elements can be conditioned. 

10.107 In respect of tree canopy, given the low amount of existing canopy cover on 
the site, and extent of new tree planting proposals, a net increase in canopy 
cover over 25 years as per the policy requirement of G7, for Major 
developments, would be anticipated. However, the application does not 
include a Tree Canopy Cover Assessment study to demonstrate and quantify 
compliance. 

10.108 The proposed indicative landscape design proposals include indicative new 
tree planting along the proposed site’s frontage to the London Road, and some 
form of multi-stem shrub cover integrated into rain garden features along the 
western side of the building facing onto Stile Road. This is a welcome design 
strategy, but it requires further detail, which can be secured under landscape 
conditions, of tree species to be of suitable type, form and scale to fit the 
streetscape and to enhance its character. 

10.109 Design information submitted in compliance with landscape conditions will 
need to show details of tree planting pits, which for the London Road frontage 
should involve a linear trench to accommodate the maximum potential soil 
volume for rooting requirements to ensure successful establishment and 
development of new tree plantings. The phasing of ground investigations and 
planting pit design should be considered carefully.  

10.110 The application is considered acceptable, subject to the suggested conditions,  
and would not be contrary to policies S1, G1, G7 and G8 of the OLP 2036.  

Flooding and Drainage 

10.111 The site is located in Flood Zone 1.  A drainage strategy and SUDS 
maintenance and management plan has been submitted.  Oxfordshire County 
Council Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have considered the strategy and 
raise an objection to the proposals. The LLFA object on the grounds that 
details of the party have who will maintain the Sustainable Urban Drainage 
measures has not been specified in the application. However, officers consider 
that this point is better addressed by a condition. This point has been included 
in a suggested Sustainable Urban Drainage (SuDS) condition.  

10.112 Concerns have been raised around the technical drainage calculations. It is 
noted that drainage calculations have been re-run using FEH-13 rainfall data, 
although no adjustments have been made to the Impervious Area Factor 
(PIMP) values, so they remain user-defined.  There is an outside point in that 
the Councils Drainage Officers disagrees with the premise that the two values 
- PIMP and Volumetric Runoff Coefficient (Cv) - are interchangeable.  
Calculations should be re-run, using a PIMP value of 1.0 representing 100% 
impermeable for the roof and paved areas and the Cv values changed to 
0.9/0.95 as per LLFA requirements.  In this case, the LLFA have raised no 

91



42 
 

objections to the technical data/assessment. However, it considered that this 
technical issue could be addressed by the detailed submission in suggested 
conditions (Drainage Strategy Submission and Sustainable Urban Drainage 
(SuDS)) 

10.113 Thames Water advise in respect of foul, surface water and water capacity, that 
the proposals are acceptable. 

10.114 Concerns have also been received in respect of impact on the Lye Valley SSSI, 
from increased surface and ground water flows, but this has not been identified 
as a concern and the County as Local Lead Flood Authority have not raised 
any objection on this. The only outstanding element of evidence required to 
show no impact on the SSSI is to demonstrate that there will not be a decrease 
in water quality. A water quality assessment is a requirement of a standard 
drainage strategy in any case, the applicant should make specific reference in 
acknowledgement of the site’s location within the SSSI catchment when 
presenting the evidence within the Drainage Strategy required by the 
suggested condition. 

10.115 The LLFA have raised an objection based a lack of confirmation on who will 
be responsible for the maintenance for the proposed Sustainable Urban 
Drainage (SuDS). It is not considered necessary, in planning terms, to have 
this body named at this stage of the development. It is considered by officers 
that a condition would be appropriate to address this point rather than the 
refusal of planning permission.   

10.116 In summary and subject to the suggested conditions, the development is 
considered to be in accordance with policies S1, RE1, RE3 and RE4 of the 
Oxford Local Plan 2036.   

Energy and Sustainability 

10.117 Policy RE1 of the Oxford Local Plan states planning permission will only be 
granted where it can be demonstrated that the building complies with 
sustainable design and construction principles.  In addition, an Energy 
Statement must be submitted that demonstrates a 40% carbon reduction in 
carbon emissions, as well as evidence that for non-residential development of 
over 1000sqm, the development will meet BREEAM Excellent standard. 

10.118 An Energy and Carbon Statement has been submitted with the application 
which sets out how the proposal has been designed in respect of sustainability, 
carbon emissions, renewable energy and environmental impact, against policy 
RE1 of the Local Plan.  The statement demonstrates how the development is 
able to exceed the Council's target of 40% reduction in carbon emissions as 
set out in policy RE1. The development can achieve this through good fabric 
measures, ASHP and solar PV. This can be secured through a suggested 
condition.  

10.119 In summary, the application is in compliance with Policy RE1 of the Oxford 
Local Plan 2036. 

92



43 
 

Biodiversity 

10.120 Policy G2 of the Local Plan states development that results in a net loss of 
sites and species of ecological values will not be permitted.  Compensation 
and mitigation measures must offset the loss and achieve an overall net gain 
for biodiversity. 

10.121 In this instance, the application seeks the removal of the existing Co-Op 
building.  To support the application a protected species report has been 
submitted that indicates that the building was surveyed for bats.  The building 
is assessed as having negligible potential for shelter for roosting bats, and no 
bats or evidence of bats were found. However, there are no details of whether 
the trees on site or adjacent are being used for bat roosts. The applicant has 
confirmed that the trees have no bat roosting potential.  

10.122 All species of bats and their roosts are protected under The Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). Please note that, among other 
activities, it is a criminal offence to deliberately kill, injure or capture a bat; to 
damage, destroy or obstruct access to a breeding or resting place; and to 
intentionally or recklessly disturb a bat while in a structure or place of shelter 
or protection. 

10.123 Officers are satisfied that the existing ecological value of the site is likely to be 
low. However, residents have reported that the site is used by nesting birds. 
Conditions are suggested to establish any existing ecological interests and a 
condition requiring ecological enhancements to ensure a net gain for 
biodiversity could be achieved. 

10.124 The application also includes green roofs would be a vital element in the 
biodiversity net gain scheme (BNG) as well as major visual elements and 
feature prominently in many views of the proposed development. 

10.125 It is considered that the proposal offers landscape opportunities with the 
inclusion of green roofs.  This in addition to requiring a scheme for ecological 
enhancements is considered to provide opportunities for biodiversity in 
accordance with Policy G2 of the Local Plan  

10.126 Policy G8 of the Oxford Local Plan requires the inclusion of such features 
“where feasible”. It also requires that they are designed to be low maintenance, 
or a maintenance plan otherwise provided. The specifications of the proposed 
green roof, including details of the proposed substrates and their depth, the 
number, size, species and density of the proposed planting and management 
plans are required to make an informed assessment for these visually 
prominent elements. These should include details of the maintenance regime 
and irrigation requirements. This is vital to ensure these areas can be 
practically delivered, in accordance with all necessary regulations and best 
practice (including but not limited to consideration of vegetation growth, 
irrigation, and fire safety). A condition is suggested to ensure the detailed 
specification for and long term maintenance of these areas,  

93



44 
 

10.127 Overall, the landscape strategy is noted to include features such as green 
roofs, rain gardens and 10 trees that will contribute to the biodiversity of the 
site, wider green infrastructure and support the proposed ecological 
enhancements. These features are welcomed. 

10.128 In relation to Biodiversity Net Gain, the application would be subject to the 
deemed biodiversity gain condition which is a pre-commencement 
requirement. As a Local Planning Authority, Oxford City Council has a legal 
obligation to ensure mandatory biodiversity net gain is applied to applications 
subject to the biodiversity gain condition in accordance with the Environment 
Act 2021 and Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended. 

10.129 Subject to the suggested conditions and clarification of the bat survey, the 
development is considered to meet the requirements of the NPPF and policies 
S1, G1, G2 and G8 of the OLP 2036. 

Archaeology  

10.130 Policy DH4 of the Local Plan has regard to archaeology and the historic 
environment. 

10.131 NPPF paragraph 216 states that the effect of an application on the significance 
of a non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining 
the application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-
designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having 
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 
asset. NPPF Paragraph 218 states that where appropriate local planning 
authorities should require developers to record and advance understanding of 
the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner 
proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this evidence 
(and any archive generated) publicly accessible. In this case, in line with the 
NPPF, any consent should be subject to conditions to ensure a controlled 
demolition and trial trenching to protect potential non-designated heritage 
assets. 

10.132 Officers have determined this site is of interest because it involves 
groundworks in a location that has potential for late medieval and post-
medieval remains in the form of a historic trackway of unknown antiquity that 
linked Old Headington with the medieval settlement at Headington Quarry. The 
site is located in an area that has not been subject to significant archaeological 
investigation. The desk-based assessment includes an assessment of low to 
moderate potential for Saxon and medieval remains. 

10.133 Having regard to the NPPF and policy DH4 and the contents of the desk-based 
assessment, any consent granted should be subject to a condition to secure 
archaeology trial trenching followed by further mitigation as appropriate. 

10.134 Subject to a condition it is considered the application is acceptable against 
Policy DH4 of the Local Plan. 

Air Quality 

94



45 
 

10.135 Policy RE6 of the Oxford Local Plan has regard to air quality and states 
planning permission will only be granted where the impact of new development 
on air quality is mitigated and where exposure to air quality is minimised or 
reduced. 

10.136 The assessment shows that the Application Site is located within the Oxford 
city-wide Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), declared by Oxford City 
Council (OCC) for exceedances of the annual mean NO2 air quality objective 
(AQO). Analysis of DEFRA’s urban background maps and of all pollutant 
concentrations at monitoring locations in the area of the application site, show 
that current air quality levels are below all relevant air quality limit values.  

10.137 According to the site’s energy statement, no gas-fired boilers or combustion 
plant are proposed within the site. The proposed development will be covering 
its heating demands with the installation of highly efficient Air Source Heat 
Pump in the majority of the building spaces and the PV technology, and as 
such there will be no negative impacts on local air quality from the use of these 
systems. 

10.138 According to the site’s transport and air quality assessments, the development 
will result in the loss of four parking spaces, and the demand to access the site 
is expected to decrease from the current food retail site to the proposed car-
free commercial development. 

10.139 All surrounding streets are covered by an area wide CPZ which will prevent 
overspill parking being hazardous or a nuisance. The site’s highly sustainable 
location will also encourage use of alternative modes of transport and therefore 
fully complies with all Transport Assessment requirements of the Local Plan.  

10.140 A quantitative assessment of the potential impacts on local air quality arising 
from the proposed development during the operational phase has been 
undertaken using the detailed dispersion model ADMS Roads. The model was 
used to predict the changes in NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 concentrations that 
would occur at nearby sensitive (human) receptors due to traffic generated by 
the proposed development. The assessment was completed in line with 
published methodologies and technical guidance and using several 
conservative approaches. The results of the assessment showed that the 
proposed development will have a negligible impact on air quality at all 
assessment receptors considered, once operational. 

10.141 The impacts of demolition and construction work on dust soiling and ambient 
fine particulate matter concentrations have been assessed on the AQ 
Assessment. The site was identified as ‘low risk’ during the demolition, 
earthworks and construction phases. These different risk levels were used to 
identify appropriate site-specific dust mitigation measures. Provided these 
measures are implemented and included within a dust management plan, the 
residual impacts are considered to be not significant. However, local residents 
and the primary school have raised concerns about dust and other air-borne 
pollutants from the site, particularly during construction. There is concern that 
the demolition and construction activities are not ‘low risk’ for the children or 
those with breathing limitations.  

95



46 
 

10.142 Officers consider that these concerns can be addressed through suggested 
planning conditions. The suggested Construction Management Plan 
conditions include the requirement for details of dust and asbestos mitigation. 
The suggested Demolition Method Statement and Construction Management 
Plan includes a number of control measures covering dust, vibration etc.  

10.143 The necessary air quality measures described above can be secured by 
condition to ensure that the proposals are acceptable in the context of Policy 
RE6 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

Land Quality 

10.144 The Council has a statutory duty to take into account, as a material 
consideration, the actual or possible presence of contamination on land. As a 
minimum, following development, land should not be capable of being 
determined as contaminated land, meaning the contamination poses an 
unacceptable risk to human health or the environment, under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990.   In accordance with policy RE9 of the 
Oxford Local Plan 2036, a Ground Condition Assessment report was 
submitted as part of the application. 

10.145 The former use of the land includes use as a garage and fuel filling station.  
Underground fuel/oil storage tanks are confirmed to be present on site in the 
submitted Ground Condition Assessment report.  Contamination risks are 
therefore considered likely based on this and historical information and an 
intrusive site investigation of the site is considered necessary to quantify 
potential contamination risks to groundwater, construction workers and future 
end users to include assessment of volatile vapour risks. 

10.146 The submitted Phase 1 Ground Condition Assessment Report is considered 
acceptable, and planning conditions would be suggested to secure the 
recommended intrusive investigation and contamination risk assessment at 
the site, together with any remediation that may be required. 

10.147 Subject to conditions being imposed, it is considered that the application would 
be acceptable in land quality terms and would meet the requirements of Policy 
RE9 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

Health Impact Assessment 

10.148 Policy RE5 of the Oxford Local Plan states that Oxford seeks to promote strong 
vibrant and healthy communities.  For major development proposals, the 
Council will require a Health Impact Assessment to be submitted, which should 
include details of implementation, and monitoring. A Health Impact 
Assessment (HIA) has been submitted. 

10.149 Inclusive design has been considered both internally and externally throughout 
the scheme with wheelchair accessibility and flexibility available, 
considerations has been given to air quality and noise through submitted 
assessments, the site is in a sustainable location and does not promote 
additional car use, the development involves sustainable construction 

96



47 
 

techniques and renewal energy and therefore demonstrates where applicable 
that the development promotes health and wellbeing. 

10.150 The HIA demonstrates that overall the development would have a positive 
impact on health. It is recommended that further enhancement to increase this 
positively through engagement between occupiers and the local community to 
ensure changing needs are met and establishing local procurement, training 
and employment agreements. Local procurement etc. would be dealt with and 
secured via the Community Employment Procurement Plan secured by the 
legal agreement. 

10.151 The proposed development is considered to be in accordance with policy RE5 
of the OLP 2036 and would therefore be acceptable.  

Utilities 

10.152 Policy V8 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 requires there to be adequate capacity 
in utility networks to support the development. Thames Water have received 
two consultations on the application and no concerns have been received. 
Furthermore the site is already developed and served by utilities. The 
proposed development fits within this floorspace and therefore the proposal is 
considered acceptable in relation to policy V8 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

Best Interests of the Child 

10.152 Article 3.1 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child provides 
that “In all actions concerning children, whether undertaken by public or private 
social welfare institutions, courts of law, administrative authorities or legislative 
bodies, the best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration”. Section 
11 of the Children Act 2004 requires Local Authorities to, “make arrangements 
for ensuring that…their functions are discharged having regard to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children…” 

10.153 Article 3 and the Children Act 2004 principle of the ‘best interests’ of the child 
are accepted that in planning decisions concerning children. Planning case law 
says that their best interests must be of primary importance, and that planning 
decisions ought to have regard to that principle. This principle is a material 
consideration in planning decisions where Article 3 and Section 11 of the 
Children act are engaged. As outlined in the above report the education, safety 
and welfare needs of children, particularly those attending St Andrews Primary 
School have been carefully considered. In light of the mitigation through the 
use of planning conditions, it is not considered that the impacts of the proposal 
on children would warrant the refusal of planning permission. The mitigation of 
any potential impacts can be dealt with by the suggested planning conditions 
proposed to safeguard the welfare and education needs of children attending 
the St Andrew’s Church of England Primary School.  

10.154 Several impacts on children were identified within the representations 
from St Andrews Primary School and County Council Education. These are 
broadly centred on design, health and safety and safeguarding. Many of these 
concerns are addressed within the suggested conditions such as noise and 

97



48 
 

vibration mitigation measures. The design concerns have been discussed in the 
above report and, in officers view, addressed. In relation to Health and Safety, a 
number of conditions are proposed to mitigate any impacts of demolition and 
construction. In relation to safeguarding, a condition for the submission of an 
Overlooking Mitigation Strategy is proposed to minimise any potential overlooking 
from the building into the school. In addition, a condition requiring the submission 
of a Security, Access and Safeguarding Plan is suggested. This Plan would 
include physical measures to control unauthorised access in the proposed 
development and into St Andrew’s Church of England Primary School from the 
site.    

11 CONCLUSION 

11.1 Having regards to the matters discussed in the report, officers would make 
members aware that the starting point for the determination of this application is 
in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 which makes clear that proposals should be assessed in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

11.2 The development would make best and most efficient use of the site and provide 
a high quality and sustainable development on brownfield land to which 
substantial weight is given.  The principle of the use on this site in this location is 
acceptable. It would deliver research and office space contributing towards 
Oxfords post-pandemic growth and global reputation.  The development would 
positively enhance the character and appearance of the area through 
contemporary design and new public landscaped area to the front with London 
Road.  The development would not harm the setting of Old Headington 
Conservation Area or the setting of the listed wall that bounds Bury Knowle Park.  
However, Officers consider that the proposal by reason of its siting, scale, height 
and massing would take into account the effect of the development on the 
significance of St Andrews Primary School, as a non-designated heritage asset.   

11.3 The proposed use is acceptable within the Flood Zone and the development 
would have an acceptable drainage scheme, subject to suggested conditions, 
including sustainable drainage measures, and not have an adverse impact on the 
functional flood plain or result in increased flood risk. 

11.4 There would be a significant beneficial reduction in car parking, adequate cycle 
parking and no adverse impact on the highway subject to the suggested 
conditions. A contribution towards highway improvements, traffic regulation order 
and travel plan monitoring would be secured by legal agreement. 

11.5 On balance, there would not be an adverse impact on neighbouring educational 
and residential amenity from overlooking, overbearing, loss of daylight or sunlight, 
noise or light spill due to the proposed design, appearance and distance from 
properties and additional mitigation measures proposed and secured by 
conditions. 

11.6 The NPPF has a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  NPPF 
paragraph 11 states that proposals that accord with the development plan should 
be approved without delay, or where the development plan is absent, silent, or 

98



49 
 

relevant plans are out of date, granting permission unless any adverse impacts 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies in the 
framework indicate development should be restricted. Policy S1 of the OLP 2036 
repeats this. 

11.7 Officers consider that the proposal would accord with the overall aims and 
objectives of the NPPF and policy S1 for the reasons set out within the report.  
Therefore in such circumstances, planning permission should be approved 
without delay.  This is a significant material consideration in favour of the 
proposal. 

11.8 Officers would advise members that having considered the application carefully 
including all representations made with respect to the application, that the 
proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of the aims and objectives of 
the National Planning Policy Framework, and relevant policies of the Oxford Local 
Plan 2016-2036, when considered as a whole, and that there are no material 
considerations that would outweigh these policies. 

11.9 In summary, the proposed development is considered acceptable for the reasons 
set out within this report and would not accord with the relevant policies of the 
Oxford Local Plan 2036 and the Headington Neighbourhood Plan.  

11.10 It is recommended that the Committee resolve to grant planning permission for 
the development proposed subject to the satisfactory completion (under authority 
delegated to the Director of Planning & Regulation) of a legal agreement under 
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

12 APPENDICES 

• Appendix 1 – Site location plan 

• Appendix 2 – Planning Inspectorate Appeal Decision  

 
13 HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 

13.1 Officers have considered the implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 in 
reaching a recommendation of approval for the reasons given in the report,.  They 
consider that the interference with the human rights of the applicant under Article 
8/Article 1 of Protocol 1 is justifiable and proportionate for the protection of the 
rights and freedom of others or the control of his/her property in this way is in 
accordance with the general interest. 

14 SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 

14.1 Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the proposal on the 
need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the consideration of this application, 
in accordance with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. In reaching a 
recommendation for approval, officers consider that the proposal will not 
undermine crime prevention or the promotion of community. 

15 RIGHTS OF THE CHILD 

99



50 
 

15.1 The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)  outlines the 
fundamental rights of every child, regardless of their race, religion or abilities. The 
Convention has 54 articles that cover all aspects of a child’s life and set out the 
civil, political, economic, social and cultural rights.. The UK ratified the UNCRC in 
1991 making it binding under international law, however the UK does not 
automatically incorporate international treaties into domestic law. The principles 
of the UNCRC informed the Children Act 2004.  As set out in the above report, in 
reaching a recommendation for approval, officers consider that the proposal will 
not undermine the rights of the child under the Convention and the Children Act. 

 
16 CONDITIONS  
 

Time 
 
1.  The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 

expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason: In accordance with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

as amended by the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

Approved Plans 
 
 2. The development permitted shall be constructed in complete accordance with the 

specifications in the application and approved plans listed below, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: To avoid doubt and to ensure an acceptable development as indicated on the 

submitted drawings in accordance with policy DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 

Prior to Commencement of Works  
 
Construction Management - Environmental 
 
3. Prior to the commencement of the works including any demolition a Construction 

Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) including dust and asbestos mitigation shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The CEMP 
shall be complied with at all times. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the overall dust, air quality and asbestos risks and impacts on 

local residents and users of St Andrew’s Church of England Primary School during the 
construction phase of the proposed development will remain as "not significant", i Policy 
RE7 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

 
Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) 
 
4. A Construction Traffic Management Plan (CTMP) shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of works. This shall 
identify: 

 - The CTMP must be appropriately titled, include the site and planning permission 
number. 

 - Routing of construction traffic and delivery vehicles is required to be shown and signed 
appropriately to the necessary standards/requirements. This includes means of access 
into the site. 

 - Details of and approval of any road closures needed during construction. 

100



51 
 

 - Details of and approval of any traffic management needed during construction. 
 - Details of wheel cleaning/wash facilities - to prevent mud etc, in vehicle tyres/wheels, 

from migrating onto adjacent highway. 
 - Details of appropriate signing, to accord with the necessary standards/requirements, 

for pedestrians during construction works, including any footpath diversions. 
 - The erection and maintenance of security hoarding / scaffolding if required. 
 - A regime to inspect and maintain all signing, barriers etc. 
 - Contact details of the Project Manager and Site Supervisor responsible for on-site 

works to be provided. 
 - The use of appropriately trained, qualified and certificated banksmen for guiding 

vehicles/unloading etc. 
 - No unnecessary parking of site related vehicles (worker transport etc) in the vicinity - 

details of where these will be parked and occupiers transported to/from site to be 
submitted for consideration and approval. Areas to be shown on a plan not less than 
1:500. 

 - Layout plan of the site that shows structures, roads, site storage, compound, 
pedestrian routes etc. 

 - A before-work commencement highway condition survey and agreement with a 
representative of the Highways Depot - contact 0845 310 1111. Final correspondence 
is required to be submitted. 

 - Local residents and St Andrew’s Church of England Primary School to be kept 
informed of significant deliveries and liaised with through the project. Contact details 
for person to whom issues should be raised with in first instance to be provided and a 
record kept of these and subsequent resolution. 

 - Any temporary access arrangements to be agreed with and approved by Highways 
Depot. 

 - Details of times for construction traffic and delivery vehicles, which must be outside 
network peak and school peak hours. 

 
 The approved CTMP shall be adhered to at all times.   
  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to mitigate the impact of construction 

vehicles on the surrounding highway network, road infrastructure and local residents, 
particularly at morning and afternoon peak traffic times and to comply with policy M1 of 
the Oxford Local Plan 2036 and the NPPF. 

 
Demolition method statement and construction management plan 
 
5. Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a demolition method 

statement and a construction management plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include no demolition during the 
term time school hours of St Andrew’s Church of England Primary School, control 
measures for dust, noise, vibration, overlooking, site security, lighting, delivery 
locations, restriction of hours of work and all associated activities audible beyond the 
site boundary to 07:00 - 18:00 Monday to Friday daily, 08:00 - 13:00 Saturdays and no 
works shall be undertaken on Sundays or bank holidays. The details shall include  any 
demolition / repair works of the boundary walls to St Andrew’s Church of England 
Primary School/5 and 7 Stile Road and measures for the reinstatement of these walls 
if demolition is necessary. The details shall include advance notification to neighbours, 
St Andrew’s Church of England Primary School and other interested parties of 
proposed works and public display of contact details including accessible phone 
contact to persons responsible for the site works for the duration of the works. Approved 
details shall be implemented throughout the project period. 

  

101



52 
 

 Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not 
adversely affected by noise, vibration, dust, lighting or other emissions from the building 
site in accordance with policy RE7 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

 
CEMP 
 
6. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works and vegetation 

clearance) until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following: 

  
 a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities; 
 b) Identification of "biodiversity protection zones" in respect of protected and notable 

species and habitats; 
 c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to 

avoid or reduce impacts on biodiversity during construction (may be provided as a set 
of method statements) and biosecurity protocols; 

 d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features; 
 e) Contingency/emergence measures for accidents and unexpected events, along with 

remedial measures;  
 f) Responsible persons and lines of communication; 
 g) The role and responsibilities on site of a qualified ecological clerk of works (ECoW) 

or similarly competent person if required, and times and activities during construction 
when they need to be present to oversee works; and 

 h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs;  
  
 The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction 

period strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in 
writing beforehand by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: To prevent harm to species and habitats within and outside the site during 

construction in accordance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
2017 (as amended), The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and Policy 
G2 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

 
Drainage Strategy 
 
7. Prior to the commencement of the works including any demolition a full drainage 

strategy, including any SuDS features and their maintenance, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Only the approved details shall be 
complied with at all times. 

  
 Reason: To ensure sustainable drainage and prevention of increasing flooding 

elsewhere in accordance with policies RE3 and RE4 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 
 Sustainable Design  
 
8. Prior to commencement, details and plans shall be submitted to and approved in writing 

to the Local Planning Authority to show how the proposal will meet the Energy 
Statement prepared by ERS as well as details how the proposal achieves sustainable 
design and construction methods. The development shall be carried out in full 
accordance with the recommendations of the Energy Statement prepared by ERS. The 
development shall not be occupied until evidence (including where relevant Energy 
Performance Certificate(s) (EPC), Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP) and 
Building Regulations UK, Part L (BRUKL) documents) have been submitted to the Local 

102



53 
 

Planning Authority to confirm that the energy systems have been implemented 
according to details laid out in the approved Energy Statement and achieve the target 
performance (i.e. at least a 40% reduction in operational carbon emissions compared 
to a Building Regulations compliant base case) as approved. 

 

Reason: To ensure the incorporation of sustainable design and construction with 
the approved scheme and to ensure carbon reduction in line with policy RE1 of 
the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

 
Tree Protection  
 
9. Prior to commencement, details of protection and mitigation measures to ensure no 

harm to the tree on the public highway in Stile Road and the tree on the London Road 
frontage within the grounds of St Andrew’s Church of England Primary School shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Only the approved 
details shall be implemented. 

 
Reason: To ensure tree protection measures for a public amenity tree in accordance 
with policies G1, G7 and G8 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 

 
Tree Protection Plan 
 
10. No development, including demolition or enabling works, shall take place until a Tree 

Protection Plan (TPP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The TPP shall include such details as are appropriate for the 
protection of retained trees during development, and shall be in accordance with the 
current BS. 5837: “Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction – 
Recommendations” unless otherwise agreed in writing beforehand by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
The TPP shall include a scale plan indicating the positions of barrier fencing and/or 
ground protection materials to protect Root Protection Areas (RPAs) of retained trees 
and/or create Construction Exclusion Zones (CEZ) around retained trees. The 
approved physical protection measures shall be in place prior to the commencement 
of any development, including demolition or enabling works, and shall be retained for 
the duration of construction, unless otherwise agreed in writing beforehand by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
The Local Planning Authority shall be informed in writing when physical measures are 
in place, in order to allow Officers to make an inspection prior to the commencement of 
development. No works or other activities including storage of materials shall take place 
within designated Construction Exclusion Zones unless otherwise agreed in writing 
beforehand by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies G7, G8 and DH1 
of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 
Underground Services 

 
11, No development shall take place until details of the location of all underground services 

and soakaways have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The location of underground services and soakaways shall take account of 
the need to avoid excavation within the Root Protection Areas of retained trees as 

103



54 
 

defined in the current British Standard 5837 ”Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition 
and Construction - Recommendations”. Works shall only be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing beforehand by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies G7, G8 and DH1 
of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 
Arboricultural Monitoring Programme 

 
12. Development, including demolition and enabling works, shall not begin until details of 

an Arboricultural Monitoring Programme (AMP) have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA). The AMP shall include a schedule of a 
monitoring and reporting programme of all on-site supervision and checks of 
compliance with the details of the Tree Protection Plan and/or Arboricultural Method 
Statement, as approved by the Local Planning Authority. The AMP shall include details 
of an appropriate Arboricultural Clerk of Works (ACoW) who shall conduct such 
monitoring and supervision, and a written and photographic record shall be submitted 
to the LPA at scheduled intervals in accordance with the approved AMP.  
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies G7, G8 and DH1 
of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 
 
Hard surfaces 
 

13. Prior to their construction, details of the design of all new hard surfaces and a method 
statement for their construction shall first have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and the hard surfaces shall be constructed in 
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing beforehand 
by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall take into account the need to avoid any 
excavation within the Root Protection Area of any retained tree and where appropriate 
the Local Planning Authority will expect "no-dig" techniques to be used, which require 
hard surfaces to be constructed on top of existing soil levels in accordance with the 
current British Standard 5837: ‘’Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and 
Construction – Recommendations’’. 
 
Reason: To avoid damage to the roots of retained trees in accordance with policies G7, 
G8 and DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036  

 
Contamination Risk Management   
 
14. Prior to the commencement of the development a phased risk assessment shall be 

carried out by a competent person in accordance with relevant British Standards and 
the Environment Agency's Land Contamination Risk Management (LCRM) procedures 
for managing land contamination. Each phase shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
A Phase 1 (desk study and preliminary risk assessment) has been completed and 
approved.  
A Phase 2 shall be completed to include a comprehensive intrusive investigation in 
order to characterise the type, nature and extent of contamination present, the risks to 
receptors and to inform the remediation strategy proposals.  
Phase 3 requires that a remediation strategy, validation plan, and/or monitoring plan be 
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority to ensure the site will be 
suitable for its proposed use. 

104



55 
 

 
Reason: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is identified and 
adequately addressed to ensure the site is suitable for the proposed use in accordance 
with the requirements of policy RE9 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

 
15. Throughout the course of the development, a watching brief for the identification of 

unexpected contamination shall be undertaken by a suitably competent person. Any 
unexpected contamination that is found during the course of construction of the 
approved development shall be reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. 
Development on that part of the site affected shall be suspended and a risk assessment 
carried out by a competent person and submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Where unacceptable risks are found remediation and 
verification schemes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These approved schemes shall be carried out before the 
development (or relevant phase of development) is resumed or continued. 

 
Reason: To ensure that any soil and water contamination is identified and adequately 
addressed to ensure the site is suitable for the proposed use in accordance with the 
requirements of policy RE9 of the Oxford Local Plan  2036. 
 

 
 
Boreholes 

 
16. No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until a scheme 

for managing any borehole installed for the investigation of soils, groundwater or 
geotechnical purposes shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall provide details of how redundant boreholes are 
to be decommissioned and how any boreholes that need to be retained, post-
development, for monitoring purposes will be secured, protected, and inspected. The 
scheme as approved shall be implemented prior to the occupation of any part of the 
permitted development.  
 
Reason: To ensure that redundant boreholes are safe and secure, and do not cause 
groundwater pollution or loss of water supplies in line with paragraph 187 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Position Statement A8 - Building and 
decommissioning of structures of ‘The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater 
protection’. 

 
17. Piling/investigation boreholes/ any other engineering design to support geotechnical 

stability to the proposed development and installation of impermeable barriers such as 
bentonite or concrete slurry walls using penetrative methods shall not be carried out 
other than with the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details only.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the proposed Piling/investigation boreholes/any other 
engineering design to support geotechnical stability to the proposed development and 
installation of impermeable barriers such as bentonite or concrete slurry walls do not 
harm groundwater resources in line with National Planning Policy Framework and 
Position Statement N7, N9 and N11 of the ‘The Environment Agency’s approach to 
groundwater protection’. 

 
Highways Details 
 

105



56 
 

18. Prior to commencement of the development, detailed plans, including dimensions, of 
the highway layout showing proposed works for the footway (including the location of 
dropped kerbs), carriageway and vehicular crossover shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved plans shall be 
implemented as approved unless agreed in writing beforehand by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

 
 Reason: In order to ensure the safety and convenience of pedestrians, cyclists and 

other users of the highway in accordance with Policy M1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.  
 
Archaeology 
 
19. No demolition shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 

has submitted a method statement for controlled demolition to ground level to facilitate 
archaeological trenching and this has been approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. All works shall be carried out and completed in accordance with the approved 
method statement, unless otherwise agreed in writing beforehand by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: Because the development may have a damaging effect on known or 
suspected elements of the historic environment of the people of Oxford and their 
visitors, including medieval and postmedieval remains and to comply with Oxford Local 
Plan Policy DH4. 

 
20. No development (other than demolition) shall take place until the applicant, or their 

agents or successors in title, has secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All works 
shall be carried out and completed in accordance with the approved written scheme of 
investigation, unless otherwise agreed in writing beforehand by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: Because the development may have a damaging effect on known or 
suspected elements of the historic environment of the people of Oxford and their 
visitors, including medieval and postmedieval remains and to comply with Oxford Local 
Plan Policy DH4. 

 
Prior to Above Ground Works 

 
Materials 
 
21. Prior to above ground works, samples of the materials to be used in the proposed 

development shall be displayed on site and details submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include: 

  All new facing materials (including windows) 
  Refurbished/cleaned existing materials  

External store materials, 
  Boundary treatment materials 
  Hard landscape materials 

There shall be no variation of the approved materials without the prior written consent 
of the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the development is visually satisfactory as required by Policies 

S1 and DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 

106



57 
 

Deliveries and Servicing 
 
22. Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to above ground works, a Delivery and 

Servicing Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The plan shall include contact details for staff responsible for 
delivery management, a swept path analysis for the service yard, management 
arrangements for access for bikes and details of the servicing and delivery vehicles to 
be used. Deliveries and servicing must be outside of school and network peak hours. 
The approved plan shall be implemented and maintained as approved unless agreed 
in writing beforehand by the Local Planning Authority.  

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to mitigate the impact of delivery and 
service vehicles on the surrounding network, road infrastructure and local residents, 
particularly at peak traffic times in accordance with policy M2 of the Oxford Local Plan 
2036. 

 
Security 
 
23. Prior to above ground works, an application shall be made for Secured by Design (SBD) 

Commercial accreditation on the development hereby approved. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and shall not be occupied 
or used until confirmation of SBD accreditation has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
Reason: To ensure that the development is safe and secure, and the design of the 
development reduces opportunities for crime in accordance with Policies RE7 and DH1 
of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. Secured by Design 

 
24. Prior to above ground works, a Security, Access and Safeguarding Plan shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate 
how site and building security will be constructed and installed to prevent unauthorised 
access to the development and to St Andrew’s Church of England Primary School. The 
plan shall include details of access control points, CCTV, alarms and liaison with St 
Andrew’s Church of England Primary School. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and remain in perpetuity.   

 
 Reason: To ensure that the development and adjoining school is safe and secure, and 

the design of the development reduces opportunities for crime and ensures child 
safeguarding in accordance with Policies RE7 and DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.  

 
Prior to Use / Occupation  
 
25. Prior to first occupation of the development, an Interim BREEAM Report from the 

registered BREEAM assessor shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The report must contain: 
⦁ A copy of the interim design certificate confirming ‘Excellent’ certification has 
been achieved. 
• Evidence to show the development is on track to achieve a post-construction 

rating of ‘Excellent’ with a margin of comfort 

Reason: To ensure the proposal meets policy RE1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

 
Cycle Parking 
 

107



58 
 

26.  Notwithstanding the submitted plans, prior to occupation of the development details of 
the cycle parking for users and visitors shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include appearance, materials, provision 
for cargo bikes and electric bicycles and which shall be safe, secure and where possible 
covered, and details of the electric charging infrastructure. The approved details shall 
be installed and usable prior to first use of any part of the development. The cycle 
facilities shall be maintained for their intended use in perpetuity. 

  
 Reasons: To ensure sustainable methods of transport are provided in accordance with 

M1 and M5 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 
Noise  
 
27. Prior to use, details of the proposed plant installation and ducting at the development 

shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority  
 

The plant shall be mounted with proprietary anti-vibration isolators and fan motors shall 
be vibration isolated from the casing and adequately silenced and maintained as such. 

  
 The external noise levels emitted from plant/ machinery/ equipment shall ensure that 

the rating level of the noise emitted from the proposed installation located at the site 
shall not exceed the existing background level at any noise sensitive premises when 
measured and corrected in accordance with BS4142:2014 +A1:2019 "Methods for 
rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound." 

 
 The plant details as approved by the Local Planning Authority shall be carried out by 

the first use of the development hereby approved unless otherwise agreed in writing 
beforehand by the Local Planning Authority. The approved measures shall thereafter 
be maintained as approved unless otherwise agreed in writing beforehand by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers and users of surrounding premises 

and the school are not adversely affected by noise in accordance with Policy RE7 of 
the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

 
 
 
Landscape and Ecology 
 
28. A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to occupation.  
  
 The content of the LEMP shall include the following: 
 a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed (including green roofs), both 

on and off-site; 
 b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management; 
 c) Aims and objectives of management; 
 d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives; 
 e) Prescriptions for management actions; 
 f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled 

forward over a five-year period); 
 g) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan; and 
 h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures, 
 j) Long term design objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance 

schedules and timing for all landscape areas including green roofs. 

108



59 
 

  
 The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which 

the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the 
management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. 

  
 The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that conservation 

aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial 
action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers 
the fully functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The 
approved plan will be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: The facilitate the delivery of biodiversity net gain in accordance with Policy 

G2: Protection of biodiversity and geo-diversity of the adopted Oxford Local Plan 2036 
and to ensure compliance with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Ecological Enhancements 
 
29. Prior to occupation of the development, details of ecological enhancement measures 

including at least two bat roosting devices and two bird nesting devices shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details must 
include the proposed specifications, locations, and arrangements for any required 
maintenance. The approved devices shall be fully constructed under the oversight of a 
suitably qualified ecologist prior to occupation of the approved development. Any new 
fencing will include holes suitable for the safe passage of hedgehogs. The approved 
devices and fencing holes shall be maintained and retained in perpetuity unless 
otherwise approved in writing beforehand by the Local Planning Authority. 

   
 Reason: To enhance biodiversity in Oxford City in accordance with Policies G1, G2 and 

G8 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 
Landscape Plan 
 
30. A landscape plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority prior to first occupation or first use of the development hereby approved.  The 
plan shall show details of treatment of paved areas, green roofs, and areas to be 
grassed or finished in a similar manner, existing retained trees and proposed new tree, 
shrub and hedge planting. The plan shall correspond to a schedule detailing plant 
numbers, sizes and nursery stock types.  The landscaping proposals as approved by 
the Local Planning Authority shall be carried out no later than the first planting season 
after first occupation or first use of the development hereby approved unless otherwise 
agreed in writing beforehand by the Local Planning Authority 

  
 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies G7, G8 and DH1 

of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 
Safeguarding and Residential Amenity 
 
31. Notwithstanding the approved plans, prior to the occupation of the development a 

strategy and plans for obscure glazing and overlooking reduction measures shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Only the 
approved details shall be implemented and retained in perpetuity. 

 
Reason: To ensure the development mitigated its adverse impact on the residential 
neighbours and the school, in accordance with policy RE7 of the Oxford local Plan 
2036. 

109



60 
 

 
Contamination Risk Management 
 
32. The development shall not be occupied until any approved remedial works have been 

carried out and a full validation report has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that any ground and water contamination is identified and 
adequately addressed to ensure the site is suitable for the proposed use in accordance 
with the requirements of policy RE9 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

 
 
Travel Plan 
 
33. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted a travel plan shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Only the approved 
details shall be implemented, and any changes shall be agreed in writing beforehand 
with the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: To promote sustainable modes of transport in accordance with policy M1 of 

the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 
Sustainable Urban Drainage (SuDS) 
 
34. Prior to first occupation of the development hereby approved, a record of the installed 

SuDS and site wide drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority for deposit with the Lead Local Flood Authority Asset 
Register. The details shall include: 

 - As built plans in both .pdf and .shp file format; 
 - Photographs to document each key stage of the drainage system when installed on 

site; 
 - Photographs to document the completed installation of the drainage structures on 

site; 
 - The name and contact details of any appointed management company information. 
  
 Reason: To ensure sustainable drainage in accordance with policy RE4 of the Oxford 

Local Plan 2036. 
 

Post Occupation   
 
Lighting 
  
35. External artificial lighting at the development shall not exceed lux levels of vertical 

illumination at neighbouring premises that are recommended by the CIE guidance 2003 
& 2017 and the ILP Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light (2021). 
Lighting shall be minimised and glare and sky glow shall be prevented by correctly 
using, locating, aiming and shielding luminaires, in accordance with the Guidance 
Notes. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the amenity of occupiers of surrounding premises is not 

adversely affected by lighting in accordance with policy RE7 of the Oxford Local Plan 
2036. 

 
Landscape reinstatement 

110



61 
 

37. Any existing retained trees, or new trees or plants planted in accordance with the details 
of the approved landscape proposals that fail to establish, are removed, die or become 
seriously damaged or defective within a period of five years after first occupation or first 
use of the development hereby approved shall be replaced. They shall be replaced 
with others of a species, size and number as originally approved during the first 
available planting season unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies G7, G8 and 
DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

Informatives 
 

1 Important: the statutory Biodiversity Net Gain objective of 10% applies to this 
planning permission and development cannot commence until a Biodiversity Gain 
Plan has been submitted (as a condition compliance application) to and approved 
by Oxford City Council. 
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to 
have been granted subject to the condition “(the biodiversity gain condition”) that 
development may not begin unless: 
a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and 
the planning authority has approved the plan. 
 

2 In accordance with guidance set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, the 
Council tries to work positively and proactively with applicants towards achieving 
sustainable development that accords with the Development Plan and national planning 
policy objectives. This includes the offer of pre-application advice and, where reasonable 
and appropriate, the opportunity to submit amended proposals as well as time for 
constructive discussions during the course of the determination of an application. 
However, development that is not sustainable and that fails to accord with the 
requirements of the Development Plan and/or relevant national policy guidance will 
normally be refused. The Council expects applicants and their agents to adopt a similarly 
proactive approach in pursuit of sustainable development. 
 

3 The development hereby permitted is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure Levy. 
The Liability Notice issued by Oxford City Council will state the current chargeable 
amount. A revised Liability Notice will be issued if this amount changes. Anyone can 
formally assume liability to pay, but if no one does so then liability will rest with the 
landowner. There are certain legal requirements that must be complied with. For 
instance, whoever will pay the levy must submit an Assumption of Liability form and a 
Commencement Notice to Oxford City Council prior to commencement of development. 
For more information see: www.oxford.gov.uk/CIL 

 
4  Your attention is drawn to the attached note relating to demolition and the requirements 

of The Building Act. 3 Oxford City Council strongly encourages that when this permission 
is implemented, all building works and the management of the development site are 
carried out in accordance with the Code of Considerate Practice promoted by the 
Considerate Contractors scheme. Details of the scheme are available from Considerate 
Contractors Scheme PO Box 75 Ware Hertfordshire SG12 9UY 01920 485959 0800 
7831423 enquiries@ccscheme.org.uk www.considerateconstructorsscheme.org.uk 

 
5  Please note that the responsibility to properly address contaminated land issues, 

irrespective of any involvement by this Authority, lies with the owner/developer of the site 
 
 

111

http://www.oxford.gov.uk/CIL


62 
 

7. Dewatering is the removal/abstraction of water (predominantly, but not confined to, 
groundwater) in order to locally lower water levels near the excavation. This can allow 
operations to take place, such as mining, quarrying, building, engineering works or other 
operations, whether underground or on the surface.  
The dewatering activities on-site could have an impact upon local wells, water supplies 
and/or nearby watercourses and environmental interests.  
This activity was previously exempt from requiring an abstraction licence. Since 1 
January 2018, most cases of new planned dewatering operations above 20 cubic metres 
a day will require a water abstraction licence from us prior to the commencement of 
dewatering activities at the site.  
More information is available on gov.uk: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-
management-apply-for-a-water-abstraction-or-impoundment-licence#apply-for-a-
licence-for-a-previously-exempt-abstraction. 
 

8. The CL:AIRE Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice (version 2) 
provides operators with a framework for determining whether or not excavated material 
arising from site during remediation and/or land development works is waste or has 
ceased to be waste. Under the Code of Practice:  

• excavated materials that are recovered via a treatment operation can be reused on-
site providing they are treated to a standard such that they are fit for purpose and unlikely 
to cause pollution  

• treated materials can be transferred between sites as part of a hub and cluster project  

• some naturally occurring clean material can be transferred directly between sites  

Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised 
both chemically and physically, and that the permitting status of any proposed on-site 
operations are clear. If in doubt, the Environment Agency should be contacted for advice 
at an early stage to avoid any delays.  

Developers should refer to:  
• the position statement on the Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of 
Practice  
• The waste management page on GOV.UK  
 
Contaminated soil that is (or must be) disposed of is waste. Therefore, its handling, 
transport, treatment and disposal are subject to waste management legislation, which 
includes:  
• Duty of Care Regulations 1991 
• Hazardous Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2005  
• Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016  
• The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011  

Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised 
both chemically and physically in line with British Standard BS EN 14899:2005 
'Characterization of Waste - Sampling of Waste Materials - Framework for the 
Preparation and Application of a Sampling Plan' and that the permitting status of any 
proposed treatment or disposal activity is clear. If in doubt, the Environment Agency 
should be contacted for advice at an early stage to avoid any delays. Any hazardous 
waste must be consigned when it is removed from the producer’s premises. There is no 
de minimis for this. The developer will need to register with us as a hazardous waste 
producer. Refer to the hazardous waste pages on gov.uk for more information. 

112

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-management-apply-for-a-water-abstraction-or-impoundment-licence#apply-for-a-licence-for-a-previously-exempt-abstraction
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-management-apply-for-a-water-abstraction-or-impoundment-licence#apply-for-a-licence-for-a-previously-exempt-abstraction
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-management-apply-for-a-water-abstraction-or-impoundment-licence#apply-for-a-licence-for-a-previously-exempt-abstraction


63 
 

9.  All species of bats and their roosts are protected under The Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 
(as amended). Please note that, among other activities, it is a criminal offence to 
deliberately kill, injure or capture a bat; to damage, destroy or obstruct access to a 
breeding or resting place; and to intentionally or recklessly disturb a bat while in a 
structure or place of shelter or protection. Occasionally bats can be found during the 
course of development even when the site appears unlikely to support them. In the event 
that this occurs, work should stop immediately and advice should be sought from a 
suitably qualified ecologist. A European Protected Species Mitigation Licence (EPSML) 
may be required before works can resume. PLEASE NOTE All local plan policies and 
proposals which are relevant to this decision are specific  

 
 

 
 

113



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 - 25/00799/FUL – 152 London Road, Site Location Plan  
 

115



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision  

Site visit made on 24 January 2024  
by Jonathan Bore MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date:  29 January 2024 

Appeal Ref: APP/G3110/W/23/3322566 
152 London Road, Headington, Oxford, OX3 9ED  

 
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a failure to give notice within the prescribed period of a decision on an 

application for planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Cantay Estates Ltd against Oxford City Council. 

• The application Ref 23/00272/FUL, is dated 7 February 2023. 

• The development proposed is the demolition of the existing retail store (Use Class E) 

and the erection of a new building at 1 to 4 storeys containing a retail store (Use Class 

E) and hotel (Use Class C1), service area, landscaping, cycle parking, and drop off bays 

on Stile Road. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed and planning permission is refused. 

Main Issues 

2. The main issues in this case are, firstly, the effect of the proposed development 
on the street scene; secondly, the impact on the setting of St Andrews CE 

Primary School, which is a non-designated heritage asset; and thirdly, the 
effect on parking, congestion and highway safety in the area. 

Reasons 

The effect of the proposed development on the street scene 

3. The site is on the corner of London Road and Stile Road, and is occupied by a 

Co-op supermarket. The proposed building would consist of a 92 room hotel 
with reception area and smaller retail store than at present. The site lies within 

the Headington District Centre Area of Change and within Headington’s primary 
shopping frontage as defined by the Oxford Local Plan. The centre is 

characterised by 2 to 3 storey buildings with ground floor shop frontages, 

interspersed with a few larger commercial buildings.  

4. The Local Plan states that within the Area of Change there may be an 

opportunity to redevelop some sites in a more intensive way which would still 
be in keeping with the character and the function of the centre. Policy AOC6 
thus allows for development within the district centre where it would (among 

other things) make more efficient use of land through infill and taller 
development. The Co-op store is mostly single storey but with a small two 

storey element, and is set back behind a parking area; the scheme would make 
more intensive use of the site. 

5. However, the appeal site lies towards the eastern edge of the District Centre 

Area of Change and any redevelopment scheme must have due regard to its 

117

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/G3110/W/23/3322566

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

immediate surroundings. Stile Road marks an important break in the character 

of London Road. The more intensively built up commercial part of London Road 
lies to the west of Stile Road and includes a few buildings that rise above the 

prevailing height such as Holyoake Hall and John Leon House. But to the east 
of the Stile Road junction, which includes the appeal site, London Road has a 
more relaxed, domestic, lower scale character. The building line also changes 

at Stile Road, so that the school and the interwar semi-detached houses 
beyond it are set further back than the shops and commercial buildings to the 

west of the junction. This change of character is reinforced by the trees and 
low wall of Bury Knowle Park on the other side of London Road. The appeal 
site, despite its commercial nature, belongs in location, scale and character to 

the area to the east of Stile Road.  

6. On the corner of London Road and Stile Road, the proposed hotel building 

would step up to a full 4 storeys on the frontage of both roads, and it would be 
sited in such a way that its front building line would advance to line up with the 
building line of the shops beyond Stile Road. This would give the building a 

prominent and bulky appearance when seen from both east and west along 
London Road, and from the opposite side of the road adjacent to Bury Knowle 

Park. It would have a blocky appearance in the street scene would contrast 
awkwardly with the modest scale and prevailing pitched roofs and gables of its 
surroundings. Even away from the corner of Stile Road, where the 4 storey 

elements would be stepped back, the development would present prominent 
areas of largely blank high level brickwork when seen from Stile Road and from 

London Road to the west of the junction. The building would also appear 
excessively bulky in views along Stile Road towards the park, and would be out 
of scale with the domestic scale of the street.  

7. The development would unacceptably disrupt the transition to the lower scale 
at the edge of the shopping centre and would be an unattractive and out of 

scale feature in the street scene. In addition, the three storey and four storey 
elements would be overly dominant in relation to the adjacent school, and this 
is dealt with in more detail below.  

8. The use of obscure glazing for some of the hotel rooms to avoid the 
overlooking of the school and neighbouring residential property is symptomatic 

of the excessive bulk and inappropriate siting and design of the development. 

9. The other redevelopment schemes referred to by the appellant are noted, but 
the site circumstances of each case are different. Whilst Oxford Local Plan 

Policy AOC6 recognises the potential for change in Areas of Change, and Policy 
V5 supports hotels in District Centres, it does not follow that a scheme of this 

nature is acceptable in this location. The scheme would conflict with Oxford 
Local Plan Policy DH1 and Headington Neighbourhood Plan Policies GSP4, CIP1 

and CIP3 which seek high quality design that enhances local distinctiveness 
and responds appropriately to its setting. 

The effect on the setting of St Andrews CE Primary School 

10. Immediately to the east of the site is St Andrews CE Primary School, a non-
designated heritage asset, which is of a simple red brick single storey design 

with pitched roofs. Part of the proposed building would present a bulky three 
storey elevation towards the school and, behind a set back, the building would 
rise to four floors. This scale and design, combined with the slight forward step 

in its building line adjacent to the school, would give the building an 

118

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/G3110/W/23/3322566

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

overbearing presence next to the school when seen from both east and west 

along London Road and would erode its setting. Further into the site the upper 
floors would be set back a little more, but even this part of the development 

would appear too dominant in scale in relation to the school. The scheme would 
harm the setting of the non-designated heritage asset and would conflict with 
Policies DH5 of the Oxford Local Plan and CIP4 of the Neighbourhood Plan 

which requires development to have regard to the impact of the scheme on the 
significance and setting of a non-designated heritage asset.  

The effect on parking, congestion and highway safety in the area 

11. London Road Headington benefits from good public transport accessibility. 
Local Plan Policy M3 states that in the case of the redevelopment of an existing 

site, the Council will seek a reduction in parking where there is good 
accessibility to a range of facilities. This would be the case in the appeal 

scheme, which would be car free save for two drop off spaces and a servicing 
area. It is possible that some hotel guests would use local car parks, but the 
demand placed by hotel accommodation on car parking tends to be early and 

late in the day and is unlikely to coincide with peak shopping demand for 
parking. Moreover, traffic generation associated with the proposed use has the 

potential to be lower than the multiple trips associated with the existing 
shopping use.  

12. There is therefore no evidence that the scheme would create problems in 

respect of car parking, congestion or highway safety and it would accord with 
Local Plan Policy M3. It would also accord with Policy M1 of the Local Plan, 

which seeks to prioritise the use of sustainable transport; the appellant has 
submitted an agreement with the County Council under s106 to provide for a 
contribution towards 4 real time passenger information displays at nearby bus 

stops, together with a travel plan monitoring contribution. However, none of 
these considerations outweigh the objections discussed above. 

Conclusion 

13. The building’s height, bulk, design and siting would be inappropriate in this 
location and would harm the street scene and the setting of the adjacent school 

which is a non-designated heritage asset. Whilst the scheme would make more 
intensive use of the site, and would encourage the use of sustainable means of 

transport, these benefits do not outweigh the harm that the proposed building 
would cause.  

14. I have considered all the other matters raised. The Council’s concerns about 

BREEAM standards, drainage, trees and ecology would in my view all be 
capable of resolution, but neither these nor any other matters raised alter the 

balance of my conclusions. For the reasons given above I dismiss the appeal. 

 

 

Jonathan Bore  

INSPECTOR 

119

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Oxford City Planning Committee  7th October 2025 
 
Application number: 25/01489/FUL 
  
Decision due by 22th August 025 
  
Extension of time 15th October 2025  
  
Proposal Demolition of existing garage, existing rear extension 

and conservatory. Subdivision of existing dwellinghouse 
to create 2 x 7 bed large houses in multiple occupation 
(Sui Generis). Erection or a two-storey side and rear 
extension. Erection of a single storey front extension. 
Alterations to roof and insertion of 5no. rooflights in 
association with a loft conversion. Alterations to 
fenestration. Provision of bin, cycle storage and private 
amenity space.  

  
Site address 86 Temple Road, Oxford, OX4 2EZ. – see Appendix 1 

for site plan 
  
Ward Temple Cowley Ward 
  
Case officer Tim Hunter 

 
Agent:  Mrs Julie Ball Applicant:  Mr Tom Rourke 

 
Reason at Committee Delegated Application called in by Councillors Malik, 

Harley, Stares, Ottino, Yeatman and Rehman for reason 
of over development, on street parking, out of character 
in conservation area, removal of trees effecting 
biodiversity, effect on existing community facilities, 

 

 
1. RECOMMENDATION 

1.1.   Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to: 

1.1.1. approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject 
to the required planning conditions set out in section 12 of this report and 
grant planning permission; and  

1.1.2. agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning & Regulation to: 

• finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including such 
refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as requested by the 
Lead Local Flood Authority and as the Director of Planning and Regulation 
considers reasonably necessary; and 

• and issue the planning permission. 

 

121

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.1. This report considers the development of the site to extend the existing house and 
subdivide to provide two dwelling houses and to change the use from Use Class 
C3 dwelling houses to Sui Generis large Houses in Multiple Occupation. 

2.2. The development would make the best and most efficient use of the site and 
provide a high quality and sustainable development.  The principle of the use on 
this site in this location is acceptable. It would provide one new dwelling house and 
meet the demand for high quality shared accommodation.  The development would 
preserve the character and appearance of the Temple Cowley Conservation Area. 

2.3. The proposed development is in Flood Zone 1. The proposed use is acceptable 
within Flood Zone 1 and acceptable flood mitigation and drainage including 
sustainable drainage systems would be provided.  No significant contamination of 
the site has been identified. 

2.4. There would be no change in car parking, sufficient cycle parking would be 
provided and no adverse impact on the highway in terms of traffic generation. 

2.5. In terms of impact on residential amenity, there would be no detrimental loss of 
privacy from overlooking to neighbours. 

2.6.  The development would not have a detrimental overbearing impact on adjacent 
residential properties. 

2.7. In respect of sunlight, daylight and overshadowing, the development demonstrates 
compliance with the 45 / 25 degree guidance of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 

2.8. Public amenity afforded by existing trees would be maintained. The potential 
presence of protected habitats and species has been given due regard and there 
would be no unacceptable harm as a result of the development.  

2.9. Subject to  the imposition of suitably worded conditions, the proposal would accord 
with the policies of the Oxford Local Plan 2036, the NPPF and complies with the 
duties set out in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, 
the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 

3. LEGAL AGREEMENT 

3.1. This application is not subject to a legal agreement. 

4. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL) 

4.1. The proposal is liable for a CIL payment of £8,038.58.  

5. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 

5.1. The site is located in Temple Cowley on a corner plot on the corner of Temple 
Road, Junction Road and Salegate Lane, see figure 1 below.  The site is elevated 
above the part of Temple Road to the side of the plot and is prominent in the street 
scene.  

122



3 
 

5.2. The site is in a highly sustainable location with good public transport into and out 
of the city, accessible for Cowley District Centre and within Temple Cowley 
Controlled Parking Zone. To the side of the plot are several conifer trees, with 
deciduous trees further back in the plot. 

5.3. The existing house appears to have been constructed in the 1940’s before the 
advent of the modern planning system. The house is detached and has a two-
storey side extension, approved in 1989. A garage has been provided to the side 
of the two-storey side extension and subsequently converted to a bathroom and 
utility along with a conservatory to the rear corner of the house. A single storey 
rear extension is also present, which may have been erected under Permitted 
Development rights granted by the General Permitted Development Order 2015. 

5.4. The surrounding area is characterised by a mix of residential properties, with the 
immediate neighbours to the northwest being a pair of semis in a similar style to 
the application property. The site is within Temple Cowley Conservation Area. 

 
Fig.1 Existing Site Plan 

 
6. PROPOSAL 

6.1. The application proposes the demolition of the former garage, existing rear 
extension and conservatory and the erection of a two-storey side and rear 
extension along with alterations to the roof and insertion of five rooflights in 
association with conversion of the loft. A front extension is proposed to the existing 
house, which would result in the canopy roof to the existing door projecting the full 
width of the house. The existing front door would be moved and a new front door 
provided, along with a bay window to the front of the side extension. The resultant 
building is then proposed for subdivision into two dwelling houses and for a change 
of use from Use Class C3 to two large Sui Generis HMOs. 

123



4 
 

7. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

7.1. The table below sets out the relevant planning history for the application site: 

 

 
76/00682/A_H - Erection of conservatory. PER 11th October 1976. 
 
89/00614/NFH - Two storey side extension incorporating canopy over front 
entrance (Amended Plans). PER 18th August 1989. 
 
91/00133/NFH - Garage attached to house. PER 27th March 1991. 
 
98/00570/NFH - Erection of conservatory to rear/side elevation. PER 22nd 
May 1998. 
 

 
8. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY 

8.1. The following policies are relevant to the application: 

 

Topic National 
Planning 
Policy 
Framework 

Local Plan Other planning 
documents 

Design 124-130, 135-
137, 139-140 

DH1 - High quality design and 
placemaking 
DH7 - External servicing features and 
stores 
 

 

Conservation/ 
Heritage 

207-221 DH2 - Views and building heights 
DH3 - Designated heritage assets 
 

 

Natural 
environment 

153-160, 187, 
193,  

RE3 - Flood risk management 
G2 - Protection of biodiversity geo-
diversity 
G7 - Protection of existing Green 
Infrastructure 
G8 - New and enhanced Green and Blue  
Infrastructure 
 

 

Social and 
community 

96-108,    

Transport 109-110, 115-
118 

M1 - Prioritising walking, cycling and 
public transport 
 
M3 - Motor vehicle parking 
 
M5 - Bicycle Parking 
 

Parking 
Standards SPD 

Environmental 96, 102, 124-
125, 129-130, 
162, 166, 181-
182, 196-201 

RE1 - Sustainable design and 
construction 
RE4 - Sustainable and foul drainage, 
surface 
RE9 - Land Quality 
 

Energy Statement 
TAN 

124



5 
 

8.2. Other relevant documents and considerations: 

• Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

• Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)  

• Planning Practice Guidance 

• Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Note 3: ‘The Setting of 
Heritage Assets (Second Edition)’ 

9. CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

9.1. Site notices were displayed around the application site on 17th October 2024 and 
24th July 2025. 

Statutory consultees 

9.2. No statutory comments received. 

Public representations 

9.3. Public comments from properties listed below have been received and their 
comments can be summarised as follows: 

Nos.1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 11, 17, 29, 31, Junction Road 
Nos. 8, 44, 67, 69, 74, 74B, 78B, 88, 90, Temple Road 
Nos. 19A, 110A Crescent Road  
No. 19 Owens Way 
No. 9 Monks Mead (Out of Oxford) 
Nos. 4, 7 Lizmans Court 
Oxford Civic Society: 

 
• Overdevelopment 
• Effect on adjacent properties 

• Effect on character of area 
• Effect on existing community facilities 
• Effect on pollution 
• Effect on traffic 

• Effect on parking 
• Increase in noise and disturbance 
• Damaging to local community 
• Disturbance during construction 
• Effect on highway safety 

• Poor quality accommodation 
• Noise and disturbance 
• Not enough information given in application 
• Effect on ecology and biodiversity 
• Impact on Conservation Area 
• Loss of privacy 

125



6 
 

• Overconcentration of HMOs 

• Impact on listed building 

• Problems with access for residents / construction (Low Traffic Neighbourhood) 
• Effect on trees 
• Impact on bats 
• Lack of outdoor space 
• Incorrect Community Infrastructure Levey 

• Loss of trees 

• Poor quality accommodation 
• Detrimental to community cohesion 

• Impact on mental health  
• Public transport provision / accessibility 
• Inadequate communal facilities for future residents 

• Build up of rubbish 
• Anti-social behaviour 
• Overlooking 
• Overshadowing 

• Inadequate storage for waste and recycling bins 

• Concern over water and sewerage provision.  

• Misleading description – not conversion, rather demolition and rebuild. 

• Possibly inadequate cycle and bin storage. 

• Should be exempt from eligibility for parking permits 
 

Officer response 

9.4.  The points raised are dealt with later in the report. 

10. PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

10.1. Officers consider the determining issues to be: 

a) Design and Heritage 

b) HMO Density 

c) Facilities and amenities 

d) Residential amenity  

e) Landscape and Trees 

f) Biodiversity 

g) Flooding and drainage 

h) Car parking 

 

a. Design and heritage 

10.2. In relation to design the NPPF emphasises that high quality buildings are 
fundamental to achieving sustainable development and good design creates better 
places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 

126



7 
 

communities.  New development should function well, be visually attractive, 
sympathetic to local character and history, establish or maintain a strong sense of 
place, optimise the potential of the site and create places that are safe, inclusive 
and accessible and which promote health and well-being. 

10.3. In considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). 
This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, 
total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. Any harm to, or loss of, 
the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, 
or from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing 
justification. 
  

10.4. Development proposals that would lead to substantial harm or result in total loss 
of the significance of a designated heritage asset should be refused unless it can 
be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm. 

10.5. Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990 require local planning authorities to have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural 
or historic interest which it possesses (section 66) and to pay special attention to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of any 
conservation area (section 72). 

10.6. The Council expects new development to enhance the quality of the 
environment, and with this Policy DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan (OLP) 2036 is 
central to the purpose.  This policy states that planning permission will only be 
granted for development of high quality design that creates or enhances local 
distinctiveness where this is informed and inspired by the unique characteristics of 
the site and its setting, and that these considerations should go beyond the red 
line of the application site to adopt a truly place-making approach. 

10.7. Policy DH3 of the OLP 2036 states that planning permission will be granted for 
development that respects and draws inspiration from Oxford’s unique historic 
environment, responding positively to the significance, character and 
distinctiveness of the heritage asset and locality. For all planning decisions 
affecting the significance of designated heritage assets, great weight will be given 
to the conservation of that asset. 

10.8. The development would be clearly visible from the public domain. In this case 
Officers sought a reduction in the side projection that was originally submitted to 
address concerns that this would have been too dominant to the original dwelling 
and street scene.   

10.9. Amended drawings were therefore submitted that reduced the width of the 
proposals. The projection to the side, adjacent to Temple Road would reduce by 
half the width of the existing garage, which would be removed, whilst extending at 
first floor by half of the width of the former garage. The impact on visual mass and 
bulk would therefore be minimal and the resultant form is considered appropriate 

127



8 
 

and an improvement to the existing flat roofed garage.  It is considered that the 
extension that would achieve an appropriate visual relationship with the existing 
house and with the surrounding area.  It would not be unduly prominent or 
dominant in its setting and would reflect the form, character and pattern of 
development in the surrounding area. 

10.10. The proposed development would result in the appearance of the building 
changing from a detached house to a pair of semi-detached houses, both with their 
own front door, enclosed under a canopy that would extend across the full width 
of the pair of semis, with a pair of bay windows above. As such, the appearance 
would have a regular, symmetrical form that would better reflect the form and 
appearance of the pair of semis next door at nos.88 and 90 Temple Road and 
other properties nearby.  It is considered that they would not be unacceptably out 
of character with the pattern and grain of development in the area and would not 
harm the character and appearance of the Temple Cowley Conservation Area. 

10.11. At the rear, the existing single storey additions, which are in a poor state of 
repair, would be replaced. The extensions above would read as two separate 
elements, which is a visually appropriate approach for a pair of semis. There is an 
element of flat roof to the second floor, which is generally a form of development 
that would be resisted on design grounds. In this case however, there is already 
an area of flat roof in a similar position to the existing house and as the flat roof 
element would sit behind conventional roof pitches, it would not be evident from 
the adjacent public domain (street). There would be no material increase in visual 
harm over the existing situation therefore. Officers note that parts of Junction Road 
to the north and Salegate Lane to the east are higher, however due to curves in 
these roads, the flat roof is not easily visible from these more elevated parts. 

10.12. The proposals would involve raising the height of much of the roof, however the 
height would not go beyond the highest part of the existing roof and would result 
in a more regular and symmetrical form to the roof. A new chimney to the south 
eastern part of the new roof would add to the symmetry in that it would reflect 
chimneys already present to the north west of the existing roof. As such the 
roofscape is considered acceptable and would not be visually harmful in the street 
scene nor harm the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 

10.13. The proposed cycle and bin stores would be split between the front and rear 
gardens to limit their visual impact to an acceptable level. 

10.14. Officers note that there are a number of listed buildings in the wider local area. 
The closest of these is Manor House, which is 38m distant and on the other side 
of a different stretch of Temple Road, with number 84 Temple Road lying between 
the application site and Manor House, along with a significant level of tree cover. 
Given the distance, and the intervening walls and trees the proposed development 
would not therefore affect any listed buildings or their settings. 

10.15. Great weight and importance has been given to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area as a designated 
heritage asset and the preservation of the setting of any listed building. The 
proposals, by reason of their size, siting, form, materials and design for the reasons 
give above would not cause harm to the character, appearance or significance of 

128



9 
 

the conservation area or its setting. Subject to the imposed conditions the 
application would accord with sections 16(2), 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (which it is accepted is a higher duty), 
the NPPF, and Policies DH1 and DH3 of Oxford City Council Local Plan 2036. 

b. HMO density 

10.16. Oxford has a large number of HMOs and in some areas of the city, high 
concentrations of HMOs are resulting in changes to the character of the local area. 

10.17. The above changes in character to areas of Oxford as a result of increased 
levels of HMOs has been actively addressed by Oxford City Council, firstly by the 
removal of permitted development rights to change the use of a single dwelling to 
an HMO, and also by the OLP 2036, which directly addresses the issue of 
overconcentration of HMOs in Policy H6 and its accompanying text. The OLP 
states that the Council will prevent over concentration of HMO in areas where there 
are already significant numbers. Policy H6 states that permission for a change of 
use to an HMO will only be granted where the proportion of buildings used as an 
HMO within 100m of street length of the application site does not exceed 20%. 

10.18.  There are 53 buildings within 100m street length of the site. Of these, licensing 
records indicate that 6 of these have, or have applied for, an HMO license. The 
actual number may be higher, due to some HMOs not being licensed, but the 
figures indicate that 15.1% of buildings in the relevant area would be HMOs, 
(including both HMOs on the application site), below the 20% concentration 
defined in Policy H6.  

10.19. The surrounding area does not therefore show a significant concentration of 
HMOs, and the current proposal for two sui generis HMO’s would not materially 
harm the overall mix of housing in the local area and the application complies with 
Policy H6 of the OLP 2036. 

c. Facilities and amenities 

10.20. Policy H6 of the OLP 2036 also states that permission for a change of use to an 
HMO will only be granted where the applicant has demonstrated compliance with 
the City Council’s good practice guide on HMO amenities and facilities and the 
accompanying text makes it clear that adequate provision should be made for 
refuse storage and collection, whilst cycle and car parking policy for HMOs are set 
out in Policies M3 and M5. 

10.21. The proposed plans show both houses with seven acceptably sized bedrooms. 
The two-storey house would have six en-suite shower rooms and a further shower 
room to serve the seventh bedroom. A communal area of 18.3m2 to provide a 
kitchen diner is in excess of the 10m2 required by the Facilities and Amenities 
Guide for two storey dwellings with 6 – 10 occupants where all single rooms have 
a floorspace of at least 8.5m2. 

10.22. The three-storey house would have five en-suite bedrooms with a further 
shower room to serve the remaining two bedrooms. Officers note that bedroom 7 
is an awkward shape however this could be resolved by the en-suite shower to 

129



10 
 

that room being removed to improve circulation space. A communal area of 
18.3m2 to provide a kitchen diner is in excess of the 16m2 required by the Facilities 
and Amenities Guide for three storey dwellings with 6 – 10 occupants where all 
single rooms have a floorspace of at least 8.5m2. 

10.23. The accommodation of each of the proposed houses is acceptable for seven 
occupants and the principle of the proposed change of use to a small Use Class 
C4 HMO (in terms of facilities) is acceptable in accordance with Policies H6 and 
M5 of the OLP 2036. 

10.24. There are also acceptable areas of private amenity space to the rear for both 

properties, and the position of bin and cycle storage is indicated. The provision of 

bin and cycle storage could be secured by the imposition of conditions to ensure 

compliance with Policies H6 and M5 of the OLP 2036. 

d. Residential amenity   

10.25. Policy H14 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning permission will 
only be granted for new development that provides reasonable privacy, daylight 
and sunlight for occupants of both existing and new homes. Policy H14 sets out 
guidelines for assessing development in terms of whether it will allow adequate 
sunlight and daylight to habitable rooms of the neighbouring dwellings. Policy RE7 
of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning permission will only be granted 
for development that ensures that standards of amenity are protected. 

10.26. In terms of daylight and sunlight, the existing house No.86, lies adjacent to but 
stepped significantly back from the semi-detached house at No.84 Temple Road. 
The existing house at No.86 therefore already has an effect on number No.84 in 
terms of loss of daylight and sunlight and overbearing.  The side wall to this 
boundary is proposed for retention, with a small element of front extension 
adjacent to the side wall of No.84. Since the proposed front extension is to the rear 
of a side facing opening and the rest of the flank wall would be unchanged, the 
proposed development would comply with the 45 / 25 degree guidance and would 
not result in any material harm to No.84 in terms of loss of light or overbearing. 
The proposed two storey rear extension would be stepped off of the boundary 
which in conjunction with the relative positions of Nos.86 and 84 means that there 
would be no material increase in loss of daylight to No.84, nor would there be an 
unacceptable increase in overbearing or loss of outlook to that house. 

10.27. The house to the rear at No.88 Temple Road is situated over 17m from No.85 
and the 45 degree line from its side facing windows would pass clear above the 
proposed extension, whilst the 45 degree line from its rear facing windows would 
also not intersect with any part of the development, indicating no unacceptable 
loss of light to that house, with the distance between the dwellings also meaning 
there would be no unacceptable increase in overbearing and would not adversely 
affect outlook. 

10.28. The proposed new windows to the rear would face towards No.88, however the 
increase in overlooking from these windows over the current situation would be 
modest and would not result in an increased level of overlooking that would justify 
a refusal of planning permission. 

130



11 
 

10.29. No windows are proposed to the north west (side) towards No.84 and there 
would be no increase in overlooking to that house. 

10.30. All other dwellings are a sufficient distance from the proposed development as 
to be materially unaffected. 

10.31. In summary the development would not significantly impact on amenity such 
that it would warrant refusal in this case and subject to conditions, it accords with 
policies H14 and RE7 of the OLP. 

e. Trees   

10.32. Policy G7 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning permission will not 
be granted for development that would result in the loss of green infrastructure 
features such as trees where this would have a significant adverse impact on 
public amenity or ecological interest.  

10.33. The site lies within the Temple Cowley Conservation Area, therefore all trees 
are granted a level of protection under Section 211 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. There are no TPO trees on site. 

10.34. Two large mature Beech trees in the rear garden form the most important tree 
features on site.  

10.35. The Arboricultural Development Report demonstrates in principle that the 
proposals can be carried out without affecting the important tree features on site.  

10.36. Officers consider that subject to conditions requiring compliance with the 
updated aboricultural plan, methods of working and tree protection plan and pre-
commencement conditions (that have already been accepted by the agent) 
requiring the submission of an acceptable landscape plan and details of an 
acceptable specialist foundation design, the development proposed would not 
result in any significant adverse impact on trees, public amenity or ecological 
interest. 

f. Ecology 

10.37. OLP policy G2 states that development that results in a net loss of sites and 
species of ecological value will not be permitted.  Policy G8 requires new 
development that affects green infrastructure to demonstrate how these have been 
incorporated within the design, including health and wellbeing and biodiversity 
enhancement.  The relevant provisions of the Environment Act 2021, as 
implemented by Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, 
requiring a minimum of 10% biodiversity net gain (BNG) on minor developments 
applies to all development submitted after 1st April 2024.   

  
10.38. The Local Planning Authority (LPA) has a duty to consider whether there is a 

reasonable likelihood of protected species being present and affected by 
development at the application site.  Adequate information on protected species 
should be provided by an applicant. Planning permission will be refused where the 
Council is unable to assess the impacts on protected species and thus meet the 

131



12 
 

requirements of the NPPF and the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017 (as amended). 
 

10.39. The proposed development would result in works to an existing roof and a 
Preliminary Roosting Survey was carried out.  

10.40. The existing building was assessed to be of moderate suitability for roosting 
bats by Sylvatica Ecology on 06/07/2025 and two further emergence surveys were 
required. These were undertaken by Arbtech on 17/07/2025 and 07/08/2025, with 
no bats observed entering or leaving the structure, but with bats foraging and 
commuting within the vicinity.  Due to the presence of bats near a structure with 
moderate roost potential, the report recommended a Wildlife Sensitive Lighting 
Strategy and  2x Bat Boxes as enhancement features. 

10.41. Officers are satisfied that a robust assessment was undertaken and the 
potential presence of protected habitats and species has been given due regard. 
In accordance with the recommendations bat enhancements and a lighting 
strategy could be secured by conditions. If the development does not commence 
by May 2026 then further surveys would be required and could be secured by 
condition, further ecological survey(s)    

10.42. With regard to Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG), the proposed two-storey side and 
rear extensions and bike and bins stores are primarily located over existing 
hardstanding surfaces, which currently comprises non-habitat land (hard 
surfacing) with negligible biodiversity value. The Biodiversity Gain Requirements 
(Exemptions) Regulations 2024 states that de minimis exemption only applies to 
development if the following two conditions are met: 

• the development must not impact on any onsite priority habitat; and 

• if there is an impact on other onsite habitat, that impact must be on less 
than 25 square metres (e.g. less than a 5m by 5m square) of onsite habitat 
with a biodiversity value greater than zero and on less than 5 metres of 
onsite linear habitat (such as a hedgerow). 

 
10.43. As the development would not impact on priority habitats , nor would it involve 

the removal or disturbance of existing natural habitats such as lawns, shrubbery, 
trees, over 25m2 or linear habitats more than 5 metres in length   the development 
falls within the de minimis exemption and therefore no BNG is required. 

10.44.  Subject to conditions, the development accords with G2 and G8 of the OLP. 
 

g. Flooding and drainage 

10.45. Policy RE4 of the OLP 2036 states that all development proposals will be 
required to manage surface water through Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 
or techniques to limit run-off and reduce the existing rate of run-off on previously 
developed sites. 

10.46. The development would add to the level of non-porous surfaces on the site, 
resulting in an increased level of rain water run-off. However, the increase would 

132



13 
 

be relatively modest and subject to a condition to ensure the development is 
carried out in accordance with the principles of Sustainable urban Drainage 
Systems, the development would not result in an unacceptable risk of flooding and 
comply with Policy RE4 of the OLP 2036. 

h. Car Parking 

10.47. Policy M3 of the OLP 2036 states that for development within Controlled Parking 
Zones (CPZs) where the site is within 800m of a local shop and 400m of a frequent 
bus service, the development should be car free, however the relevant technical 
Advice Note makes it clear that where existing sites are being redeveloped, there 
should be no net increase in the number of parking spaces. 

10.48. The house is within a CPZ and within 800m of a local shop and 400m of a 
frequent bus service. 

10.49. The house is currently provided with two parking spaces, which are proposed 
for retention, one for each of the proposed houses. The former garage, which 
would be lost, has an internal measurement of less than 2.5m and could not 
provide a compliant parking space. 

10.50. Officers note that use of the house as an HMO may result in a larger number of 
adult residents and the possibility of more cars being associated with the house.  

10.51. No net increase in parking is proposed to the site. The Local Highway Authority 
has not objected, however officers consider that any grant of permission should be 
subject to the house being removed from eligibility for parking permits to prevent 
the subdivision and change in use resulting in an unacceptable increase in 
pressure for on street parking in the area and ensure only the existing two on-plot 
parking spaces are used. On this basis it is considered acceptable in accordance 
with Policy M3 of the OLP2036. 

 
11. CONCLUSION 

11.1. Having regards to the matters discussed in the report, officers would make 
members aware that the starting point for the determination of this application is in 
accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 which makes clear that proposals should be assessed in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

11.2. The NPPF has a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  NPPF 
paragraph 11 states that proposals that accord with the development plan should 
be approved without delay, or where the development plan is absent, silent, or 
relevant plans are out of date, granting permission unless any adverse impacts 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole; or specific policies in the 
framework indicate development should be restricted. Policy S1 of the OLP 2036 
repeats this. 

11.3. Officers consider that the proposal would accord with the overall aims and 
objectives of the NPPF and policy S1 for the reasons set out within the report.  

133



14 
 

Therefore in such circumstances, planning permission should be approved without 
delay.  This is a significant material consideration in favour of the proposal. 

11.4. Officers would advise members that having considered the application carefully 
including all representations made with respect to the application, that the proposal 
is considered to be acceptable in terms of the aims and objectives of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, and relevant policies of the Oxford Local Plan 2016-
2036, when considered as a whole, and that there are no material considerations 
that would outweigh these policies. 

11.5. It is recommended that the Committee resolve to grant planning permission for 
the development proposed subject to the conditions set out in Section 12 below. 

12. CONDITIONS 

 
Time 
1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 

the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 

Reason: In accordance with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
Plans 
2. Subject to conditions requiring updated or revised documents submitted with 

the application, the development permitted shall be constructed in complete 

accordance with the specifications in the application and approved plans listed 

below, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To avoid doubt and to ensure an acceptable development as indicated 
on the submitted drawings in accordance with policy SR1 of the Oxford Local 
Plan 2036. 
 

Samples 
3. Samples of the exterior materials to be used shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the start of work on the site and 
only the approved materials shall be used. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the ^IN; Conservation Area 
in which it stands in accordance with policies CP1, CP8 and HE7 of the Adopted 
Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016. 
 

Openings 
4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015, no additional windows, doors or openings 
shall be placed in the side elevation(s) of the extensions hereby permitted 
without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers in accordance 
with policy H14 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 

134



15 
 

Glazing 
5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or enacting that 
Order), the upper floor side facing window/s shall be glazed in obscure glass, 
be non-opening below 1.7 metres above finished floor levels in the room(s) they 
serve and thereafter retained.  
  
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers in accordance 
with policy H14 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 

No balcony 
6. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or enacting that 
Order), no part(s) of the roof of the building(s) permitted shall be used as a 
balcony or terrace nor shall any access be formed to the roof. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers in accordance 
with policy H14 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. 
 

Foundations 
7. No development shall commence until details of a specialist foundation design 

and a method statement for its construction have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The foundation and 
extension shall be constructed in accordance with the approved details. Details 
shall include an air spade investigation report, a scale plan of the foundation 
layout, specialist foundation design demonstrated by engineering details that 
avoids damage to the tree's roots (such as ground screws), as are appropriate 
for the protection of retained trees during development. These shall be in 
accordance with the current BS5837:2012 "Trees in Relation to Design, 
Demolition and Construction - Recommendations", unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To protect retained trees during construction in accordance with 
policies G7, G8 and DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2016-2036. 
 

Arboricultural plan 
8. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved 

methods of working and tree protection measures contained within the planning 
application details shown on the Arboricultural Development Report dated 11th 
August 2025, unless otherwise agreed in writing beforehand by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies G7, G8 
and DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2016-2036. 
 

Landscaping 
9. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, prior to the commencement of any 

relevant landscaping works, a soft and hard landscape plan shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The plan shall show 
details of treatment of paved areas, areas to be grassed or finished in a similar 

135



16 
 

manner, existing retained trees and proposed new hedge planting. The plan 
shall correspond to a schedule detailing plant numbers, sizes and nursery stock 
types.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details.   
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies G7, G8 
and DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2016-2036. 
 

Sustainable drainage 
9. All Impermeable areas of the proposed development, including roofs, 

driveways, and patio areas shall be drained using Sustainable Drainage 
measures (SuDS). This may include the use of porous pavements and 
infiltration, or attenuation storage to decrease the runoff rates and volumes to 
public surface water sewers and thus reduce flooding. Soakage tests shall be 
carried out in accordance with BRE Digest 365 or similar approved method to 
prove the feasibility/effectiveness of soakaways or filter trenches. Where 
infiltration is not feasible, surface water shall be attenuated on site and 
discharged at a controlled discharge rate no greater than prior to development 
using appropriate SuDS techniques and in consultation with the sewerage 
undertaker where required. If the use of SuDS are not reasonably practical, the 
design of the surface water drainage system shall be carried out in accordance 
with Approved Document H of the Building Regulations. The drainage system 
shall be designed and maintained to remain functional, safe, and accessible for 
the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason: To avoid increasing surface water run-off and volumes to prevent an 
increase in flood risk in accordance with policy RE4 of the Oxford Local Plan 
2036. 
 

Time Constraint: Bat surveys 
10.  If the development hereby approved does not commence by May 2026, further 

ecological survey(s) shall be undertaken, in accordance with Chartered Institute 

of Ecology and Environmental Management (CIEEM) Advice Note on the 

Lifespan of Ecological Reports and Surveys, to establish if there have been any 

changes in the presence of roosting bats, and identify any likely new ecological 

impacts that might arise from any changes through professional validation or 

additional surveys. The results of professional the survey(s) shall be submitted 

to the local planning authority. 

 

Where survey results indicate that changes have occurred that will result in 
impacts not previously addressed in the approved scheme, a mitigation and 
compensation scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority prior to the commencement of development. Works shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved scheme, under licence from Natural 
England. 
 
Reason: To ensure bats are protected in accordance with The Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and The Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). 
 

136



17 
 

Biodiversity enhancement 
11. Prior to occupation of the development, at least 2x bat boxes or 2 x integral bat 

bricks suitable for cavity roosting bats shall be installed on the building by being 
positioned at a height of 3-6 metres in an open location, with a clear flight path 
to and from the entrance, away from and unlit by artificial light and not above 
any windows, placed in a sunny position (6-8 hours of direct sunlight, or in a 
location where it receives the morning sun). If this is not possible, then close to 
the eaves or apex of a gable end on the building in a south- south westerly 
direction. The approved measures shall be incorporated into the scheme and 
shall be installed under the guidance of a suitably qualified ecologist prior to 
completion of the development and retained thereafter. Proof of installation 
(photo, site visit invitation, etc) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority no later than 12 months following installation. 
 
Reason: To enhance biodiversity in Oxford City in accordance with paragraph 
187(d) of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy G2 of the Oxford 
City Council Local Plan 2036 (2020). 
 

Lighting strategy 
12. Prior to occupation, a lighting design strategy for bats in accordance with 

Section 5.3 of the Guidance Note 08/23 Bats and Artificial Lighting at Night, Bats 
Conservation Trust and Institute of Lighting Professionals shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The strategy shall: 
a) identify those areas/features on site that are particularly sensitive for bats and 
that are likely to cause disturbance in or around their breeding sites and resting 
places or along important routes used to access key areas of their territory, for 
example, for foraging/ commuting; and 
b) show how and where external lighting will be installed (through the provision 
of appropriate lighting contour plans and technical specifications) so that it can 
be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or prevent the above 
species using their territory or having access to their breeding sites and resting 
places. 
 
All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and 
locations set out in the strategy (as advised by Guidance Note 08/23), and these 
shall be maintained thereafter in accordance with the strategy. Under no 
circumstances should any other external lighting be installed without prior 
consent from the local planning authority. Proof of lighting installation in 
accordance with this condition (photo, site visit invitation, etc) shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority no later than 12 
months following installation. 
 
Reason: To enhance biodiversity in Oxford City in accordance with paragraph 
187(d) of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Variation of Road Traffic Order 
13. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the Order 

governing parking at both of the dwelling houses hereby permitted at 86 Temple 
Rd has been varied by the Oxfordshire County Council as highway authority to 
exclude the site, subject to this permission, from eligibility for resident's parking 

137



18 
 

permits and residents' visitors' parking permits unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not generate a level of vehicular 
parking which would be prejudicial to highway safety, or cause parking stress in 
the immediate locality, in accordance with policies CP1, CP6, CP10 and TR13 
of the Adopted Oxford Local Plan 2001-2016. 
 
 

Informatives 
 

1. All species of bats and their roosts are protected under The Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). Please note that, among other 

activities, it is a criminal offence to deliberately kill, injure or capture a bat; to 

damage, destroy or obstruct access to a breeding or resting place; and to 

intentionally or recklessly disturb a bat while in a structure or place of shelter or 

protection. Occasionally bats can be found during the course of development 

even when the site appears unlikely to support them. In the event that this 

occurs, work should stop immediately and advice should be sought from a 

suitably qualified ecologist. A European Protected Species Mitigation Licence 

(EPSML) may be required before works can resume. 

 
2. All wild birds, their nests and young are protected under The Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). Occasionally nesting birds can be found 

during the course of development even when the site appears unlikely to 

support them. If any nesting birds are present then the buildings works should 

stop immediately and advice should be sought from a suitably qualified 

ecologist. 

3. Please note that the responsibility to properly address contaminated land 

issues, irrespective of any involvement by this Authority, lies with the 

owner/developer of the site. 

 
i. APPENDICES 

• Appendix 1 – Site location plan 

 
j. HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 

a. Officers have considered the implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 
in reaching a recommendation to [approve/refuse] this application. They 
consider that the interference with the human rights of the applicant 
under Article 8/Article 1 of Protocol 1 is justifiable and proportionate for 
the protection of the rights and freedom of others or the control of his/her 
property in this way is in accordance with the general interest. 

138



19 
 

k. SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
a. Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the 

proposal on the need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the 
determination of this application, in accordance with section 17 of the 
Crime and Disorder Act 1998. In reaching a recommendation to grant 
planning permission, officers consider that the proposal will not 
undermine crime prevention or the promotion of community. 

 

139



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – 25/01489/FUL – 86 Temple Road, Site Location Plan  
 

 

141



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	The following minimum standards of practice will be followed:
	Public requests to speak
	Written statements from the public
	Exhibiting model and displays at the meeting
	Recording meetings
	Meeting Etiquette

	3 Minutes
	4 24/00585/VAR Car Park, Meadow Lane, Oxford, Oxfordshire
	Car Park Meadow Lane (24.00585.VAR) - Appendix 1 - Location Plan
	Car Park Meadow Lane - Appendix 2 - Officer Report (21.01271.CT3)

	5 25/00799/FUL 152 London Road, Headington, Oxford, OX3 9ED
	152 London Road 25-00799-FUL Appendix 1
	152 London Road 25-00799-FUL Appendix 2

	6 25/01489/FUL 86 Temple Road, Oxford, OX4 2EZ
	86 Temple Road 25-01489-FUL Appendix 1




